
股份代號 Stock Code : 9857
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

（於開曼群島註冊成立的有限公司）

ANNUAL REPORT
2024



2 Corporate Profile

3 Corporate Information

7 Financial Highlights

8 Chairman’s Statement

12 Management Discussion and Analysis

28 Directors and Senior Management

37 Directors’ Report

95 Corporate Governance Report

129 Independent Auditor’s Report

136 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and  
Other Comprehensive Income

137 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

139 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

140 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

143 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Contents



2

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

Corporate Profile

IP

2014

IP

2024 25
23

IP

IP
IP

Linmon Media Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries 
(including consolidated affiliated entities of the Company), collectively 
referred to as the “Group”, “our Group” or “we”) is a company focusing 
on creating premium original drama series based on our abundant 
reserve of original IPs.

With the mission and vision of “shaping content by people, and shaping 
people with content”, since our inception in 2014, our Group has been 
dedicated to the full value chain of operations including investment, 
production, distribution, promotion, and derivatives licensing of drama 
series. Our main business lines cover the long-form original drama 
series, short drama series, content marketing and other businesses 
(including developing, producing and distributing films, investing 
in drama series as a non-executive producer, and licensing our IP 
derivatives adaptation rights, etc.).

By the end of 2024, our Group has produced and distributed a 
total of 25 high-quality drama series. 23 of them are original drama 
series in which we acted as the lead/sole investor and the executive 
producer, and we therefore own proprietary rights of these drama 
series. They include day-to-day life themed drama series such as  
“A Love for Separation” ( ), “A Little Reunion” ( ), 
“A Little Dilemma” ( ), “Nothing but Thirty” ( ), 
“Twenty Your Life On” ( ) series, “Nothing But You” (

), “The Heart” ( ), “My Boss”( ) and “In 
Between” ( ), ancient costume themed drama series such 
as “A Journey to Love” ( ) and “Novoland: Eagle Flag”  
( ) and suspense themed drama series such as 
“Under the Skin” ( ) series and “Nobody Knows” (

), which focus on popular contemporary topics such as family 
life, education, and female empowerment, delivering positive value 
propositions and inspiring extensive discussion. Up to now, our Group 
has abundant original IP reserve and high-quality content products, 
driving our Group to become the top brand in the industry.

Furthermore, our Group is also committed to our diversified growth 
strategies, and continues to explore new growth avenues such as 
content marketing, short drama series, overseas distribution and IP 
derivative development, in order to maximize the commercial value 
of our proprietary IP rights and build a diversified business structure, 
thereby reinforcing our leadership in the industry.
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The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted 
to approximately RMB657.0 million, representing a decrease of 46.2% 
as compared with the revenue of approximately RMB1,221.8 million 
achieved for the year ended 31 December 2023. Gross profit for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB108.5 
million, representing a decrease of 77.5% from approximately RMB481.6 
million for the same period in 2023. Adjusted net loss for the year ended 
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB184.2 million, as 
compared to adjusted net profit of approximately RMB227.4 million 
for the same period in 2023.

The Group’s net assets as of 31 December 2024 amounted to 
approximately RMB2,313.9 million, representing a decrease of 
10.1% from net assets of approximately RMB2,574.5 million as of 
31 December 2023. The board of directors (the “Director(s)”)  of the 
Company (the “Board”) resolved not to declare final dividend for the 
year ended 31 December 2024. 

 

        

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Unit: RMB’000 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
       

Revenue 657,008 1,221,752 951,469 1,248,964 1,426,159

Gross profit 108,523 481,598 373,985 559,030 545,756

Adjusted net profit (184,113) 227,421 141,790 279,508 243,021
       

 

        

As of 
31 December 

2024

As of 
31 December 

2023

As of 
31 December 

2022

As of 
31 December 

2021

As of 
31 December 

2020

Unit: RMB’000
2024

12 31
2023

12 31
2022

12 31
2021

12 31
2020

12 31
       

Total assets 3,217,853 3,567,506 3,282,228 2,969,828 2,548,439

Total liabilities 904,003 992,963 891,758 4,292,308 3,490,018

Total equity/(deficits) 2,313,850 2,574,543 2,390,470 (1,322,480) (941,579)
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On behalf of the Board of Linmon Media Limited, I hereby present the 
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, we witnessed accelerated changes in the market environment 
of the drama series industry. On the one hand, the industry produced 
a great number of quality drama series by further promoting premium 
production and creative expression; on the other hand, amidst efforts 
in strengthening cost reduction and efficiency enhancement, the long-
form drama series industry recorded decreases in the overall number 
of drama series broadcasted, the average number of episodes per 
drama series and the average selling prices in 2024 as compared to 
previous years, encountering unprecedented challenges across the 
industry. At the same time, the short drama series industry maintained 
rapid growth in market size, number of products launched and other 
aspects. However, the profitability pattern of the companies producing 
short drama series contents remained uncertain. Due to difference 
in production technology and content creation, the long-form drama 
series and short drama series which cater to various needs of different 
users further evolved from competition relationship into symbiotic 
relationship.

Under such market environment, and being affected by production 
progress and broadcast scheduling of long-form drama series by the 
Group, the long-form drama series business of the Group recorded 
decreases in the number of episodes broadcasted, the selling prices 
realized and the broadcasting channel scope in 2024 as compared 
to the previous year. Meanwhile, certain new businesses were still in 
the early stage of investment. The combined effect of these factors 
led to a temporary year-on-year decrease in the Group’s revenue and 
net profit for the year 2024.

In order to address the aforesaid challenges, the Group continued to 
adhere to the long-termism and the strategy of premium contents, 
effectively implemented the serial production development of long-form 
drama series business, and continued to strengthen cost reduction 
and efficiency enhancement in 2024. We rapidly increased the scale 
of production capacity for short drama series business and created a 
number of blockbusters, but the profit model was still in the exploratory 
stage. For film business, we released our first cinema film, which 
achieved good box office results. For overseas business, a number of 
our drama series went viral on top-tier video platforms along with the 
rapid growth of our self-operated platforms. We effectively explored 
the IP strategies, and proactively pushed forward the application of 
new AI technology in several production processes.

2024 12 31

2024

2024

2024

2024

2024

IP AI
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LONG-FORM DRAMA SERIES BUSINESS
In 2024, the Group remained committed to developing premium original 
drama series, produced and released 3 original drama series. As the 
Group effectively implemented the serial production development, the 
average viewership per episode of the original drama series “Under 
the Skin II” ( 2 ) ranked TOP1 across all platforms in Q4 
of 2024. It also ranked TOP1 in both of the Weibo and Douyin drama 
series lists for multiple weeks during its peak popularity period. The 
Group reshaped its category portfolio and planned its productivity funnel 
in a dynamic manner. The Group increased the scale of production 
capacity with its every effort, and expected to significantly increase the 
number of new projects in the coming year. The Group deepened cost 
reduction and efficiency enhancement to effectively control production 
costs and operation expenditures, and took proactive initiatives to 
develop Linmon IP strategies and build an empowering organization.

SHORT DRAMA SERIES BUSINESS
In 2024, the Group significantly increased the scale of production 
capacity by leveraging multiple domestic + overseas platforms for short 
drama series. The accumulated duration of short drama series for the 
year was approximately 6,000 minutes, representing a year-on-year 
increase of approximately 5 times. A number of short drama series 
such as “My Wife Helps Me Achieve My Ambitions” (

) have achieved industry-leading viewership after launching and 
recharge amount at the consumer end per drama series. The Group 
explored multidimensional commercialization channels for short drama 
series, with the revenue from the commercial short drama series 
segment doubled year-on-year.

FILM BUSINESS
In 2024, the Group focused on films with strong commercial appeal, 
and launched the first cinema film “The Unseen Sister” (

), which effectively reached audience as a non-holiday release and 
ranked TOP3 in box office performance among domestic suspense-
themed films in 2024. Meanwhile, leveraging on the IP strengths of the 
long-form drama series business, the Group explored opportunities to 
create film and drama series projects under same IP brand. Currently, a 
number of projects are in the progress of development and production, 
effectively expanding our project reserve.

2024
3

2
2024 Q4 TOP1

TOP1

IP

2024 +

6,000 5
C

2024

2024
TOP3 IP
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OVERSEAS BUSINESS
In 2024, the Group proactively advanced the diversified development 
of its overseas business, with a number of drama series such as the 
original drama series “My Boss” ( ), “Under the Skin 
II” ( 2 ), etc., popularly broadcasting on overseas top-tier 
platforms, some of them broke the broadcasting record for Chinese 
drama series in the local market. We successfully accomplished the 
overseas distribution of our first cinema film, steadily advanced the 
localized production of overseas content, successfully completed the 
shooting of “Nothing But Thirty – Bangkok” ( • ), 
and pushed forward the development of several overseas localized 
projects simultaneously. The Group achieved over double growth in 
multiple aspects including viewership, number of subscribers and total 
viewing time on its overseas self-operated Youtube channels.

IP STRATEGIES
In 2024, the Group proactively pushed forward its IP strategies, 
formed a well-developed business chain, extended the lifecycle of IPs, 
improved the influence and commercial value of IPs and continued to 
build up reserve of quality IPs, with the purchase amount and number 
of copyrights reaching the highest level of the previous years. For 
content products, the Group effectively enriched its IP portfolio and 
successfully created blockbuster sequels of drama series. In addition, 
the Group accelerated the development of IP derivatives, and realized 
the commercialization of drama series IP in the fields of peripheral 
derivative products, brand licenses, content derivatives, etc. Along 
with the broadcasting of the drama series “Under the Skin II” (

2 ), the sales volume of its peripheral derivative products ranked 
among the top tier of drama series in 2024, and ranked the first place 
with a significant leading position among modern drama series.

2024
2

•
Youtube

IP
2024 IP

IP IP
IP

IP
IP IP

2
2024

TOP1
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OUTLOOK
Looking forward to 2025, in face of various challenges, the Group will 
redefine the strategic vision of “connecting with new audience through 
superior content”, and continued to create quality products to cater 
to public demands for blockbusters, so as to further build up Linmon 
content portfolio. For long-form drama series business, the Group is 
committed to producing premium contents and serial collections across 
all the mainstream categories and effectively increasing the scale of 
production capacity, aiming to initiate production of new projects 
with over 200 episodes in the coming year. For short drama series 
business, leveraging on our strength of premium content development 
capability gained from past experiences, the Group will maintain scale 
development and produce premium contents. For film business, the 
Group will focus on films with strong commercial appeal, initiate film 
and drama series projects under same IP brand, and steadily facilitate 
the development of reserve projects. The Group will continue to push 
forward its IP strategies and enrich Linmon IP portfolio. Efforts will be 
made to effectively facilitate the diversified development of our overseas 
business, and debut our first overseas localized project. The Group will 
seize the opportunities in new business model of content marketing, 
and expedite the exploration of strategic brand resources.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere 
gratitude to our Shareholders, customers, business partners and 
employees for their support and contribution to the Group. The Group 
will continue to strive for progress and forge ahead, enhance its 
competitive advantages and make every effort to create more value.

Su Xiao
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2025

2025

200

IP IP

2025 3 25
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BUSINESS REVIEW
In 2024, the drama series market witnessed decreases in the overall 
number of drama series broadcasted, the average number of episodes 
per drama series and the average selling prices across the industry as 
compared to previous years. In this context, the Group broadcasted a 
relatively smaller number of drama series episodes in 2024 as affected 
by drama production progress and broadcast scheduling, and these 
episodes were only released through online platforms. Meanwhile, 
certain new businesses were still in the early stage of investment. 
The combined effect of these factors led to a temporary year-on-year 
decrease in the Group’s revenue and net profit for the year of 2024.

In 2024, the Group continued to adhere to the long-termism and the 
strategy of premium contents, effectively implemented the production 
development of original drama series, and successfully produced 
blockbuster sequels. We released our first cinema film, which achieved 
good box office results for a non-holiday release. We rapidly increased 
the scale of production capacity for short drama series business and 
created a number of blockbusters, but the profit model was still in the 
exploratory stage. A number of our drama series went viral on overseas 
platforms along with the rapid development of our self-operated overseas 
platforms. We explored the derivative development chain for mature IPs, 
continuously deepened cost reduction and efficiency enhancement, 
and explored the application of AI in production processes, with an 
aim to effectively build an empowering organization.

Successfully creating blockbuster sequels of original drama 
series and releasing the first cinema film
In 2024, the Group remained committed to developing premium 
original drama series, effectively implemented the serial production 
development, enriched Linmon IP strategies, and upgraded and 
implemented the product category strategy. We kept increasing our 
reserve of excellent copyrights, promoted the application of AI in 
production processes including video production, script development, 
sound and image processing, and successfully produced and released 
3 original drama series and 1 cinema film:

2024

2024

2024

2024

IP
AI

2024
IP

AI
3

1
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–	 The original drama series “Under the Skin II” ( 2 ):  
broke the “curse” of sequels and recreated a phenomenal 
blockbuster masterpiece. It was jointly broadcasted on iQIYI 
platform and Tencent Video platform, with the average viewership 
per episode ranking TOP1 across all platforms in Q4 of 2024. 
The robust after-sale brought the season I of the drama series 
to the hit list, ranking TOP6 across all platforms in the Enlightent 
Data Online Hit List ( ). It also ranked TOP1 in both of the 
Weibo and Douyin drama series lists for multiple weeks during its 
peak popularity period.

–	 The original drama series “In Between” ( ): an avant-
garde urban romantic fable which was released on Youku platform, 
ranking TOP2 of urban romance drama in 2024 Endata Viewership 
Index ( ). It topped Weibo Drama Influence List and 
Weibo Hot Search List (HSL) for the same period, with over 900 
million exposures on the Xiaohongshu platform, which was far 
ahead of the pack.

–	 The original drama series “My Boss” ( ): 
broadcasted on Youku platform, its popularity rate exceeded 
9,500 after broadcasting on Youku for 13 days, ranking TOP5 
on the viewership list of drama series exclusively launched on 
Youku during the first half of 2024 and ranking TOP3 on the list 
of average viewership per episode of modern idol drama series in 
2024 issued by Enlightent. It also had a remarkable performance 
on Douyin platform with the total viewership of the clips of main 
topics reaching 5.85 billion times, occupying TOP1 of the Douyin 
drama series list for several weeks during its peak popularity 
period.

–	 The first cinema film “The Unseen Sister” ( ): 
premiered in mainland China on 26 October 2024, effectively 
reached audience as a non-holiday release, and grossed a box 
office revenue of over RMB150 million in domestic market, ranking 
TOP3 in box office performance among domestic suspense-
themed films in 2024.

 2

2024 
Q4 TOP1

TOP6
TOP1

 
2024

TOP2

9

 
13 9,500

2024 TOP5
2024 TOP3

58.5
TOP1

 2024 10
26

1.5
2024
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From the beginning of 2024 to the date of this annual report, the Group 
started shooting of the original drama series “Moonlit Reunion” (

), “Under the Skin II” ( 2 ), “A Dream within a Dream” (
), “In the Moonlight” ( ) and “Juggling Roles/

Ga Xi” ( ). As of the date of this annual report, “Under the Skin 
II” ( 2 ) has been broadcasted in December 2024, “Moonlit 
Reunion” ( ) and “A Dream within a Dream” ( ) 
are under post-production while “In the Moonlight” ( ) 
and “Juggling Roles/Ga Xi” ( ) are currently under shooting.

Rapidly expanding the scale of short drama series and exploring 
multidimensional commercialization
In 2024, the Group made great efforts in short drama series segment, 
rapidly expanded the scale of production capacity by leveraging 
multiple domestic + overseas platforms for short drama series, 
continued to iterate and upgrade its capability of high-quality content 
production, produced a number of blockbusters, with an aim to explore 
multidimensional commercialization channels.

In 2024, the accumulated duration of short drama series produced 
by the Group was approximately 6,000 minutes, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 5 times. A number of short drama 
series have recorded viewership over 100 million after launching, 
respectively, and the recharge amount at the consumer end per drama 
series exceeded RMB10 million, reaching the top level of the industry, 
in which short drama series “My Wife Helps Me Achieve My Ambitions” 
( ) garnered over 300 million topic mentions across 
the network, and the recharge amount at the consumer end exceeded 
RMB10 million; the short drama series “Joy of Life: The Imperial Cause”  
( ) garnered over 300 million topic mentions within 
72 hours of its debut, securing a place in the Hot Search List of Douyin 
platform, and was included in the CCTV Premium Mini and Short Drama 
New Release Chart.

In 2024, the Group effectively consolidated the commercial short 
drama series business, produced and released 11 commercial short 
drama series, with the segment revenue doubled year-on-year. The 
short drama series such as “The Woman Selling Luxury House”  
(  and “A Voluntary Act” ( ) have recorded 
considerable results regarding evaluation indicators including total 
viewership and commercial transformation, realizing mutual benefits 
with the brand owners. Meanwhile, the Group actively seized market 
opportunities by exploring multidimensional commercialization channels 
such as traffic-based paid promotion, minimum guarantee, and traffic-
based revenue sharing.
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Multiple overseas released drama series popularly broadcasting, 
and self-operated channels achieving rapid growth
In 2024, the Group comprehensively advanced the diversified 
development of its overseas businesses with our drama series popularly 
broadcasting on a number of overseas first-tier platforms, some of them 
broke the broadcasting record for Chinese drama series in the local 
market. We launched the overseas distribution of our first cinema film, 
advanced the localized production of overseas content, and expedited 
the building of self-operated overseas channels, achieving more than 
double year-on-year increases in the number of viewings, number of 
subscriber and viewing time:

–	 Drama series popularly broadcasting in overseas market: in 
2024, the original drama series “My Boss” ( ) was 
broadcasted simultaneously on several first-tier overseas platforms 
such as Viu, TRUEID, Line TV, AsiaN, Singtel, Viki and YouTube, 
reaching over 200 countries and regions, breaking the viewership 
record for Chinese drama series on TRUEID, the top streaming 
platform in Thailand. Original drama series “Under the Skin II” (

2 ) ranked in the iQIYI International High Popularity 
Lists as the TOP1 of Hong Kong, China, TOP1 of Taiwan, China, 
TOP1 of Korea, TOP3 of Malaysia and TOP1 of Singapore.

–	 The overseas distribution of the first cinema film: the film “The 
Unseen Sister” ( ) was released in many regions 
including Australia, the United States, Canada and New Zealand, 
and was shortlisted for the Main Competition Session of the 
Tokyo International Film Festival (TIFF) and the Future Plan Special 
Screening at the Singapore International Film Festival (SGIFF).

–	 Steadily advancing overseas content production: in 2024, the 
shooting of “Nothing But Thirty – Bangkok” ( •

) was completed successfully and is under post-production 
currently. The production of multiple Linmon IP overseas production 
projects including “Nothing But Thirty – Hong Kong” (

• ) and the Thai version of “Under the Skin” (
) were advancing simultaneously.

–	 Overseas self-operated channels achieving rapid growth: in 
2024, the self-operated official Youtube channel of the Group 
recorded viewership exceeding 100 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of 120%, with a year-on-year increase of 180% 
in subscribers and a year-on-year increase of 205% in the total 
viewing time.
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Promoting development of IP derivatives to form a well-developed 
business chain
In 2024, the Group accelerated the development of IP derivatives, 
and realized the commercialization of drama series IP in the fields of 
peripheral derivative products, brand licenses, content derivatives, etc., 
so as to form a well-developed business chain.

During the year, over 200 peripheral derivative products of the original 
drama series “Under the Skin II” ( 2 ) such as stuffed toys, 
acrylic products and origami paper have been released on iQIYI and 
Tencent Video Grassland simultaneously with the broadcasting of the 
drama series, and the cotton-stuffed dolls were sold out immediately 
right after they were launched, marking a new record by the vendor to 
hit sales volume of one million in the shortest time. The sales volume 
of peripheral derivative products of this drama series ranked among 
the top tier of such products of drama series in 2024, and ranked the 
first place with a significant leading position among such products of 
modern drama series. The content derivatives and derivative products of 
this drama series such as phonograph records, online novels, fanbooks 
and character cards were successively launched after the release of the 
drama series, while commercial cooperation such as animated series 
and offline exhibitions were also under active development.

The peripheral derivative products of the original drama series “My 
Boss” ( ) have also been released simultaneously with 
the broadcasting of the drama series. The sales volume of the peripheral 
products of this drama series ranked TOP1 among such products of 
the drama series launched by Alifish in the first half of 2024.
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OUTLOOK
Looking forward to 2025, the Group will redefine the strategic vision 
of “connecting with new audience through superior content”, and 
construct Linmon content portfolio consisting of long-form drama 
series, short drama series and movies, creating synergies among 
contents of these sectors to promote mutual development. For long-
form drama series, the Group will continue to produce premium 
contents and serial collections, and adopt a two-pronged strategy of 
focusing on origin content and adaptation development, with an aim 
to effectively increase the scale of production capacity, build up its 
edge in abundant IP reserve and strive to initiate the production of 
over 200 episodes of long-form drama series in 2025. For short drama 
series, the Group will continue to maintain scale development and 
produce premium contents, striving to become a top-notch producer 
of premium products and achieving the transition from online novels to 
drama series and movies. The Group will promote the multi-dimensional 
application of new AI-based technology in the production of drama 
series and movies. For overseas business, the Group will achieve 
effective output of Linmon IP, and steadily advance overseas localized 
content production, striving to get the first tranche of overseas localized 
projects on screen. For content marketing business, being positioned 
as “content expert for brand customers”, the Group will expedite 
the expansion of strategic brand resources with a focus on content, 
explore opportunities in new business models such as short drama 
series marketing and IP licensing, and explore the development of 
artiste brokerage business.

EMPLOYEES
As of 31 December 2024, the Group had 203 employees, who were 
primarily based in Shanghai and Beijing.

The Group maintains high recruitment standards and recruits our 
employees based on a number of factors, including their level of 
knowledge, years of industry experience, education background 
and their conformity with our values. The Company is committed to 
establishing a competitive and fair remuneration and benefits system. 
In order to effectively motivate our business development through 
remuneration incentives and ensure that our employees receive 
competitive remuneration packages, we continuously refine our 
remuneration and incentive policies through market research and peers 
benchmarking. We conduct performance evaluation for our employees 
regularly to provide feedback on their performance. Meanwhile, the 
Company offers our employees with internal and external training 
opportunities to enhance their expertise and skills, thereby fulfilling the 
Company’s development needs.
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70.9%

The Group maintains diversified composition of employees, and 
achieves workforce diversity (including the management team) in 
terms of gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills and knowledge, etc. As of 31 December 
2024, the number of female employees of the Group accounted for 
approximately 70.9% of the total number of employees, continuously 
maintaining gender diversity of employees.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Geographical information

 

     

2024 2023
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Mainland China 618,044 1,182,938
Other countries/regions 38,964 38,814
    

Total revenue 657,008 1,221,752
    

The Group’s sales revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 
amounted to RMB657.0 million, representing a decrease of 46.2% 
from RMB1,221.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, 
which was mainly attributable to (i) the impact from the industry; (ii) the 
decrease in the number of episodes of drama series broadcasted in 
2024 as compared to the same period of 2023; and (iii) the fact that 
the drama series newly launched in 2024 in Mainland China were only 
broadcasted via online platforms while the drama series launched in 
the same period of 2023 were broadcasted via both online platforms 
and TV stations.

Cost of Sales
The Group’s cost of sales decreased by 25.9% from RMB740.2 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB548.5 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2024, which was mainly due to the  aforesaid 
broadcast situation of drama series of the Group during the year ended 
31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

2024 12 31
657.0 2023 12

31 1,221.8
46.2% (i) (ii)2024

2023
(iii)2024

2023

2023 12 31
740.2 25.9%

2024 12 31 548.5
2024 12

31
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2024 12 31
2023 12 31

93.0 70.7% 158.7

2024 12 31
214.8 2023 12

31 206.2

2024 12 31
2.9 2023 12 31

2.4

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin
Gross Profit
The Group’s gross profit decreased from RMB481.6 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 to RMB108.5 million for the year ended 
31 December 2024, which was mainly due to the aforesaid broadcast 
situation of drama series of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit Margin
The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from 39.4% for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 to 16.5% for the year ended 31 December 
2024, which was mainly due to the aforesaid broadcast situation of 
drama series of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Other Income and Gains
The Group’s other income and gains decreased by 43.7% from 
RMB121.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB68.5 
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to (i) a 
decrease in government grants received by the Group during the 
Reporting Period as compared to the same period of 2023; and (ii) 
a decrease in the capital gains received by the Group during the 
Reporting Period as compared to the same period of 2023.

Selling and Distribution Expenses
The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by 70.7% from 
RMB93.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB158.7 
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, which was primarily 
related to the expenses incurred by the Group in its efforts to expand 
the short drama series business during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses
The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was RMB214.8 million, which was basically the same with that 
of RMB206.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Finance Costs
The Group’s finance costs primarily consist of accrued interest 
expenses on lease liabilities and interest expenses on discounted 
notes receivable. The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 
December 2024 was RMB2.9 million, which was basically the same 
with that of RMB2.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Share of Profits and Losses of Associates
The Group recognized share of profits of associates of RMB1.8 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared to share of profits 
of associates of RMB0.2 million for the year ended 31 December 
2023, which were primarily related to the Group’s investments in 
Beijing Ark Reading Technology Co., Ltd. (

) and Shanghai Senmeijie Culture Media Co., Ltd. (
).

Income Tax Expenses
The Group’s income tax credit for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was RMB23.4 million, as compared to income tax expenses of 
RMB71.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due 
to the impact from the recognition of deferred income tax expense 
during the Reporting Period, resulting in a negative figure in the income 
tax expenses.

Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit

Unit: RMB million
For the year ended 

31 December

12 31
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023
    

(Loss)/profit for the year (190.1) 213.6

Add:

Share-based payments 5.9 13.8
    

Adjusted net (loss)/profit (184.2) 227.4
    

Adjusted (loss)/earnings per share – basic 
(RMB yuan)*

 
* (0.51) 0.63

    

*	 Adjusted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusted net (loss)/profit 
divided by weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year.

* 
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The Group’s adjusted net loss for the year ended 31 December 
2024 was RMB184.2 million, as compared to adjusted net profit 
of RMB227.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which 
was primarily because (i) the number of episodes of drama series 
broadcasted in 2024 decreased as compared to the same period of 
last year; (ii) the drama series newly launched in 2024 in Mainland China 
were only broadcasted via online platforms while the drama series 
launched in the same period of 2023 were broadcasted via both online 
platforms and TV stations; and (iii) the Group continued to expand its 
short drama series business in 2024, but the overall performance of 
the short drama series segment remained at a loss-making position 
and has not yet achieved profitability despite the fact that the Company 
has proactively explored such sector and the business has achieved 
certain market influence.

The “adjusted net (loss)/profit” is not defined under the HKFRS 
Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”). It is defined by the Group as the net 
(loss)/profit adjusted by adding back share-based payments expenses 
(the “Adjusted Item”). The Group believes that such non-HKFRSs 
measure can eliminate the potential impact of certain Adjusted Item 
and facilitate the comparison of operating performance from period to 
period and from company to company.

Trade and Notes Receivables
The Group’s trade and notes receivables decreased by 52.7% from 
RMB597.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB282.4 
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such year-on-year 
decrease was related to the successive collection of the accounts 
receivable from the drama series broadcasted in 2023 and the previous 
years.

Trade Payables
The Group’s trade payables increased by 4.1% from RMB57.3 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB59.7 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2024.
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Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources
We have historically funded our cash needs principally from cash 
generated from operations, and to a lesser extent, equity financing. We 
adopt a prudent financial management policy to ensure that the Group 
maintained a stable and healthy financial position. Taking into account 
the financial resources available to the Group, including the Group’s 
cash and cash equivalents on hand, cash generated from operations 
and available financing, and the net proceeds from the issuance of 
ordinary shares in connection with the initial public offering, and after 
prudent and careful consultation and enquiry, the Directors are of the 
view that the Group has sufficient working capital to meet the Group’s 
present operating needs.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of 
RMB2,341.9 million, as compared to net current assets of RMB2,732.8 
million as at 31 December 2023. The Group’s current ratio decreased 
from 6.1 as at 31 December 2023 to 5.5 as at 31 December 2024. 
The decrease in net current assets was mainly due to the increase in 
capital requirements by the Group for newly launched projects and 
investment in project copyright reserve in 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total equity attributable to 
owners of the Company amounted to RMB2,312.8 million, as compared 
to RMB2,574.5 million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was 
mainly attributable to the operating losses recorded by the Group in 
2024.

Unit: RMB million
For the year ended 31 December

12 31
     

2024 2023 Change%
2024 2023 %

     

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
operating activities

(251.0) 359.6 (169.8)

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
investing activities

659.7 (296.9) (322.2)

Net cash used in financing activities (38.6) (89.3) (56.8)
     

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents

370.1 (26.6) (1,491.4)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year

716.2 742.8 (3.6)

     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
year

1,086.3 716.2 51.7
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Operating Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s net cash outflow 
from operating activities was RMB251.0 million, as compared to a net 
cash inflow of RMB359.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. 
Such change was mainly due to the increase in reserve requirements 
for the production and development of drama series by the Group as 
well as the increase in capital requirements in relation to the exploration 
of new businesses.

Investing Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2024, net cash inflow from investing 
activities was RMB659.7 million, as compared to a net cash outflow 
from investing activities of RMB296.9 million for the year ended 31 
December 2023, which was primarily because the wealth management 
products, time deposits and other products purchased by the Group 
in the past have matured.

Financing Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2024, net cash outflow from financing 
activities was RMB38.6 million, representing a decrease of 56.8% as 
compared to a net cash outflow of RMB89.3 million for the year ended 
31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly because the Group 
withdrew bank loans as capital reserve for production of drama series 
and other purposes in 2024.

Gearing Ratio
The gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total debts by total assets) 
was 28.1% as at 31 December 2024, which has no material difference 
as compared to 27.8% as at 31 December 2023.

Foreign Exchange and Exchange Rate Risk
Currently, the Group’s operations are mainly carried out in China, so the 
Group’s foreign exchange risk exposure arises from changes in bank 
foreign exchange balances and exchange rates of other currencies 
involved in relevant businesses. For the year ended 31 December 
2024, the Group did not incur any material foreign currency exchange 
losses in its operations. The management of the Group will continue to 
monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and consider taking 
prudent measures as and when appropriate to mitigate the adverse 
impact of exchange fluctuation.
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Significant Investments Held
There were no significant investments held by the Group as at 31 
December 2024. In order to enhance the return on capital, the Group 
utilized its idle funds to subscribe for wealth management products. 
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, 
there was no subscription of wealth management products from a 
single financial institution by the Group that is required to be disclosed 
under Chapter 14, Chapter 14A or paragraph 32(4A) of Appendix D2 of 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) .

Charges on Assets
As at 31 December 2024, none of the Group’s assets were subject 
to charge.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant 
contingent liabilities.

Future Plans for Significant Investments or Capital Assets
There were no future plans of the Group for significant investments or 
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Hedging Activities
There were no hedging activities of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

Subsequent Events After the Reporting Period
On 24 January 2025, Mr. Su, Ms. Chen, Ms. Xu and Mr. Zhou entered 
into a supplemental agreement to the Concert Party Agreement 
(the “Supplemental Agreement”) upon friendly negotiations, which 
came into effect on the same date. According to the Supplemental 
Agreement, in order to satisfy the long-term development requirement 
of the Company and to facilitate its decision-making process, the 
parties have agreed to terminate the acting in concert arrangement 
with Mr. Zhou, whereby Mr. Su, Ms. Chen and Ms. Xu continue to 
perform their obligations and enjoy their rights under the Concert Party 
Agreement, and Mr. Zhou ceases to act in concert with Mr. Su, Ms. 
Chen and Ms. Xu in terms of voting in the Company.
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The execution of the Supplemental Agreement will not impose any 
material impact on the control over and corporate governance of 
the Company. Pursuant to the Concert Party Agreement and the 
Supplemental Agreement, Mr. Su, Ms. Chen, Ms. Xu and their Founders 
SPVs (i.e. Lemontree Evergreen, Lemontree Harvest, Free Flight, Faye 
Free, MEOO Limited and A&O Investment) remain as a group of 
controlling shareholders of the Company, whereby Mr. Zhou, Z&N 
Investment and Linmon Run cease to be members of controlling 
shareholders of the Company. Please refer to the Company’s 
announcement dated 24 January 2025 for details.

SPV Lemontree Evergreen
Lemont ree Harves t F ree F l igh t Faye 
Free MEOO Limited A&O Investment

Z&N 
Investment Linmon Run

2025 1 24
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As at the date of this annual report, the Directors and senior management 
of the Company are as follows:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Su Xiao ( ), aged 54, was appointed as a Director on 10 
June 2021 and was re-designated as an executive Director, chairman 
of the Board and the president of the Company on 24 September 
2021, primarily responsible for the Group’s overall strategic planning, 
financial and talent management and government public affairs. Mr. 
Su has been serving as the executive director since July 2014 and has 
been serving as the chairman of the board of directors of Shanghai 
Linmon Picture Media Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Linmon”) since September 
2014. Mr. Su has approximately 27 years of experience in media 
industry and management. He held several positions with Shanghai 
Education Television Station ( ), a TV station focusing 
on production and broadcasting of educational TV programs, including 
deputy director of the news department and deputy station director 
from July 1996 to May 2005. He served in Shanghai Media Group 
Limited (“SMG”) ( ) (formerly known as “

”), a media group focusing on production and 
distribution of radio and TV programs and investment management, 
from 2005 to 2014 and held positions successively as (i) the deputy 
director of Shanghai Lifestyle Channel ( ), responsible 
for content production and management of the channel, (ii) the deputy 
director and the director of the drama centre, responsible for the 
management of procurement and programming of drama series on 
the TV channels of SMG, (iii) the deputy director of Shanghai Dragon 
Television ( ), responsible for the management of procurement 
and programming of drama series of Shanghai Dragon Television, and 
(iv) the general manager of SMG Pictures ( ), 
responsible for overall operation and management.

Mr. Su obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese language and literature 
education in July 1993 and a master’s degree in literature and art of 
the Department of Chinese Language and Literature in June 1996, 
respectively, from Shanghai Normal University ( ) in the 
PRC.
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Ms. Chen Fei ( ), aged 44, was appointed as a Director on 10 
June 2021 and was re-designated as an executive Director and the 
chief executive officer of the Company on 24 September 2021, primarily 
responsible for the Group’s strategy and organization innovation, 
product positioning planning and full chain management of long-
form and short drama series business. She co-funded and served 
in Shanghai Linmon as a director since 2014, and as the president 
since June 2019. Ms. Chen has approximately 20 years of experience 
in the planning, production and marketing of TV series. She served 
in SMG from 2003 to 2014, assuming positions successively as (i) 
the director of the procurement department of the drama centre from 
2009 to 2010 and the deputy director of the drama centre from 2010 
to 2013, responsible for the procurement of film and drama series 
copyrights for all SMG channels, and (ii) deputy general manager of 
SMG Pictures from 2013 to 2014, responsible for its distribution and 
agency services business.

Ms. Chen graduated from Fudan University ( ) in the PRC with 
a bachelor’s degree in administrative management in July 2003. She 
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from China 
Europe International Business School ( ) in the PRC 
in August 2015. Ms. Chen was awarded as one of the “Most Influential 
People of the Year” ( ) by Southern Weekly in December 
2020, was awarded as one of the “Leading Talents in Radio, Television 
and Online Audiovisual Industry” (

) by the NRTA in June 2021, was named as one of the “30 Most 
Influential Women in Business of the Year in China” ( 30

) by the China Entrepreneur Magazine in 2021 and 
2022, as one of the “Top Ten Persons of the Year of Shanghai Cultural 
Enterprises” ( ) in 2022, and as one of the 
“30 Influential Women in Business of the Year” (30

) by the China Entrepreneur Magazine and as female business 
leader of EY Entrepreneurial Winning Women™ Asia-Pacific (

) in 2024.
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Ms. Xu Xiao’ou ( ), aged 52, was appointed as a Director on 
10 June 2021 and was re-designated as an executive Director and 
vice president of the Company on 24 September 2021, primarily 
responsible for intellectual property development, script development 
and production. She co-funded and served in Shanghai Linmon as a 
director since 2014, and as an executive vice president of Shanghai 
Linmon since October 2014. Ms. Xu has approximately 18 years 
of experience in TV series producing. She served at the Radio and 
Television Station of Shanghai ( ) from 2006 to 2014 and 
held positions successively as the director of the planning department 
of the drama centre of SMG and a deputy general manager in SMG 
Pictures, responsible for drama series script planning and production. 
Ms. Xu was appointed as an independent non-executive director of 
WEIMOBINC. (a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2013) and mainly engaged 
in provision of cloud-based commerce and marketing solutions) on 8 
May 2023, responsible for providing independent judgement to the 
board of directors.

Ms. Xu obtained a master’s degree in journalism from Fudan University in 
the PRC in June 2011, and a master’s degree in business administration 
from China Europe International Business School ( ) 
in the PRC in October 2015. Ms. Xu was recognized as a Level Two 
Screenwriter ( ) by the Shanghai Art Series Senior Professional 
Technical Position Qualification Review Committee (

) in December 2011.

Ms. Xu has received multiple awards for her achievements in media 
industry, including “Top 10 TV Series Producers” by the China Radio 
and Television Association in August 2012, “Producer of the Year” 
by the China Television Drama Production Industry Association in 
December 2019, “Innovation Pioneer of the Year” by New Weekly 
in November 2020, “Leading Talents in Radio, Television and Online 
Audiovisual Industry” ( ) by the 
NRTA in June 2021 and “Producer of the Year” in Year 2023 China 
Video List by New Weekly in December 2023.
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Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Juan, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director 
on 24 January 2025. Ms. Wang Juan joined Tencent in 2003, and is 
currently the vice president of Tencent On-line Video Business Unit, 
currently responsible for the overall strategic planning, management 
of content copyright and development and production of the drama 
series, movies and other businesses of Tencent Video. She leads the 
drama series and movies business teams of Tencent Video for their 
continuous efforts in creating diversified and quality contents.

Ms. Wang Juan obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration 
from China Europe International Business School in November 2017.

Mr. Zhang Rong ( ), aged 40, was appointed as a Director on 31 
August 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 24 
September 2021, primarily responsible for providing professional advice 
to the Board. Mr. Zhang has been a partner of the science, technology 
and cultural creation investment department at Hony Capital (Shanghai) 
Co., Ltd. ( ( ) ), a firm focusing on the management 
of private equity investment, real estate investment, venture capital, 
hedge funds, and public equity funds, since May 2012, responsible for 
investments in science, technology and cultural creation sectors. Mr. 
Zhang has approximately over 10 years of experience in investment. He 
worked as an analyst at J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited, 
a company mainly engaged in corporate and investment bank related 
activities, from February 2011 to December 2011.

Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Toronto in Canada with 
a bachelor’s degree in science in June 2008. He obtained a master’s 
degree in economics from the University of Southern California in the 
United States in May 2010.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Long Yu ( ), aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 24 September 2021, primarily responsible for 
supervising and offering independent judgment to the Board. Ms. Long 
has been serving as the founding and managing partner of BAI Capital 
since 2021. She has been a member of Bertelsmann Group Management 
Committee since 2011, responsible for advising and supporting the 
board of directors on major issues relevant to strategy formulation and 
development of Bertelsmann SE & Co. KGaA (“Bertelsmann Group”). 
She is also currently a governing council member of China Venture 
Capital and Private Equity Association, a trade group representing the 
venture capital and private equity investment industry in Greater China. 
In addition, Ms. Long has been serving as a director, responsible 
for providing independent judgment to the board of directors since 
January 2016, and was a member of the audit committee, responsible 
for periodically reviewing the critical accounting policies from January 
2016 to November 2021, of Tapestry Inc. (a company listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange, stock code: TPR), a New York-based house of 
modern luxury accessories and lifestyle brands whose portfolio includes 
Coach, Stuart Weitzman and Kate Spade. Ms. Long has also been 
serving as a director and a member of the audit committee, responsible 
for providing independent judgment to the board of directors and 
periodically reviewing the critical accounting policies, of Lexin Fintech 
Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market, stock 
code: LX), an online and offline consumption platform and a technology-
driven service provider, since August 2020; a director and the chairman 
of the nominating and corporate governance committee, responsible 
for making recommendations on the frequency and structure of board 
meetings and monitoring the functioning of the committees of the board 
of directors since July 2021, and a member of the audit committee, 
responsible for periodically reviewing the critical accounting policies 
since March 2022, of Nio Inc. (a company listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange (stock code: NIO), the Stock Exchange (stock code: 
9866) and the Singapore Exchange (stock code: NIO)), a company 
focusing on designing, developing, manufacturing and selling premium 
smart electric vehicles; and an independent non-executive director 
of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited since 
August 2022, responsible for bringing insightful advice to the board 
of directors with multiple board affiliations in investment, consumer 
finance and multinational companies (The Hongkong and Shanghai 
Banking Corporation Limited is the founding member of the HSBC 
Group. HSBC serves customers worldwide from offices in 58 countries 
and territories in its geographical regions. With assets of US$3,017 
billion as at 31 December 2024, HSBC is one of the largest banking 
and financial services organisations in the world).
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Ms. Long has approximately 18 years of experience in media industry 
and investment. She joined Bertelsmann Group, an international media, 
services and education company, via the Bertelsmann Entrepreneurs 
Program in 2005, responsible for business development and strategy 
of Fremantle Media and new media investments and growth initiatives 
of Random House Ventures under the Bertelsmann brand. She served 
as a principal at Bertelsmann Digital Media Investments, an investment 
fund focusing on early stage investments in innovative companies in the 
technology and media sectors, from January 2007 to December 2007, 
responsible for the screening of equity investment targets, conducting 
industry research and due diligence investigations, deal execution and 
exit management. She acted as the chief executive officer responsible for 
overall management of Bertelsmann China Corporate Center, a center 
focusing on providing investment management and advisory services, 
marketing and promotion services, staff training and management 
services and financial management services for the Bertelsmann 
Group and as the founding and managing partner responsible for 
screening of equity investment targets, overall project investment, 
post-investment management and exit management of Bertelsmann 
Asia Investments, an investment fund focusing on investments in 
retail, social/media/content, new technology/enterprise services, 
China-based international companies and financial technology sectors, 
from 2008 to 2020. Ms. Long served in Bitauto Holdings Limited (a 
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, stock code: BITA), 
a company focusing on providing internet content and marketing 
services and transaction services for China’s automotive industry, as 
(i) a director from 2008 to 2011, responsible for providing professional 
advice to the board of directors, and (ii) an independent director from 
2011 to 2020, responsible for providing independent judgment to 
the board of directors. She also served in China Distance Education 
Holdings Limited (a company formerly listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange, and delisted on 29 March 2021), a company engaged in 
providing online education in China, as (i) a director from 2008 to 2012, 
responsible for providing professional advice to the board of directors, 
and (ii) an independent director from 2012 to 2021, responsible for 
providing independent judgment to the board of directors. She served 
as a director of iClick Interactive Asia Group Limited (a company listed 
on the Nasdaq Stock Market, stock code: ICLK), a company focusing 
on providing digital marketing, data analysis, software development and 
data-driven enterprise solutions, from February 2011 to September 
2018, a director of Mogu Inc. (a company listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange, stock code: MOGU),a company offering fashion, beauty, 
and lifestyle products and accessories through its online platform, 
from October 2012 to December 2018, and a director of Tuan Che 
Limited (a company listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market, stock code: 
TC), a company focusing on operating an omni-channel automotive 
marketplace in China, from September 2013 to November 2019, 
responsible for providing professional advice to the board of directors.
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Ms. Long received a master’s degree in business administration from 
Stanford Graduate School of Business in the United States in June 
2005. Ms. Long is an active member of the World Economic Forum’s 
Young Global Leaders Advisory Council and is also a member of its 
Global Agenda Council on the Future of Media, Entertainment and 
Information. She was also a member of the Stanford Graduate School 
of Business Advisory Council from May 2015 to May 2021.

Mr. Jiang Changjian ( ), aged 59, was appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2021, primarily 
responsible for supervising and offering independent judgment to the 
Board. Mr. Jiang has approximately 25 years of experience in political 
science, international politics, mass media and foreign policy. He has 
held positions with the School of International Relations and Public Affairs 
of Fudan University in the PRC since July 1997 and has been serving as 
an associate professor since November 2001, responsible for lecturing 
of international relations. He has also been serving as an independent 
non-executive director responsible for providing independent judgment 
to the board of directors of Sanxiang Impression Co., Ltd. (

) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
stock code: 000863), a company mainly engaged in cultural and tourist 
business and green technology real estate business, since May 2018. 
He was a postdoctoral researcher and a Fulbright Scholar at Yale 
University in the United States from August 1998 to August 1999, and 
served as a visiting scholar at Columbia University in the United States 
from March 2012 to June 2012. He served as an independent non-
executive director of BGI Genomics Co., Ltd. (

) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 
300676), a company focusing on providing genomics services, from 
June 2015 to June 2021 and an independent non-executive director 
of Suzhou Etron Technologies Co., Ltd. (

) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 
603380), a company focusing on providing electronics manufacturing 
services, from August 2015 to August 2021, responsible for providing 
independent judgment to the board of directors.



35

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

Directors and Senior Management

1994 4
1997 6

1993 8

43 2021 9 24

14 2022 1

2009
7 2011 7 2011 9

2021 12
2014 9 2015 9

2022 6

600833

2003 6 2005 12

2009 12
2009 12

2016 1

2016 8
2017

12
2019 7

Mr. Jiang obtained a master’s degree in international politics from 
Fudan University in the PRC in April 1994, and obtained a doctoral 
degree in politics theory from Fudan University in June 1997. Mr. 
Jiang won the championship of the first “International College Debate 
Competition” in August 1993 and received the “Best Debater” award.

Ms. Tang Songlian ( ), aged 43, was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director on 24 September 2021, primarily responsible 
for supervising and offering independent judgment to the Board. 
Ms. Tang has approximately 14 years of experience in accounting 
and management. She has been a professor of the Department of 
Business Administration and chairman of labour union of the School 
of Management of Donghua University ( ) in the PRC since 
January 2022, responsible for research and lecturing of accounting. 
She held positions with the Department of Accounting of the Business 
School of East China University of Science and Technology (

) in the PRC, including a lecturer from July 2009 to July 2011, 
and an associate professor from September 2011 to December 2021, 
responsible for research and lecturing of accounting. She was a visiting 
scholar at The City University of New York in the United States from 
September 2014 to September 2015. She has been serving as an 
independent non-executive director of Shanghai No.1 Pharmacy Co., 
Ltd. ( ) (a company listed on the Shanghai 
Stock Exchange, stock code: 600833), a company engaged in drug 
retail and wholesale since June 2022.

Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in 
accounting from Hunan University ( ) in the PRC in June 2003 
and December 2005, respectively. She obtained a doctoral degree in 
accounting from Shanghai Jiao Tong University ( ) in the 
PRC in December 2009. Ms. Tang has been a Chinese Certified Public 
Accountant recognized by the Hunan Provincial Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants since December 2009, and holds the Professional 
Qualification of Independent Director issued by the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange in January 2016.

Ms. Tang was awarded Shanghai Pujiang Talent ( ) 
by the Shanghai Municipal Bureau of Human Resources and Social 
Security in August 2016 and was selected as a “National Accounting 
Leading (Backup) Talent (Academics)” ( ( ) (

)) by the Accounting Society of China ( ) in December 
2017. She was also selected as a participant of the Young Talent 
Incubation Program ( ) organized by East China 
University of Science and Technology in July 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Su Xiao ( ), is an executive Director, chairman of the Board 
and the president of our Company. For details of the biography of Mr. 
Su, see “ Executive Directors”.

Ms. Chen Fei ( ), is an executive Director and the chief executive 
officer of our Company. For details of the biography of Ms. Chen, see 
“ Executive Directors”.

Ms. Xu Xiao’ou ( ), is an executive Director and vice president of 
our Company. For details of the biography of Ms. Xu, see “ Executive 
Directors”.
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The Board is pleased to present the report together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

GLOBAL OFFERING
The Company is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated 
in the Cayman Islands on 10 June 2021. The shares of the Company 
(the “Shares”) have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange on 10 August 2022 (the “Listing Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally engaged in the full value chain operations of 
drama series, including investment, production, distribution, promotion 
and derivative licensing. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are 
set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 136 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend to declare any final dividend for the 
year ended 31 December 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review, financial analysis and future prospect of the Group 
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
(Cap. 622) are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” 
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report; the 
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance 
and accounts of the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders 
are set out in detail in 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report of the Group which is published at the same time as the 
publication of this annual report on the websites of the Stock Exchange  
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.linmon.cn) pursuant to 
the Listing Rules; and the details of the Group’s major customers 
and suppliers are set out in “Major Customers and Suppliers” in this 
section. The major risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and the 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations are described as follows:

Major Risks and Uncertainties
The Group’s business operations are affected by a number of factors 
and the major risks are summarized as follows:

•	 Our success depends, in a significant part, on the general prosperity 
and development of China’s overall video-based content market 
and drama series market, and factors affecting the video-based 
content market, especially the development of the drama series 
market, could have a material and adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

•	 Our income is generally project-based and non-recurring in nature 
and a failure to license the broadcasting rights of our drama series 
could materially affect our financial performance.

622 5

(www.hkexnews.hk)
(www.linmon.cn)

2024

• 

• 
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•	 Our financial performance for a particular period highly depends on 
a limited number of drama series projects during the same period, 
which may result in wide fluctuations of financial performance.

•	 The production and distribution of drama series are extensively 
regulated in the PRC. Our failure to comply with evolving laws, 
regulations and policies could materially and adversely affect our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

•	 The public reception to the drama series projects we produce and 
invest in are subject to uncertainties and we may not be able to 
respond effectively to changes in market trends.

•	 We are subject to risks of piracy and intellectual property 
infringement.

•	 We rely on the contribution of industry professionals participating 
in the development, production and promotion of our drama 
series. Our failure to retain the services of such professionals, 
unsatisfactory services provided by them or even any negative 
news about them in the future may materially and adversely affect 
our business and results of operations.

•	 The production and distribution of drama series is a lengthy and 
capital-intensive process, and our capacity to generate cash or 
obtain financing on favorable terms may be insufficient to meet 
our anticipated cash requirements.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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For further details of the major risks and uncertainties faced by the 
Group, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the 
prospectus for the global offering of the Company dated 29 July 
2022 (the “Prospectus”).

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations
As far as the Board and senior management are aware, the Group has 
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations 
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the 
Group. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or 
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group 
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 of this annual 
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated 
financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING
The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 
10 August 2022 with the issuance of 15,139,300 new Shares. After 
deducting the underwriting commissions in connection with the global 
offering and other expenses payable by the Company in connection 
with the global offering, the net proceeds from listing amounted to 
approximately HK$311.8 million. These proceeds will be utilised in 
accordance with the plans as disclosed in the section headed “Net 
Proceeds from the Global Offering” of the announcement on offer 
price and allotment results of the Company dated 9 August 2022. 
Meanwhile, as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 21 
June 2023 (the “Use of Proceeds Announcement”), the Board has 
resolved to re-allocate part of the unutilised net proceeds for original 
drama series production. The balance of unutilised net proceeds as 
at 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$40.3 million.

2022 7 29

7

2022 8 10
15,139,300

311.8
2022 8 9

2023 6 21

2024 12
31 40.3
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The proceeds from listing have been and will continue to be applied in 
accordance with the plans mentioned above and information disclosed 
in the Use of Proceeds Announcement, namely:
        

Net proceeds (HK$ million)

Percentage 
(%)

Proceeds 
used for 

related 
purpose

Proceeds 
unutilised 

as at  
1 January 

2024

Net 
proceeds 

utilised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Net 
proceeds 
unutilised 
as at the 

end of the 
Reporting 

Period

Expected 
timeline for 
net proceeds 
unutilised

Item
 

(%)
 

2024  
1 1  

 
 

 
 

 
 

        

IP pool expansion IP 10 31.2 – – – –

– IP purchase  IP 5 15.6 – – – –

– Writer recruitment  2 6.2 – – – –

– Recruitment of or collaboration 
with scriptwriters

 3 9.4 – – – –

Drama series production and 
promotion

50 155.9 – – – –

– Original drama series production 45 140.3 – – – –

– Original drama series 
distribution and promotion

5 15.6 – – – –

Initiatives into emerging business 
opportunities

15 46.8 – – – –

Potential strategic investment and 
acquisition opportunities

15 46.8 46.8 6.5 40.3 Before the 
end of 2025

2025

Working capital and general 
corporate purposes

10 31.1 – – – –

        

Total 100 311.8 46.8 6.5 40.3
        

The Company has deposited the net proceeds which are not immediately 
applied to the above purposes into interest-bearing accounts with 
licensed commercial banks or financial institutions in the PRC or Hong 
Kong. The Company will comply with the PRC laws in respect of foreign 
exchange registration and proceeds remittance.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The Group emphasized the importance of maintaining good relationships 
with customers and suppliers to meet the Group’s immediate and long-
term business development.

Major Customers
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the transaction amount of the 
Group’s top five customers accounted for 84.5% of the Group’s total 
revenue (2023: 92.6%), while the transaction amount of the Group’s 
single largest customer accounted for 49.3% of the Group’s total 
revenue (2023: 57.8%)

Major Suppliers
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the transaction amount of the 
Group’s top five suppliers accounted for 14.4% of the Group’s total 
purchase for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 23.3%), while 
the transaction amount of the Group’s single largest supplier accounted 
for 3.7% of the Group’s total purchase (2023: 6.2%).

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors, any of their 
close associates or any Shareholders who, to the knowledge of the 
Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares of the Company 
(excluding treasury shares, if any), had any interest in the Group’s top 
five customers or suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the 
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are 
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the 
Reporting Period are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated 
statements of changes in equity on pages 253 and 139.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity in this annual report. As at 31 December 
2024, the Company had distributable reserves amounting to RMB3,488 
million (2023: RMB3,567 million).

2024 12 31
84.5% 

(2023 92.6%
49.3% (2023

57.8%

2024 12 31
2024 12 31

14.4% (2023 23.3%

3.7% (2023 6.2%

5%

2024 12 31

14

28

2024 12 31
253 139

2024 12 31

2024 12 31
3,488 2023

3,567



43

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

Directors’ Report

BANK BORROWING AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of the bank borrowings and other borrowings of the 
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 
25 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this 
annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Su Xiao
Ms. Chen Fei
Ms. Xu Xiao’ou
Mr. Zhou Yuan (Resigned on 24 January 2025)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Sun Zhonghuai (Resigned on 24 January 2025)
Ms. Wang Juan (Appointed on 24 January 2025)
Mr. Zhang Rong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Long Yu
Mr. Jiang Changjian
Ms. Tang Songlian

Pursuant to Article 109(a) of the Company’s memorandum and articles 
of association (the “Articles of Association”), notwithstanding any 
other provisions in the Articles of Association, at each annual general 
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number 
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not 
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that 
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be 
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A 
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. In accordance with 
Article 113 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall have power 
from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director 
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, provided that 
the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the maximum 
number determined from time to time by the Shareholders in general 
meeting or specified in the Articles of Association. Any Director of 
the Company appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as 
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first 
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and 
shall then be eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed under this 
Article shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or 
the number of Directors who are required to retire by rotation at an 
annual general meeting.

2024 12 31
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2025 1 24

2025 1 24
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Accordingly, Mr. Su Xiao, Ms. Xu Xiao’ou, Ms. Wang Juan and Mr. 
Zhang Rong shall retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, will 
offer themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the 
circular to the Shareholders which is published on the website of the 
Stock Exchange and the website of the Company.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the 
Company are set out on pages 28 to 36 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF 
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received the confirmation of independence pursuant 
to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of 
the independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers 
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent during 
the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND 
APPOINTMENT LETTERS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract 
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from the 
date of Prospectus and until the third annual general meeting of the 
Company since the Listing Date (whichever ends earlier). Either party 
has the right to give not less than three months’ prior written notice 
to terminate the agreement.

Each of Ms. Wang Juan and Mr. Zhang Rong, both being non-executive 
Directors, has entered into an appointment letter with the Company on 
24 January 2025 and 21 July 2022, respectively. Ms. Wang Juan will 
hold office for an initial term of three years until the commencement of 
the first annual general meeting of the Company after her appointment 
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. She is subject 
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Listing 
Rules and the Articles of Association of the Company as amended from 
time to time. The initial term for the appointment letter of Mr. Zhang 
Rong is one year from the date on which the appointment is approved 
by the general meeting or until the first annual general meeting of the 
Company since the Listing Date, whichever ends earlier, and shall be 
automatically renewed for one year, provided that the terms under 
such appointment letters shall not exceed three years in aggregate. 
Such appointment letters could be terminated in accordance with their 
terms and conditions or by either party giving to the other not less 
than one month’s prior written notice.

28 36

 

3.13

 

2025
1 24 2022 7 21



45

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

Directors’ Report

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into 
an appointment letter with the Company on 21 July 2022. The initial 
term for their appointment letters shall be three years from the date 
of the Prospectus, until terminated in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the 
other not less than one month’s prior written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed 
to have a service contract with any member of the Group other 
than contracts expiring or determinable by the employer within one 
year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
No Director or entity connected with such Director had a material 
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement 
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the 
Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party 
during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
Details of the employees and remuneration policies during the 
Reporting Period are set out in “Employees” under the section headed 
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid 
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in note 9 and note 
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

2022 7 21

 

9 10
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
SCHEME
The Group attaches great importance to employee benefits and actively 
promotes work-life balance. In accordance with the Group’s policy, in 
addition to all statutory holidays, employees are entitled to annual leave 
and other paid holidays, such as maternity leave and marriage leave. 
In addition, the Group pays “five social insurance and one housing 
fund” for all employees in accordance with the Social Insurance Law 
of the People’s Republic of China.

Specifically, the Group’s employees engage in the social security system 
for employees established and managed by government authorities, 
including pension and medical insurance, housing provident fund and 
other social security systems. The Group withdraws social insurance 
premiums and employee welfare fees based on a certain percentage 
of the contribution base stipulated by the government authorities and 
not exceeding the prescribed ceiling, and pays them to the labour and 
social security authorities, with the corresponding expenses charged 
to current costs or expenses. The above social security system has 
set up a deposit scheme, and there is no forfeiture for the basic social 
pension insurance. All the contributions will be fully vested to the 
employees when they are paid.

Details of the Group’s expenditure on employee benefits in 2024 are 
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

In order to recognize and motivate the contributions of the participants 
(including but not limited to employee participants) to the Group and 
maintain the Group’s on-going relations with Participants, to give 
participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company 
and help motivate participants to optimise their future contributions 
to the Group, and to attract suitable talents for further growth and 
development of the Group, the Company passed and adopted a 
share option scheme (“2024 Share Option Scheme”) and a share 
award scheme (“2024 Share Award Scheme”) at the extraordinary 
general meeting held on 3 September 2024, the details of which are 
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme and Share Award 
Scheme” of the Directors’ Report and note 30 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

 

2024
8

2024 9 3
2024

2024
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF 
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the 
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying 
Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
(the “SFO”)), which were required to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or deemed 
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, 
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register 
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code 
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i)	 Interest in Shares in the Company

 
 

2024 12 31

XV

XV 7 8

352

C3

(i) 

    

Names of Directors Nature of interest
Number of Shares of 
the Company held(1)

Approximate 
percentage of 

shareholding interest
(1)

    

Mr. Su Xiao(2) 
(“Mr. Su”)

Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 44.30%

(2)  

Ms. Chen Fei(3)  
(“Ms. Chen”)

Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 44.30%

(3)  

Ms. Xu Xiao’ou(4)  
(“Ms. Xu”)

Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 44.30%

(4)  

Mr. Zhou Yuan(5)  
(“Mr. Zhou”)

Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 44.30%

(5)  
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Notes:

(1)	 All interests stated are long positions.

(2)	 Lemontree Harvest Investment Limited (“Lemontree Harvest”) directly 
holds 71,136,000 Shares in the Company and is wholly owned by 
Lemontree Evergreen Holding Limited (“Lemontree Evergreen”), which 
in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Su. Under the SFO, the interests owned/
deemed to be owned by Lemontree Harvest, Lemontree Evergreen and  
Mr. Su as at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 71,136,000 Shares in 
the Company held by Lemontree Harvest, and (ii) Shares held by other 
controlling Shareholders as they are parties acting in concert.

(3)	 Faye Free Flight Limited (“Faye Free”) directly holds 33,014,520 Shares in 
the Company and is wholly owned by Free Flight Limited (“Free Flight”), 
which in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Chen. Under the SFO, the interests 
owned/deemed to be owned by Faye Free, Free Flight and Ms. Chen as 
at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 33,014,520 Shares in the Company 
held by Faye Free, and (ii) Shares held by other controlling Shareholders 
as they are parties acting in concert.

(4)	 A&O Investment Limited (“A&O Investment”) directly holds 33,014,520 
Shares in the Company and is wholly owned by MEOO Limited, which 
in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Xu. Under the SFO, the interests owned/
deemed to be owned by A&O Investment, MEOO Limited and  Ms. Xu as 
at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 33,014,520 Shares in the Company 
held by A&O Investment, and (ii) Shares held by other controlling 
Shareholders as they are parties acting in concert.

(5)	 Linmon Run Limited (“Linmon Run”) directly holds 22,617,000 Shares 
in the Company and is wholly owned by Z&N Investment Limited 
(“Z&N Investment”), which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Zhou. Under 
the SFO, the interests owned/deemed to be owned by Linmon Run, 
Z&N Investment and Mr. Zhou as at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 
22,617,000 Shares in the Company held by Linmon Run, and (ii) Shares 
held by other controlling Shareholders as they are parties acting in 
concert.

(1) 

(2) Lemontree Harvest Investment Limited
Lemontree Harvest

71,136,000 Lemontree 
Evergreen Holding Limited Lemontree 
Evergreen Lemontree 
Evergreen

2024 12 31
Lemontree Harvest Lemontree Evergreen

(i) Lemontree Harvest
71,136,000 (ii)

(3) Faye Free Flight Limited Faye Free
33,014,520 Free 

Flight Limited Free Flight
Free Flight

2024 12 31 Faye 
Free Free Flight

(i) Faye Free
33,014,520 (ii)

(4) A&O Investment Limited A&O Investment  
33,014,520

MEOO Limited MEOO 
Limited

2024 12 31 A&O 
Investment MEOO Limited

(i) A&O 
Investment 33,014,520

(ii)

(5) Linmon Run Limited Linmon Run
22,617,000 Z&N 

Investment Limited Z&N Investment
Z&N Investment

2024 12
31 Linmon Run Z&N Investment

(i) 
Linmon Run 22,617,000

(ii)
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(ii)	 Interest in associated corporations (ii) 

     

Names of 
Directors

Name of associated 
corporation Nature of interest

Number of  
Shares held(1)

Approximate 
percentage of 

interest
(1)

     

Mr. Su(2) Shanghai Linmon Beneficial Interest;  
interest held jointly with  
other persons

172,613,522 71.65%(3)

(2)  

Ms. Chen(2) Shanghai Linmon Beneficial Interest;  
interest held jointly with  
other persons

172,613,522 71.65%(3)

(2)  

Ms. Xu(2) Shanghai Linmon Beneficial Interest;  
interest held jointly with  
other persons

172,613,522 71.65%(3)

(2)  

Mr. Zhou(2) Shanghai Linmon Beneficial Interest;  
interest held jointly with  
other persons

172,613,522 71.65%(3)

(2)  

     

(1) 

(2) 

(i) (ii)

(3) 2024 12 31
71.65%

(i) 66.32%

Notes:

(1)	 All interests stated are long positions.

(2)	 Under the SFO, the interest of each of Mr. Su, Ms. Chen, Ms. Xu and 
Mr. Zhou in Shanghai Linmon consists of (i) the number of Shares held 
by him/her, and (ii) the Shares held by other controlling Shareholders as 
they are parties acting in concert.

(3)	 As at 31 December 2024, the deemed interest of 71.65% for each of 
Mr. Su, Ms. Chen, Ms. Xu and Mr. Zhou in Shanghai Linmon includes:

(i)	 the 66.32% interests in Shanghai Linmon directly held by them;
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(ii)	 the 0.00000083% interests in Shanghai Linmon held by Shanghai 
Guanhong Enterprise Management Consulting Center (Limited 
Partnership) (“Shanghai Guanhong”) and Shanghai Guanhan 
Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) 
(“Shanghai Guanhan”). As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Zhou acts 
as the general partner of Shanghai Guanhong. The only limited 
partner of Shanghai Guanhong is Shanghai Huazhangtai Enterprise 
Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (

), a company wholly owned by Mr. Su. As at 31 December 2024, 
Ms. Chen acts as the general partner of Shanghai Guanhan. The 
only limited partner of Shanghai Guanhan is Mr. Zhou. In light of 
the above and the concert party agreement, each of Mr. Su, Ms. 
Chen, Ms. Xu and Mr. Zhou would be deemed to be interested 
in all the shares of Shanghai Linmon held by Shanghai Guanhong 
and Shanghai Guanhan; and

(iii)	 the 5.33% interests in Shanghai Linmon held by Shanghai Guoshi 
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (“Shanghai 
Guoshi”) and Shanghai Guoyun Enterprise Management Consulting 
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Shanghai Guoyun”). As at 31 
December 2024, the largest limited partner of Shanghai Guoshi, 
Ms. Yang Xijuan, holds 37.2000% of its partnership interests, and 
no other limited partner holds more than 30% of the partnership 
interests in Shanghai Guoshi. Mr. Su acts as the general partner 
of Shanghai Guoshi. As at 31 December 2024, the largest limited 
partner of Shanghai Guoyun, Mr. Zhang Xiaobo, holds 82.0102% 
of its partnership interests. Ms. Xu acts as the general partner 
of Shanghai Guoyun. In light of the above and the concert party 
agreement, each of Mr. Su, Ms. Chen, Ms. Xu and Mr. Zhou would 
be deemed to be interested in all the shares of Shanghai Linmon 
held by Shanghai Guoshi and Shanghai Guoyun as Mr. Su and Ms. 
Xu act as the general partners of Shanghai Guoshi and Shanghai 
Guoyun, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the 
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests and/
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of 
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of 
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which were taken 
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were 
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the 
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(ii) 

0.00000083%
2024 12 31

2024 12 31

(iii) 

5.33% 2024
12 31

37.2000%

30%
2024

12 31
82.0102%

2024 12 31

XV

XV 7 8

352
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting 
Period were there rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors 
or their respective spouses or minor children, nor were there any 
such rights exercised by any Directors; nor was the Company or any 
of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party 
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in 
any other company.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2024, so far as the Directors are aware, the 
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the 
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying 
Shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 
336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register kept by the Company:

 

 

2024 12 31

XV
2 3

336
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Names of Shareholders Nature of interest
Number of  

Shares held

Long Position/
Short Position/
Shares in a 
lending pool

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

 

     

Lemontree Harvest(1) Beneficial owner; interest of concert parties 159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

Lemontree Evergreen(1) Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

Faye Free(2) Beneficial owner; interest of concert parties 159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

Free Flight(2) Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

A&O Investment(3) Beneficial owner; interest of concert parties 159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

MEOO Limited(3) Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

Linmon Run(4) Beneficial owner; interest of concert parties 159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

Z&N Investment(4) Interest in controlled corporation;  
interest of concert parties

159,782,040 Long Position 44.30%

Tencent Mobility Limited (“Tencent Mobility”)(5) Beneficial owner 68,302,080 Long Position 18.94%

Great luminosity Limited (“Great luminosity”)(6) Beneficial owner 55,756,800 Long Position 15.46%

Shanghai Hongni Enterprise Management 
Partnership (Limited Partnership)  
(“Shanghai Hongni”)(6)

Interest in controlled corporation 55,756,800 Long Position 15.46%

 
(6)
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Notes:

(1)	 Lemontree Harvest directly holds 71,136,000 Shares in the Company and is 
wholly owned by Lemontree Evergreen, which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. 
Su. Under the SFO, the interests owned/deemed to be owned by Lemontree 
Harvest, Lemontree Evergreen and Mr. Su as at 31 December 2024 consist 
of (i) 71,136,000 Shares in the Company held by Lemontree Harvest, and (ii) 
Shares held by other controlling Shareholders as they are parties acting in 
concert.

(2)	 Faye Free directly holds 33,014,520 Shares in the Company and is wholly 
owned by Free Flight, which in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Chen. Under the 
SFO, the interests owned/deemed to be owned by Faye Free, Free Flight 
and and Ms. Chen as at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 33,014,520 Shares 
in the Company held by Faye Free, and (ii) Shares held by other controlling 
Shareholders as they are parties acting in concert.

(3)	 A&O Investment directly holds 33,014,520 Shares in the Company and is 
wholly owned by MEOO Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Xu. 
Under the SFO, the interests owned/deemed to be owned by A&O Investment, 
MEOO Limited and Ms. Xu as at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 33,014,520 
Shares in the Company held by A&O Investment, and (ii) Shares held by other 
controlling Shareholders as they are parties acting in concert.

(4)	 Linmon Run directly holds 22,617,000 Shares in the Company and is wholly 
owned by Z&N Investment, which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Zhou. Under 
the SFO, the interests owned/deemed to be owned by Linmon Run, Z&N 
Investment and Mr. Zhou as at 31 December 2024 consist of (i) 22,617,000 
Shares in the Company held by Linmon Run, and (ii) Shares held by other 
controlling Shareholders as they are parties acting in concert.

(5)	 Tencent Mobility is ultimately controlled by Tencent Holdings Limited.

(6)	 Great luminosity directly holds 55,756,800 Shares in the Company and is 
wholly owned by Shanghai Hongni. Shanghai Hongni’s general partner is 
Hony Capital (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ( ( ) ) (“Hony Capital”), 
holding approximately 0.0018% of the partnership interests in Shanghai 
Hongni. Shanghai Hongni has only one limited partner, being Hongyi Hongxin 
(Shenzhen) Equity Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Hongyi 
Hongxin”), which holds approximately 99.9982% of the partnership interests 
in Shanghai Hongni. Hongyi Hongxin’s general partner is Hony Capital, which 
is ultimately controlled by Xu Minsheng ( ), Cao Yonggang ( ) and 
Zhao Wen ( ) as to 33.33%, respectively. Hongyi Hongxin is held as to 
91.46% by its limited partner, Hongyu (Shanghai) Equity Investment Fund 
Partnership (Limited Partnership) ( ( ) ( )), 
which is ultimately controlled by Xu Minsheng ( ), Cao Yonggang (

) and Zhao Wen ( ) as to 33.33%, respectively.

(1) Lemontree Harvest
71,136,000 L e m o n t r e e 
Everg reen Lemont ree 
Evergreen

2024 12 31
Lemontree Harvest Lemontree Evergreen

(i) Lemontree Harvest
71,136,000 (ii)

(2) Faye Free 33,014,520
Free Flight Free Flight

2024 12 31 Faye Free
Free Flight

(i) Faye Free
33,014,520 (ii)

(3) A&O Investment 33,014,520
MEOO Limited

MEOO Limited
2024 12 31

A&O Investment MEOO Limited
(i) A&O 

Investment 33,014,520
(ii)

(4) Linmon Run 22,617,000
Z&N Investment Z&N 

Investment
2024 12 31 Linmon 

Run Z&N Investment
(i) Linmon Run

22,617,000 (ii)

(5) Tencent Mobility

(6) Great luminosity 55,756,800

0.0018%

99.9982%

33.33%

91.46%
33.33%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as the 
Directors are aware, there were no other persons (other than the 
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or 
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company 
which were required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to 
be recorded in the register kept by the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD 
SCHEME
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Purpose
The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme”) was adopted and approved by the Shareholders of 
the Company on 24 September 2021 for the primary purpose 
of improving the long-term incentive mechanism of the Group, 
attracting and retaining talents and promoting the long-term 
development of the Company.

Maximum Number of Shares
The maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares of the Company 
that may be issued under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 
shall not exceed 14,680,471 shares, representing 4.07% of the 
361,114,198 issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares, if any) as at the date of this annual report. As at 31 
December 2024, the valid options under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme have been granted to 79 grantees, representing a total 
of 12,065,665 shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, 
which accounted for 3.34% of the 361,114,198 issued shares of 
the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the date of 
this annual report. After the listing, the Group shall not grant any 
options to subscribe for the shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme. Accordingly, at the beginning and end of the Reporting 
Period, the Company had no options to be granted under the 
scheme mandate and service provider sublimit respectively.

2024 12 31

XV 2 3

336

 

2021 9 24

14,680,471

361,114,198 4.07%
2024 12 31

79

12,065,665
361,114,198

3.34%
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During the Reporting Period, 1,350,970 options were vested at an 
exercise price of RMB11.1111 per share and US$0.000025 per 
share to grantees who were employees that were not Directors or 
five highest paid employees of the Company. Pursuant to the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme, options under the scheme were granted 
at nil consideration. There was no maximum entitlement of each 
participant and no options have been and will be granted in excess 
of the 1% individual limit.

Participants
The participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are employees 
of the Group and outstanding external consultants. None of the 
Directors or members of the senior management of the Company 
was granted options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Exercise Price of Options
The exercise price of the options shall be at the discretion of the 
administrator and subject to the provisions of the applicable option 
agreement. The exercise prices of the Company’s outstanding 
options at the beginning and end of the Reporting Period ranged 
from RMB0.00016 per share to RMB11.1111 per share.

Duration of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The granting duration of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was from 
December 2015 to March 2022. The option, to the extent then vested, 
shall only become exercisable upon the Listing Date unless otherwise 
determined by the administrator. The period shall commence on the 
day upon which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall 
end in any event not later than ten (10) years from the date of grant. 
Subject to the foregoing, the administrator in its sole discretion shall 
determine when an option is to expire. As at 31 December 2024, the 
options may be exercised until March 2032 at the latest.

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will terminate on the tenth 
anniversary of the later of (i) the effective date of the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme or (ii) the date on which the increase in the number 
of Shares reserved for issue under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme 
has been duly approved by the Shareholders of the Company recently. 
As at the date of this annual report, there were 6 years and 5 months 
remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

1,350,970
11.1111

0.000025

1%

0.00016 11.1111

2015
12 2022 3

(10)

2024 12 31
2032 3

(i)
(ii)

6 5
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Vesting Period
The options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are 
subject to three vesting periods: immediately upon listing, fully vested 
upon the expiry of the four-year vesting period and fully vested upon 
the expiry of the two-year vesting period. Among which, for the fully 
vested portion upon the expiry of the four-year vesting period, 25%, 
25%, 25% and 25% of the total number of options granted will be 
vested on the first, second, third and fourth anniversary of the vesting 
commencement date, respectively; for the fully vested portion upon the 
expiry of the two-year vesting period, 50% and 50% of the total number 
of options granted will be vested on the first and second anniversary 
of the vesting commencement date, respectively.

Details of Movements in the Share Options during the Reporting 
Period
Details of the movements in the share options granted under the 
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period are set 
out below:

25% 25% 25% 25%

50% 50%

 

        

Outstanding 
as at  

1 January 
2024

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Exercised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Canceled 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Lapsed 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Outstanding 
as at  

31 December 
2024

Category of grantee

2024  
1 1  

2024  
12 31  

        

Employees who are not Directors 
or the five highest paid 
employees of the Company 1

 
1

11,507,019 0 0 0 139,199 11,367,820

External consultants 702,294 0 0 0 4,449 697,845
        

Total 12,209,313 0 0 0 143,648 12,065,665
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Notes:

(1)	 None of the grantees under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is a Director, 
the five highest paid employees, chief executive, substantial Shareholder of 
the Company or their respective associates, no participants who have been 
granted or will be granted options in excess of the individual limit of 1%, nor 
related entity participants or service providers who have been granted or will 
be granted options exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of shares issued by 
the Company within any 12-month period.

(2)	 After the listing, the Group will not grant options to subscribe for shares under 
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. During the year ended 31 December 
2024, no options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The 
Company had no options available for grant under the mandate of the Pre-IPO 
Share Option Scheme and the service provider sublimit at the beginning and 
the end of the Reporting Period.

(3)	 During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no share options 
exercised under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

(4)	 During the year ended 31 December 2024, no participant’s options under 
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were canceled. Some of the options were 
lapsed, mainly due to the departure of employees.

(5)	 All the above grants under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were made 
before the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules became effective 
on 1 January 2023.

(6)	 There was no performance target for the options granted under the Pre-IPO 
Share Option Scheme as of 31 December 2024.

(1) 

1% 12

0.1%

(2) 
2024

12 31

(3) 2024 12 31

(4) 2024 12 31

(5) 
2023 1 1

(6) 2024 12 31
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(7)	 The following is a statistical table of the Company’s Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme granted as of 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024:

(7) 2024 1 1 2024 12 31

       

Category of grantee
Date of 

grant

Number of 
outstanding 

options as 
of 1 January 

2024 Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price

Numnber of
outstanding options 

as
of 31 December 2024

2024  
1 1  

2024  
12 31

 

       

Employees who are 
not Directors or 
the five highest 
paid employees of 
the Company

2015/12/31 682,150 2019/12/31 no later than 2025/12/30 RMB2.087/per share 682,150

2025/12/30 2.087

2017/3/10 3,784,771 2021/3/10 no later than 2027/3/9 RMB7.7262/per share 3,784,771

2027/3/9 7.7262

2017/5/8 776,560 2021/5/8 no later than 2027/5/7 RMB7.7262/per share 776,560

2027/5/7 7.7262

2017/6/1 388,280 2021/6/1 no later than 2027/5/31 RMB7.7262/per share 388,280

2027/5/31 7.7262

2020/7/1 388,280 50% vested on 2021/7/1,  
50% vested on 2022/7/1

no later than 2030/6/30 RMB10/per share 388,280

2021/7/1 50%  
2022/7/1 50%

2030/6/30 10

2021/9/28 4,600,028 25% vested on 2022/10/1,  
25% vested on 2023/10/1,  
25% vested on 2024/10/1,  
25% to be vested on 2025/10/1

no later than 2031/9/27 RMB11.1111/per share 4,460,829

2022/10/1 25%  
2023/10/1 25%  
2024/10/1 25%  
2025/10/1 25%

2031/9/27 11.1111

2021/9/28 135,000 25% vested on 2022/10/6,  
25% vested on 2023/10/6,  
25% vested on 2024/10/6, 25% to 
be vested on 2025/10/6

no later than 2031/9/27 RMB11.1111/per share 135,000

2022/10/6 25%  
2023/10/6 25%  
2024/10/6 25%  
2025/10/6 25%

2031/9/27 11.1111

2021/9/28 103,950 25% vested on 2022/11/6,  
25% vested on 2023/11/6,  
25% vested on 2024/11/6, 25% to 
be vested on 2025/11/6

no later than 2031/9/27 RMB11.1111/per share 103,950

2022/11/6 25%  
2023/11/6 25%  
2024/11/6 25%  
2025/11/6 25%

2031/9/27 11.1111

2021/9/28 162,000 25% vested on 2023/2/1,  
25% vested on 2024/2/1,  
25% vested on 2025/2/1, 25% to 
be vested on 2026/2/1

no later than 2031/9/27 RMB11.1111/per share 162,000

2023/2/1 25%  
2024/2/1 25%  
2025/2/1 25%  
2026/2/1 25%

2031/9/27 11.1111
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For further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, please refer 
to the Prospectus.

       

Category of grantee
Date of 

grant

Number of 
outstanding 

options as 
of 1 January 

2024 Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price

Numnber of
outstanding options 

as
of 31 December 2024

2024  
1 1  

2024  
12 31

 

       

2022/1/1 135,000 25% vested on 2023/4/18,  
25% vested on 2024/4/18,  
25% vested on 2025/4/18, 25% to 
be vested on 2026/4/18

no later than 2031/12/31 RMB11.1111/per share 135,000

2023/4/18 25%  
2024/4/18 25%  
2025/4/18 25%  
2026/4/18 25%

2031/12/31 11.1111

2022/1/1 148,500 25% vested on 2023/6/1,  
25% vested on 2024/6/1, 25% to 
be vested on 2025/6/1, 25% to be 
vested on 2026/6/1

no later than 2031/12/31 RMB11.1111/per share 148,500

2023/6/1 25%  
2024/6/1 25%  
2025/6/1 25%  
2026/6/1 25%

2031/12/31 11.1111

2022/3/21 202,500 25% vested on 2023/8/21,  
25% vested on 2024/8/21, 25% to 
be vested on 2025/8/21, 25% to 
be vested on 2026/8/21

no later than 2032/3/20 RMB11.1111/per share 202,500

2023/8/21 25%  
2024/8/21 25%  
2025/8/21 25%  
2026/8/21 25%

2032/3/20 11.1111

External consultants 2021/9/28 203,874 25% vested on 2022/10/1, 
25% vested on 2023/10/1,  
25% vested on 2024/10/1,  
25% to be vested on 2025/10/1

no later than 2031/9/27 RMB11.1111/per share 199,425

2022/10/1 25%  
2023/10/1 25%  
2024/10/1 25%  
2025/10/1 25%

2031/9/27 11.1111

2021/9/28 498,420 25% vested on 2022/10/1, 
25% vested on 2023/10/1,  
25% vested on 2024/10/1,  
25% to be vested on 2025/10/1

no later than 2031/9/27 US$0.000025/per share 498,420

2022/10/1 25%  
2023/10/1 25%  
2024/10/1 25%  
2025/10/1 25%

2031/9/27 0.000025

       

Total 12,209,313 12,065,665
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2024 Share Option Scheme
Purpose
The purpose of the 2024 Share Option Scheme is to provide an 
opportunity for the participants to have a personal stake in the Company, 
to recognize, motivate and provide incentives to the participants, to 
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional 
incentives to the participants, to promote the success of the business 
of the Group, and for such other purposes as the Board may approve 
from time to time.

Maximum Number of Shares
The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issued under 
the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme 
shall not exceed 36,045,882 shares, representing 9.98% of the 
361,114,198 issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, 
if any) as at the date of this annual report. Of which, the maximum 
aggregate number of shares issuable to service provider participants 
will be 18,022,941 shares, being 4.99% of the 361,114,198 issued 
shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the 
date of this annual report.

Pursuant to the 2024 Share Option Scheme, no amount shall be 
payable for the acceptance of the share option offer at the time of such 
acceptances. Subject to the aforesaid maximum number of shares, 
there is no provisions regarding the maximum entitlement of each 
participant stipulated in the 2024 Share Option Scheme.

Where any grant of option to a participant would result in the total 
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options 
and awards granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed in 
accordance with the terms of the 2024 Share Option Scheme or any 
other schemes of the Company) under the 2024 Share Option Scheme 
and any other schemes of the Company in the 12-month period up to 
and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 
1% of the total number of shares in issue (excluding treasury share, if 
any), such grant must be separately approved by the Shareholders at 
a general meeting, and such participant and his/her close associates 
(or associates if the participant is a connected person) shall abstain 
from voting.

2024

2024

2024 2024
36,045,882

361,114,198 9.98%

18,022,941

361,114,198 4.99%

2024

2024

12
2024

2024

1%
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Where any grant of option to a substantial shareholder of the Company 
or any of its respective associates would result in the total number of 
shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and awards 
granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the 2024 Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of 
the Company) under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and any other 
schemes of the Company to such person in any 12-month period up 
to and including such share option offer date representing in aggregate 
over 0.1% of the shares in issue (excluding treasury share, if any), such 
further grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders at a 
general meeting of the Company in compliance with Rules 13.40, 13.41 
and 13.42 of the Listing Rules, and such person, his/her associates 
and all core connected persons of the Company shall abstain from 
voting in favour at the relevant general meeting.

Participants
The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any participant to 
take up an option to subscribe for shares. The participants of the 
2024 Share Option Scheme include employee participants (including 
directors or employees of any member of the Group), related entity 
participants (directors or employees of the controlling shareholders, 
fellow subsidiaries or associates of the Company) and service provider 
participants (persons (including entities) providing services to the Group 
on a continuing basis in its ordinary and usual course of business).

Each grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial 
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates must 
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding 
any independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of the 
options or awards).

12
2024

2024

0.1%
13.40 13.41 13.42

2024
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Option Exercise Price
The option exercise price under the 2024 Share Option Scheme shall 
be a price to be solely determined by the Board (or the President, a 
committee or any other authorized agent(s) as deemed appropriate at 
the sole discretion of the Board) in its absolute discretion and notified 
to a participant, but in any case the option Exercise Price shall be at 
least the higher of:

(a)	 the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet on the share option offer date;

(b)	 a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the 5 
business days immediately preceding the share option offer date; 
and

(c)	 the par value per share on the date of grant, provided that in the 
event of fractional prices, the exercise price per share shall be 
rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.

Performance Targets
The 2024 Share Option Scheme does not specify any performance 
targets. The Board (or the President, a committee or any other 
authorized agent(s) as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of 
the Board) shall set the performance targets (if any) which are tailored 
to the particular circumstances of the relevant selected participant.

Scheme Duration
The 2024 Share Option Scheme shall be effective for a period of 10 
years commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 3 September 2024 on 
which the scheme was approved at the general meeting), after which 
period no further options will be granted.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining term of the 2024 
Share Option Scheme is nine years and four months.

Under the 2024 Share Option Scheme, the latest period during which 
the grantee may exercise the options under the scheme shall not extend 
beyond 10 years from the date of grant.

2024

(a) 

(b) 5

(c) 

2024

2024
2024 9 3 10

2024
9 4

2024
10
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Vesting Period
The minimum vesting period for an option is 12 months before the 
option can be exercised, except under the following circumstances, a 
shorter vesting period may be granted to a participant at the discretion 
of the Board (or the President, a committee or any other authorized 
agent(s) as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board) as 
deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board if:

(a)	 grants of “make-whole” options to new joiners to replace the 
share awards they forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(b)	 grants to a participant whose employment is terminated due to 
death or disability or occurrence of any out of control event;

(c)	 grants that are made in batches during a year for administrative 
and compliance reasons, which include options that should have 
been granted earlier if not for such administrative or compliance 
reasons but had to wait for subsequent batch. In such case, the 
vesting period may be shorter to reflect the time from which the 
option would have been granted;

(d)	 grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such as 
where the option may vest evenly over a period of 12 months, 
which gives the Company more flexibility in providing incentives 
to the participants and is in line with market practice;

(e)	 performance-based grants in lieu of time-based grants, or grants 
with performance-based vesting conditions, in which the Company 
wishes the participants to achieve their performance targets as 
soon as possible by offering immediate vesting of the relevant 
options upon fulfilment of the performance targets, and the 
participants could be incentivized to the largest extent; or

(f)	 grants with conditions of historical contribution and longevity, in 
which the Company may provide immediate vesting of the relevant 
options when the conditions are met to reward and incentivize 
participants to make a greater contribution to the Company.

12

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 
12

(e) 

(f) 
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Movements during the Reporting Period
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not grant, vest or cancel 
any option under the 2024 Share Option Scheme, and no options 
were lapsed.

As at 1 January 2024, the Company has not adopted the 2024 Share 
Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2024, the maximum number of 
options to be granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 
2024 Share Award Scheme was 33,545,197 options, and the maximum 
number of options to be granted to the service provider participants 
under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award 
Scheme was 18,022,941 options.

For further details on the 2024 Share Option Scheme, please refer to 
the extraordinary general meeting circular of the Company dated 13 
August 2024.

2024 Share Award Scheme
Purpose
The purpose of the 2024 Share Award Scheme is to provide an 
opportunity for the participants to have a personal stake in the Company, 
to recognize, motivate and provide incentives to the participants, to 
attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional 
incentives to the participants, to promote the success of the business 
of the Group, and for such other purposes as the Board may approve 
from time to time.

Maximum Number of Share Awards
The maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issued under 
the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme 
shall not exceed 36,045,882 shares, representing 9.98% of the 
361,114,198 issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, 
if any) as at the date of this annual report. Of which, the maximum 
aggregate number of shares issuable to service provider participants 
will be 18,022,941 shares, being 4.99% of the 361,114,198 issued 
shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the 
date of this annual report.

Pursuant to the 2024 Share Award Scheme, no amount shall be 
payable by the grantee for the acceptance of the awarded shares at 
the time of such acceptance.

Subject to the aforesaid maximum number of shares, there is no 
provisions regarding the maximum entitlement of each participant 
stipulated in the 2024 Share Award Scheme.

2024

2024 1 1 2024
2024 12 31

2024 2024
33,545,197

2024 2024

18,022,941

2024
2024 8 13

2024

2024

2024 2024
36,045,882

361,114,198 9.98%

18,022,941

361,114,198 4.99%

2024

2024
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Where any grant of awards to a participant would result in the total 
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options 
and awards granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed in 
accordance with the terms of the 2024 Share Award Scheme or any 
other schemes of the Company) under the 2024 Share Award Scheme 
and any other schemes of the Company in the 12-month period up to 
and including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 
1% of the total number of shares in issue (excluding treasury share, if 
any), such grant must be separately approved by the Shareholders at 
a general meeting, and such participant and his/her close associates 
(or associates if the participant is a connected person) shall abstain 
from voting.

Where any grant of awards (excluding grant of option) to a director, chief 
executive of the Company or any of their respective associates would 
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect 
of all awards granted (excluding any awards lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the 2024 Share Award Scheme or any other schemes of 
the Company) under the 2024 Share Award Scheme and any other 
schemes of the Company to such person in any 12-month period up 
to and including such share award offer date representing in aggregate 
over 0.1% of the shares in issue (excluding treasury share, if any), or 
where any grant of awards to a substantial shareholder of the Company 
or any of its respective associates would result in the total number of 
shares issued and to be issued in respect of all awards and options 
granted (excluding any awards and options lapsed in accordance with 
the terms of the 2024 Share Award Scheme or any other schemes of 
the Company) under the 2024 Share Award Scheme and any other 
schemes of the Company to such person in any 12-month period up 
to and including such share award offer date representing in aggregate 
over 0.1% of the shares in issue (excluding treasury share, if any), such 
further grant of awards must be approved by the Shareholders at a 
general meeting of the Company in compliance with Rules 13.40, 13.41 
and 13.42 of the Listing Rules, and such person, his/her associates 
and all core connected persons of the Company shall abstain from 
voting in favour at the relevant general meeting.

12
2024

2024

1%

12 2024

2024

0.1%

12
2024

2024

0.1%
13.40 13.41

13.42
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Participants
The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any participant to take 
up an award. The participants of the 2024 Share Award Scheme include 
employee participants (including directors or employees of any member 
of the Group), related entity participants (directors or employees of 
the controlling shareholders, fellow subsidiaries or associates of the 
Company) and service provider participants (persons (including entities) 
providing services to the Group on a continuing basis in its ordinary 
and usual course of business).

Notwithstanding the aforesaid, each grant of awards to a director, 
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of 
their respective associates must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director 
who is the grantee of the options or awards).

Award Purchase Price
Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the purchase price (if 
any) in respect of any particular award shall be such price as the 
Board (or President, a committee or any other authorized agent(s) 
as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board) may in 
its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant 
award (and shall be stated in the grant notice), taking into consideration 
factors such as prevailing closing price of the shares, the purpose 
of the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the performance of the relevant 
participant(s) and his/her potential and expected contribution to the 
growth and development of the Company. For avoidance of doubt, 
the awards under the 2024 Share Award Scheme could be exercised 
at nil consideration or at certain price.

Performance Targets
The 2024 Share Award Scheme does not specify any performance 
targets. The Board (or the President, a committee or any other 
authorized agent(s) as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of 
the Board) shall set the performance targets (if any) which are tailored 
to the particular circumstances of the relevant selected participant.

Scheme Duration
The 2024 Share Award Scheme shall be effective for a period of 10 
years commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 3 September 2024 on 
which the scheme was approved at the general meeting), after which 
period no further awards will be granted.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining term of the 2024 
Share Award Scheme is nine years and four months.

2024

2024

2024

2024

2024
2024 9 3 10

2024
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Vesting Period
The minimum vesting period for a share award is 12 months before the 
option can be exercised, except under the following circumstances, a 
shorter vesting period may be granted to a participant at the discretion 
of the Board (or the President, a committee or any other authorized 
agent(s) as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board) as 
deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board if:

(a)	 grants of “make-whole” awards to new joiners to replace the 
share awards they forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(b)	 grants to a participant whose employment is terminated due to 
death or disability or occurrence of any out of control event;

(c)	 grants that are made in batches during a year for administrative 
and compliance reasons, which include awards that should have 
been granted earlier if not for such administrative or compliance 
reasons but had to wait for subsequent batch. In such case, the 
vesting period may be shorter to reflect the time from which the 
awards would have been granted;

(d)	 grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such as 
where the awards may vest evenly over a period of 12 months, 
which gives the Company more flexibility in providing incentives 
to the participants and is in line with market practice;

(e)	 performance-based grants in lieu of time-based grants, or grants 
with performance-based vesting conditions, in which the Company 
wishes the participants to achieve their performance targets as 
soon as possible by offering immediate vesting of the relevant 
awards upon fulfilment of the performance targets, and the 
participants could be incentivized to the largest extent; or

(f)	 grants with conditions of historical contribution and longevity, in 
which the Company may provide immediate vesting of the relevant 
awards when the conditions are met to reward and incentivize 
participants to make a greater contribution to the Company.

12

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 
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Movements during the Reporting Period
On 15 November 2024, the Company granted in aggregate 2,500,685 
awarded shares (each awarded share shall entitle the grantee thereof to 
subscribe for one share) to a total of eight employees of the Company 
at the purchase price of US$0.000025 per share with an exercise period 
of ten years from the date of grant. The closing price of the shares 
of the Company immediately before the date of grant was HK$3.06 
per share. The fair value of the awarded shares on the date of grant 
was HK$3.13 per share, and the relevant accounting standards and 
policies for calculating the fair value are set out in note 3 and note 
30(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

This grant was made with conditions of historical contribution and 
longevity, with an aim to reward and incentivize the grantees to make 
greater contributions to the Company. The vesting of such awarded 
shares is conditional on the satisfaction of the requirement that the 
grantees shall remain under employment of the Company on the 
respective vesting date of each tranche. Of which, 194,040 awarded 
shares have been vested on the date of grant and issuance of the 
relevant shares was completed during the Reporting Period, the 
weighted average closing price immediately before the date of vesting 
was HK$3.13 per share. While the remaining 2,306,645 awarded 
shares shall be vested pursuant to the following vesting arrangement: 
(a) 20% of the awarded shares granted have been vested on 8 April 
2025; (b) 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be vested on 20 
May 2025; (c) 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be vested on 
20 May 2026; (d) 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be vested 
on 20 May 2027; and (e) 20% of the awarded shares granted shall 
be vested on 20 May 2028.

The eight grantees who have been granted the awarded shares, (i) all 
are not Directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders of the 
Company, nor an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of any of 
them; (ii) have not been granted and will not be granted awarded shares 
which exceed the individual limit of 1% as required under the Listing 
Rules; (iii) all are not service providers or connected entity participants 
(as defined in the Listing Rules); (iv) no financial assistance is/to be 
provided by the Group to these grantees for the purchase of shares 
under the 2024 Share Award Scheme; and (v) none of the awarded 
shares are granted to the Directors and/or senior management, nor 
are they attached to performance target and/or clawback mechanism.

2024 11 15 8
2,500,685

1
0.000025
10

3.06
3.13

3 30 i

194,040

3.13 2,306,645
(a) 20% 2025

4 8 (b) 20% 2025
5 20 (c) 20% 2026 5

20 (d) 20% 2027 5
20 (e) 20% 2028
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Details of the movements in the awards granted under the 2024 Share 
Award Scheme during the Reporting Period are set out below:

2024

       

Outstanding as 
at  

1 January 2024

Granted during 
the Reporting 

Period

Exercised during 
the Reporting 

Period

Canceled during 
the Reporting 

Period

Lapsed during 
the Reporting 

Period

Outstanding as 
at  

31 December 
2024

Category of grantee
2024  
1 1  

2024  
12 31  

       

Employees of the Company N/A 2,500,685 194,040 0 0 2,306,645

       

Total N/A
2,500,685 194,040 0 0 2,306,645

       

2024 1 1 2024
2024 12 31

2024 2024
33,545,197

2024 2024

18,022,941

2024
2024 8 13

10,587,998

360,483,747 2.94%

As at 1 January 2024, the Company has not adopted the 2024 Share 
Award Scheme. As at 31 December 2024, the maximum number of 
awards to be granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 
2024 Share Award Scheme was 33,545,197 shares, and the maximum 
number of awards to be granted to the service provider participants 
under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award 
Scheme was 18,022,941 shares.

For further details on the 2024 Share Award Scheme, please refer to 
the extraordinary general meeting circular of the Company dated 13 
August 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the number of shares that may be issued 
in respect of the options and awards to be granted under all such 
schemes of the issuer during the accounting year of 10,587,998 shares 
divided by the weighted average number of the relevant class shares in 
issued during the Reporting Period of 360,483,747 shares (excluding 
treasury shares, if any) was 2.94%.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the 
Company has not entered into any other share scheme.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreements 
were entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the 
Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED 
SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of 
treasury shares (as defined in the Listing Rules)) during the Reporting 
Period. As of 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any 
treasury shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of 
Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige 
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to 
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING 
BUSINESS
During the Reporting Period, Mr. Sun Zhonghuai, the then non-executive 
Director, also holds directorship in other company, i.e. Linghe Culture 
Media (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. ( ( ) ) (“Linghe 
Media”), which is principally engaged in drama series production. The 
Directors are of the view that, even though there is overlap between 
our principal business and those of Linghe Media, on the basis that 
Mr. Sun Zhonghuai: (1) acts as an investor designated director holding 
a non-executive position in Linghe Media; and (2) is not involved in 
the daily operation and management of Linghe Media, the directorship 
held by Mr. Sun Zhonghuai in Linghe Media would not give rise to 
any material competition issue under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed in this section, during the Reporting Period and as 
at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors of the Group or 
any of their respective associates had interests in any other companies 
that may, directly or indirectly, compete with our business and would 
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

 

2024
12 31

 

(1)

(2)
8.10

8.10
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between the Group and its related parties constitute 
related party transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules. The 
related parties involved in the related party transactions of the Group 
during the Reporting Period are as follows:

  

Names Relationship with the Company

  

Shanghai Tencent Pictures and Culture Communication Co., Ltd. An entity related to a Shareholder

Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems Company Limited An entity related to a Shareholder

Shanghai Tencent Penguin Film Culture Co., Ltd. An entity related to a Shareholder

Tencent Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. An entity related to a Shareholder

Tencent Music Entertainment Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. An entity related to a Shareholder

Shenzhen Tencent Culture Media Co., Ltd. An entity related to a Shareholder

Beijing Jinjiang Original Networking Technology Co., Ltd. An entity related to a Shareholder

China Literature Limited (“China Literature”) An entity related to a Shareholder

China Literature Limited
  

33
A

Please refer to note 33 to the consolidated financial statements for 
details of the above related party transactions. Save as disclosed in this 
annual report, during the Reporting Period, the Group had no related 
party transactions which are required to be disclosed in accordance 
with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation 
to the disclosure of related party transactions.

Controlling Shareholder’s Interests in Contracts of Significance
During the Reporting Period, no contract of significance or contract of 
significance for the provision of services has been entered into among 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders 
during the Reporting Period.
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Continuing Connected Transactions
During the Reporting Period, the continuing connected transactions 
of the Group are as follows:

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
1.	 Drama Series and Movies Copyrights Licensing

The Group entered into a drama series and movies copyrights 
licensing framework agreement (the “Drama Series and Movies 
Copyrights Licensing Framework Agreement”) with Shenzhen 
Tencent Computer Systems Company Limited (“Tencent 
Computer”, for itself and on behalf of the group members 
of Tencent and its subsidiaries (“Tencent Group”), excluding 
China Literature Limited, TME Group and their subsidiaries (the 
“Represented Tencent Group”)) on 21 July 2022, pursuant 
to which the Group shall license the online broadcasting rights 
and distribution rights of its original drama series and movies to 
the Represented Tencent Group, and the Represented Tencent 
Group shall pay licensing fees to the Group. Separate underlying 
agreements will be entered into between the parties to set out the 
detailed terms, including details of the drama series and movies, 
term of license, scope of license and exclusivity, broadcasting 
schedule, licensing fee and milestone payment schedules, based 
on the principles and within the parameters provided under the 
Drama Series and Movies Copyrights Licensing Framework 
Agreement. The initial term of the Drama Series and Movies 
Copyrights Licensing Framework Agreement has commenced on 
the Listing Date and expired on 31 December 2024.

Tencent Computer is a subsidiary of Tencent, the parent company 
of our substantial Shareholder Tencent Mobility. Therefore, 
Tencent Computer is a connected person of the Company, and 
the Drama Series and Movies Copyrights Licensing Framework 
Agreement entered into between the Company and it constitutes 
the continuing connected transaction of the Company.

Pursuant to the Prospectus, the proposed annual caps for the 
transaction amount to be incurred by the Group from licensing 
drama series and movies to the Represented Tencent Group for 
the years 2022 to 2024 are RMB432.5 million, RMB1,273.6 million 
and RMB1,322.7 million, respectively.

1. 

2022 7 21

2024 12 31

Tencent Mobility

2022 2024

43,250 127,360
132,270
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In 2024, the Group incurred transaction amount (exclusive of tax) 
of RMB85.869 million (2023: RMB703.379 million) from licensing 
drama series and movies copyrights to the Represented Tencent 
Group, which was related to the licensing fee for the original drama 
series launched during the year, and such amount was within the 
proposed annual cap.

2.	 Advertisements Production Services
The Group entered into a customized creative advertisement 
production framework agreement (the “Advertisements 
Production Services Framework Agreement”) with Tencent 
Computer (the Represented Tencent Group) on 21 July 2022. The 
Group shall produce customized creative advertisements for its 
drama series to be broadcast on the Represented Tencent Group’s 
platforms, in exchange for production service fees payable by the 
Represented Tencent Group. More specifically, the Represented 
Tencent Group entrusts the Group in creating advertisements 
script, providing the scenes and props, shooting, producing and 
delivering the advertisements film upon their request. Separate 
underlying agreements will be entered into between the parties 
to set out the detailed terms, including content and details of 
the customized creative advertisements, broadcasting schedule, 
production service fee and milestone payment schedules based 
on the principles and within the parameters provided under the 
Advertisements Production Services Framework Agreement. The 
definitive terms of each of such underlying agreements will be 
determined on a case-by-case basis and on fair and reasonable 
basis after arm’s-length negotiation between the parties. The 
initial term of the Advertisements Production Services Framework 
Agreement has commenced on the Listing Date and expired on 
31 December 2024.

Tencent Computer is a subsidiary of Tencent, the parent company 
of our substantial Shareholder Tencent Mobility. Therefore, 
Tencent Computer is a connected person of the Company, and 
the Advertisements Production Services Framework Agreement 
entered into between the Company and it constitutes the continuing 
connected transaction of the Company.

2024

8,586.9 2023
70,337.9

2. 

2022 7 21

2024 12 31

Tencent Mobility
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Pursuant to the Prospectus, the proposed annual caps for 
the transaction amount to be incurred by the Group from the 
production of the customized creative advertisements for the 
Represented Tencent Group for the years 2022 to 2024 are 
RMB3.4 million, RMB8.0 million and RMB9.1 million, respectively.

In 2024, the Group incurred transaction amount (exclusive of tax) 
of RMB0 (2023: RMB2.245 million) from the production of the 
customized creative advertisements for the Represented Tencent 
Group.

3.	 Music Copyrights Licensing
The Group entered into a music copyrights licensing framework 
agreement (the “Music Copyrights Licensing Framework 
Agreement”) with Tencent Music Entertainment Technology 
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“TME Shenzhen”) on 29 September 2021, 
pursuant to which the Group shall license TME Shenzhen and/or 
its associates, among others, to promote, distribute, sublicense 
and broadcast certain music used in the original drama series for 
which the Group owns copyrights, and TME Shenzhen and/or 
its associates shall pay to the Company a prepaid licensing fee 
and royalties. The initial term of the Music Copyrights Licensing 
Framework Agreement has commenced on the Listing Date and 
expired on 31 December 2024.

TME Shenzhen is a subsidiary of Tencent Music Entertainment 
Group, which is a subsidiary of Tencent. Tencent is the parent 
company of our substantial Shareholder, Tencent Mobility. 
Therefore, TME Shenzhen is a connected person of the Company, 
and the Music Copyrights Licensing Framework Agreement entered 
into between the Company and it constitutes the continuing 
connected transaction of the Company.

Pursuant to the Prospectus, the proposed annual caps for the 
transaction amount to be incurred by the Group from licensing 
the music played in the Group’s drama series to TME Shenzhen 
and/or its associates for the years 2022 to 2024 are RMB2 million, 
RMB6 million and RMB6 million, respectively.

In 2024, the transaction amount (exclusive of tax) generated by 
our Group from licensing the music to TME Shenzhen is RMB0 
(2023: RMB283,000).

2022 2024

340 800
910

2024

0 2023 224.5

3. 

2021
9 29
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2024
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4.	 Literature Work Copyright Purchase
The Group entered into a literature work copyright purchase 
framework agreement (the “Literature Work Copyright Purchase 
Framework Agreement”) with Beijing Jinjiang Original Networking 
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jinjiang Original”) on 2 September 2022, 
which is effective from 2 September 2022 to 31 August 2024. 
Jinjiang Original and/or Jinjiang Members and associates agreed 
to licence all or part of the adaptation rights of their specific 
literature works to the Group for the production, promotion and 
distribution of drama series and other commercial works, and the 
Group agreed to pay copyright licensing fees to Jinjiang Original 
and/or Jinjiang Members and associates.

On 27 March 2024, the Group entered into the renewed literature 
work copyright purchase framework agreement (the “New 
Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement”) 
with Jinjiang Original, which shall be effective from 1 September 
2024 to 31 December 2025. The Group agreed to purchase the 
copyright of the literature works from Jinjiang Original and/or 
Jinjiang Members and associates, who agreed to, as the copyright 
owner, legal right owner or legal agent of the literature works, grant 
to the Group all or part of the adaptation rights of the literature 
works (including the adaptation rights of live-action drama series, 
animation adaptation rights and game adaptation rights) for the 
production, promotion and distribution of drama series (including 
but not limited to movies and TV series) and other commercial 
works (including animations and games), and both parties may 
cooperate in the development of physical peripheral derivatives for 
the drama series produced. The Group pays copyright licensing 
fees to Jinjiang Original and/or Jinjiang Members and associates 
for the development and production of drama series, animation 
games and other commercial works with respect to the licensed 
literature works.

50% of the equity interest in Jinjiang Original is held by China 
Literature Limited, and Tencent is the controlling shareholder 
of China Literature Limited and also the parent company of our 
substantial Shareholder Tencent Mobility. Therefore, Jinjiang 
Original is a connected person of the Company, and the Literature 
Work Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement entered into 
between the Company and it constitutes the continuing connected 
transaction of the Company.

4. 

2022 9 2
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Pursuant to the Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework 
Agreement, the proposed cap amounts of the copyright royalty fees 
payable by the Group to Jinjiang Original and/or its subsidiaries 
and consolidated affiliated entities and associates for the period 
from 2 September to 31 December 2022, the year 2023 and the 
period from 1 January to 31 August 2024 are RMB40.0 million, 
RMB40.0 million and RMB30.0 million, respectively. Considering 
the Company’s strategic adjustment on the purchase of literature 
works, the expansion of purchasing channels and the increase in 
the proportion of movies and drama series produced based on its 
own original works, the Board resolved to revise the annual caps 
for the year 2023 and the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 August 
2024 under the Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework 
Agreement (the “Revised Annual Caps”) on 9 August 2023, 
which was RMB17.0 million and RMB27.0 million respectively.

The Revised Annual Caps are determined based on the Group’s 
latest strategy on the purchase of literature works and business 
arrangement, the expected number and price of cooperation 
copyrights between the Group and Jinjiang Original, the validity 
period of the relevant copyrights, and the popularity and 
commercial potential of the literature works and their authors. 
Save as the above Revised Annual Caps, other terms under 
the Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement 
remain unchanged.

For the period from 1 January 2024 and 31 August 2024, the 
transaction amount of RMB2.023 million (2023: RMB5.279 million) 
arising from purchasing all or part of the adaptation rights of the 
specific literature works from Jinjiang Original and/or its subsidiaries 
and consolidated affiliated entities and associates under the 
Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement was 
copyright licence extension fees for purchased literature works, 
which is within the proposed annual caps.

Pursuant to the New Literature Work Copyright Purchase 
Framework Agreement, the proposed cap amounts of the copyright 
royalty fees payable by the Group to Jinjiang Original and/or its 
subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities and associates for 
the period from 1 September 2024 to 31 December 2024 and the 
year 2025 are RMB18 million and RMB35 million, respectively.

2022 9 2 12 31 2023
2024 1 1 8 31
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2023
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2023 2024
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For the period from 1 September 2024 to 31 December 2024, 
the transaction amount arising from purchasing all or part of the 
adaptation rights of the specific literature works from Jinjiang 
Original and/or its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities 
and associates by the Group under the New Literature Work 
Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement was RMB0 (2023: 
not applicable).

5.	 Literature Work Copyright Purchase
The Group entered into a copyright purchase framework agreement 
(the “Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement”) with China 
Literature on 9 August 2023, which is effective from 9 August 2023 
to 31 December 2025. China Literature and/or China Literature 
Members agreed to licence all or part of the adaptation rights of 
their specific literature works and comic works to the Group for the 
production, promotion and distribution of drama series (including 
but not limited to movies and TV series) and other commercial 
works (including but not limited to animations and games), and the 
Group agreed to pay copyright licensing fees to China Literature 
and/or China Literature Members.

Tencent is the controlling shareholder of China Literature and 
also the parent company of our substantial Shareholder Tencent 
Mobility. Therefore, China Literature is a connected person of the 
Company, and the Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework 
Agreement entered into between the Company and it constitutes 
the continuing connected transaction of the Company.

Pursuant to the Copyright Purchase Framework Agreement, the 
proposed cap amounts of the copyright licensing fees payable 
by the Group to China Literature and/or its subsidiaries and 
consolidated affiliated entities and associates for the period from 
9 August to 31 December 2023, the Year 2024 and the year 
2025 are RMB30.0 million, RMB20.0 million and RMB30.0 million, 
respectively.

In 2024, the transaction amount from purchasing all or part of 
the adaptation rights of the specific literature works and comic 
works from China Literature and/or China Literature Members by 
the Group was RMB0 (2023: nil).

2024 9 1 2024 12 31

0
2023
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6.	 Literature Work Copyright Purchase
The Group entered into the Literature Work Copyright Purchase 
Framework Agreement with Tencent Computer (Represented 
Tencent Group) on 19 July 2024, which is effective from 19 July 
2024 to 31 December 2025. The Group agreed to purchase 
the copyrights of specific literature works from the Represented 
Tencent Group, who agreed to, as the owner or legal right owner 
of the literature works, grant to the Group part of the adaptation 
rights of such literature works (limited to the adaptation rights of 
liveaction drama series, etc.) for the production, promotion and 
distribution of live-action drama series, and both parties may 
carry out investment promotion (such as advertisement insertion), 
business development cooperation and peripheral derivatives 
development cooperation in relation to the production of the 
live-action drama series. The Group will pay copyright licensing 
fees to the Represented Tencent Group for the development, 
production and operation of live-action drama series and other 
commercialisation collaborations with respect to the licensed 
literature works.

Tencent Computer is a subsidiary of Tencent, which is the parent 
company of Tencent Mobility, a substantial shareholder of the 
Company. Therefore, Tencent Computer is a connected person 
of the Company, and the Literature Work Copyright Purchase 
Framework Agreement entered into between the Company and it 
constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the Company.

Pursuant to the Literature Work Copyright Purchase Framework 
Agreement, the proposed cap amounts of the copyright royalty 
fees payable by the Group to Tencent Group for the period from 
19 July 2024 to 31 December 2024 and the year 2025 are RMB4.5 
million and RMB5.5 million, respectively.

For the period from 19 July 2024 to 31 December 2024, the 
transaction amount of  RMB4.5 million (2023: not applicable) paid 
by the Group to Represented Tencent Group for development, 
production and operation of live-action drama series and other 
commercialisation collaborations with respect to the licensed 
literature works under the Literature Work Copyright Purchase 
Framework Agreement was copyright licence fees for purchased 
literature works, which is within the proposed annual caps.

6. 
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Please refer to note 33 to the consolidated financial statements for 
details of the above continuing connected transactions.

During the Reporting Period, the independent non-executive Directors 
have reviewed the above non-exempt continuing connected transactions 
and confirmed that these transactions have been:

(i)	 entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 
Group;

(ii)	 conducted on normal commercial terms or better to the Group, 
or, from the perspective of the Group, on terms no less favorable 
than the terms available to or from independent third parties; and

(iii)	 conducted in accordance with the terms of the respective 
agreements that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 
the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the Group’s 
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s 
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong 
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing 
the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, other related party transactions as disclosed 
in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute 
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as 
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The matters constituting 
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules were in compliance with the disclosure requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the 
transactions set out above. Save as disclosed in this annual report, there 
were no connected transactions or continuing connected transactions 
which are required to be disclosed by the Company in accordance 
with the provisions concerning the disclosure of connected transactions 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

33
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CONTRACT ARRANGEMENTS
Shanghai Ninghe Culture and Media Co., Ltd. (“WFOE”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into a series of 
contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”). The 
Company operates the radio and television program production and film 
distribution business in the PRC mainly through Shanghai Linmon and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities”), which hold the necessary licenses and permits, including 
the Radio and TV Programs Production and Operation Permit, the TV 
Drama Production Permit and the Film Distribution Operation Permit.

Business Activities of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
The principal activities of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities are the 
production of radio and television programs (including drama series), 
film production, promotion and distribution, etc.

Importance of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and Their 
Financial Contribution to the Group
Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has obtained 
effective control over, and received all the economic benefits generated 
by, the businesses operated by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. 
Through these Contractual Arrangements, the results of operations, 
assets and liabilities, and cash flows of the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities are consolidated into the Company’s financial statements. The 
following table sets forth the financial contribution of the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities to the Group during the Reporting Period:

  

    

For the year ended  
31 December 2024 As of 31 December 2024

2024  
12 31

2024  
12 31

Revenue
Percentage of 
total revenue Total assets

Percentage of 
total assets

RMB’000
  

      

Consolidated Affiliated Entities 624,015 95.0% 1,481,227 46.0%
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As at the date of this annual report, the following simplified diagram 
illustrates the flow of economic benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities to the Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:

Shanghai Ninghe Culture and 
Media Co., Ltd.

100%
Offshore

Onshore

Management and
Consultation Services

Service Fees

Shanghai Linmon

The Company
(1)

Registered Shareholders (1)

100%

Various subsidiaries and minority 
shareholding investment held

(1) 

Notes:

“  ”denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest.

“  ”denotes contractual relationship.

(1)	 As at the date of this annual report, the registered shareholders of Shanghai 
Linmon (the “Registered Shareholders”) include Mr. Su, Ms. Chen, Ms. 
Xu and Mr. Zhou (collectively, the “Individual Registered Shareholders”), 
Shanghai Guanhong, Shanghai Guanhan, Shanghai Guoshi, Shanghai Guoyun 
and Shenzhen Tencent Industry Investment Fund Co., Ltd.
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Summary of the Material Terms under the Contractual 
Arrangements
A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the 
Contractual Arrangements is set out below:

Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
Pursuant to an exclusive consultation and service agreement between 
Shanghai Linmon and the WFOE (the “Exclusive Consultation and 
Service Agreement”), Shanghai Linmon agreed to engage the WFOE 
as its exclusive provider of technical support, consultation and other 
services.

Under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement, the service fee 
shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit of the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities, after deduction of any accumulated losses, 
operating costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory contributions 
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in preceding financial year(s). 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the WFOE considers the determination 
mechanism of service fees in operation no longer applicable due 
to certain reasons, the WFOE may propose in writing to adjust the 
determination mechanism of service fees, and Shanghai Linmon shall 
negotiate with the WFOE within 10 working days upon receipt of the 
WFOE’s written request for adjustment of the determination mechanism 
of service fees. If Shanghai Linmon does not reply within 10 working 
days after receiving the above adjustment request, Shanghai Linmon 
shall be deemed to have acquiesced to such adjustment. The WFOE 
shall calculate the service fees on a quarterly basis.

In addition, absent from the prior written consent of the WFOE, during 
the term of the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement, with 
respect to the services subject to the Exclusive Consultation and 
Service Agreement, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not 
directly or indirectly accept any consultation or services provided 
by any third party. The WFOE may assign its rights and obligations 
under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement to a third 
party as it deems necessary, and the WFOE is only required to notify 
Shanghai Linmon in writing about such assignment and no approval 
from Shanghai Linmon is required for such assignment.

The Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement also provides that 
the WFOE has the exclusive proprietary rights to and interests in 
any and all intellectual property rights developed or created by the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the performance of the Exclusive 
Consultation and Service Agreement.

10

10
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The validity period of the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement 
shall start from the execution date and it shall remain effective for 10 
years unless terminated by the WFOE. Upon expiration, the Exclusive 
Consultation and Service Agreement shall be automatically extended 
for 10 years unless the WFOE indicates otherwise.

Exclusive Option Agreement
Pursuant to the exclusive equity transfer option agreement entered into 
among Shanghai Linmon, the WFOE and the Registered Shareholders 
(the “Exclusive Option Agreement”), the WFOE has been granted an 
irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right to require the Registered 
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in Shanghai 
Linmon to the WFOE and/or any third party designated by it, in whole 
or in part, at any time and from time to time.

The validity period of the Exclusive Option Agreement shall start from 
the execution date and it shall remain effective for 10 years. Upon 
expiration, the Exclusive Option Agreement shall be automatically 
extended for 10 years unless the WFOE indicates otherwise. If the 
term of operation (including any extensions) of the WFOE or Shanghai 
Linmon expires during the above term or is otherwise terminated, the 
Exclusive Option Agreement shall be terminated upon such party’s 
termination.

Equity Pledge Agreement
Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement entered into among the 
WFOE, Shanghai Linmon and each of the Registered Shareholders (the 
“Equity Pledge Agreement”), the Registered Shareholders agreed to 
pledge all their respective equity interests in Shanghai Linmon, including 
any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a security 
interest to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations by the 
pledgor and/or Shanghai Linmon and all compensation liability to the 
pledgee arising from the invalidation, revocation or termination of the 
Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement, the Exclusive Option 
Agreement and/or the Proxy Agreement.

10
10

10
10
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The pledge in respect of Shanghai Linmon takes effect upon the 
completion of change of registration with the relevant market regulation 
administration and shall remain valid (1) until all the contractual 
obligations of the Registered Shareholders and Shanghai Linmon under 
the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed and 
all the outstanding debts of the Registered Shareholders and Shanghai 
Linmon under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully 
paid, or (2) until such time as the WFOE and/or the designated person 
decide to purchase all the equity interests in Shanghai Linmon held 
by the Registered Shareholders pursuant to the Exclusive Option 
Agreement as permitted under the laws of the PRC, and the equity 
interests in Shanghai Linmon have been legally transferred to the 
WFOE and/or the designated person, and the WFOE and/or the 
designated person can legally engage in the business of Shanghai 
Linmon, whichever is earlier.

In the event of default (as defined in the Equity Pledge Agreement), the 
WFOE shall give a notice of default to the shareholders of Shanghai 
Linmon upon exercise of the pledge rights. The WFOE may exercise 
its right to dispose of the pledge at the same time as the notice of 
default is given or at any time after the notice of default is given. The 
WFOE shall have the right to sell or otherwise dispose of the pledged 
shares under the Equity Pledge Agreement in accordance with the 
legal procedures. If the WFOE decides to exercise the pledge right, 
the Registered Shareholders of Shanghai Linmon undertake to transfer 
all their shareholders’ rights to the WFOE. In addition, the WFOE has 
the right to discount all or part of the shares under this agreement in 
accordance with legal procedures, or to receive priority compensation 
from the price of auction and sale of the equity interest under the 
Equity Pledge Agreement.

The equity pledge registrations under the Equity Pledge Agreement as 
required by the relevant laws and regulations have been completed 
in accordance with the Equity Pledge Agreement and the PRC laws 
and regulations.

1

2
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Proxy Agreement
Pursuant to the proxy agreement entered into among the WFOE, 
Shanghai Linmon and the Registered Shareholders (collectively, the 
“Proxy Agreement”), each of the Registered Shareholders irrevocably 
appointed the persons designated by the WFOE (including but not 
limited to the WFOE’s parent company, Directors of the Company and 
their successors and liquidators replacing these Directors but excluding 
those who are non-independent or who may give rise to conflict of 
interests) as its attorneys-in-fact to exercise on its behalf any and all 
right that it has in respect of its equity interests in Shanghai Linmon, 
including but not limited to:

•	 to attend general meetings of Shanghai Linmon and to execute 
relevant written resolutions on behalf of such Registered 
Shareholder;

•	 to exercise any rights granted to Registered Shareholders pursuant 
to Shanghai Linmon’s articles of association or relevant laws and 
regulations, including but not limited to the shareholders’ voting 
rights, the right to sell or transfer or pledge or dispose of all or any 
part of the shareholders’ equity interests of Shanghai Linmon, and 
approve Shanghai Linmon filing the documents with the relevant 
company registry; and

•	 to act as the authorized representative of the Registered 
Shareholders of Shanghai Linmon, designate and appoint the 
legal representative, chairman, directors, supervisors, general 
manager and other senior managers of Shanghai Linmon. The 
Registered Shareholders of Shanghai Linmon further agree that 
they will replace the designated authorized representative at any 
time pursuant to the requirement of WFOE.

• 

• 

• 
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Spouse Undertakings
The spouse of the individual Registered Shareholders, where applicable, 
has signed undertakings (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) to 
the effect that, among others, the shares of Shanghai Linmon held 
and to be held by the corresponding individual Registered Shareholder 
do not fall within the scope of communal properties, and he or she 
waives any rights or interests that may be granted to him or her under 
the applicable laws, and he or she undertakes not to claim such rights 
or interests.

The spouse of the individual Registered Shareholder, where applicable, 
has also consented to the Exclusive Consultation and Service 
Agreement, the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge 
Agreement and the Proxy Agreement. Our PRC legal advisor is of 
the view that (i) the above arrangements provide protection to the 
Group even in the event of death or divorce of any relevant individual 
Registered Shareholder; and (ii) the death or divorce of such individual 
Registered Shareholder would not affect the validity of the Contractual 
Arrangements, and the WFOE can still enforce its right under each of 
the agreements under the Contractual Arrangements against individual 
Registered Shareholder.

Development in the Legislation on Foreign Investment
The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (

) (the “FIL”) was adopted at the Second Session of the 
Thirteenth National People’s Congress of the PRC on 15 March 2019 
and came into force on 1 January 2020. The FIL replaced the former 
foreign investment legal foundation in the PRC consisting of three 
laws: the Sino-Foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law, the Sino-
Foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law and the Wholly 
Foreign-Invested Enterprise Law. On 26 December 2019, the State 
Council released the Implementation Rules to the Foreign Investment 
Law of the PRC ( ) (the “FIL 
Implementing Regulations”), which took effect on 1 January 2020. 
For details of the FIL and the FIL Implementing Regulations, see 
“Regulatory Overview – Regulations in Relation to Foreign Investment” 
in the Prospectus.

(i)
(ii)

2019 3 15
2020 1 1

2019 12 26

2020 1 1
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Conducting operations through contractual arrangements has been 
adopted by many PRC-based companies, including us, to obtain and 
maintain necessary licenses and permits in the industries that are 
currently subject to foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions in 
the PRC. The FIL, unlike the discussion draft of the proposed Foreign 
Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China (

( ) ) published in January 2015 by the 
MOFCOM, does not explicitly prohibit or restrict a foreign investor to rely 
on contractual arrangements to control the majority of its business that 
is subject to foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions in the PRC. 
Notwithstanding the above, the FIL stipulates that foreign investment 
includes “investment by foreign investors through such other methods 
under laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the 
State Council.” There is the possibility that future laws, administrative 
regulations or provisions prescribed by the State Council may regard 
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment, at which 
time it will be uncertain whether the Contractual Arrangements would 
be deemed in violation of foreign investment laws and regulations and 
how the Contractual Arrangements would then be handled by relevant 
PRC authorities. Therefore, there is no guarantee that the Contractual 
Arrangements, and the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, 
will not be materially and adversely affected in the future due to changes 
in the PRC Laws. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to our Contractual 
Arrangements” in the Prospectus for further details of risks relating to 
the FIL. In any event, we will take reasonable steps in good faith to 
seek compliance with the FIL.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements
The Contractual Arrangements involve certain risks, including:

(1)	 If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the 
structure for operating our businesses in the PRC do not comply 
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and 
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we could 
be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification 
of the Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of our 
interest in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

2015 1

(1) 
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(2)	 Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing 
operational control as direct ownership. Shanghai Linmon and 
its shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under the 
Contractual Arrangements;

(3)	 We may lose the ability to use, or otherwise benefit from, 
the licenses, approvals and assets held by the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities that are material to our business operations if 
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities declare bankruptcy or become 
subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

(4)	 The shareholders of Shanghai Linmon may have conflicts of 
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our 
business;

(5)	 If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership of Shanghai 
Linmon, the ownership transfer may subject us to certain limitations 
and substantial costs; and

(6)	 Our Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the 
PRC tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes 
could substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the 
value of investment.

For details of risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements, please 
refer to “Risk Factors – Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” 
in the Prospectus.

Compliance with the Contractual Arrangements
The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective 
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual 
Arrangements and the compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 
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(1)	 major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance 
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries 
from government authorities will be submitted to the Board, if 
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

(2)	 the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance 
with the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

(3)	 the Company will disclose the overall performance of and 
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in the annual 
reports; and

(4)	 the Company will engage external legal advisors or other 
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review 
the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and review 
the legal compliance of the WFOE and Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the 
Contractual Arrangements.

Material Change
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/
or the circumstances under which they were adopted during the 
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Contractual Arrangements has 
been unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of 
the Contractual Arrangements has been removed. As of 31 December 
2024, the Company had not encountered interference or encumbrance 
from any PRC governing bodies in operating its businesses through its 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waivers Granted by the Stock 
Exchange
The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements 
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under the 
Listing Rules as each of the Registered Shareholders is a connected 
person of the Group.

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

2024
12 31
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are 
of the view that the Contractual Arrangements and the transactions 
contemplated therein are fundamental to the Group’s legal structure 
and business, that such transactions have been and will be entered into 
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, are on normal 
commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the 
Group and its Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, notwithstanding 
that the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements 
and any new transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of 
existing transactions, contracts and agreements to be entered into, 
among others, by any of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities and any 
member of the Group technically constitute the continuing connected 
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Directors 
consider that, given that the Group is placed in a special situation 
in relation to the connected transactions rules under the Contractual 
Arrangements, it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, 
and would add unnecessary administrative costs to the Group if such 
transactions are subject to strict compliance with the requirements set 
out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among others, 
the annual reporting requirement under Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of 
the Listing Rules, the announcement requirement under Rule 14A.35 of 
the Listing Rules, the independent shareholders’ approval requirement 
under Rule 14A.36 of the Listing Rules and the requirement of limiting 
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less under 
Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules.

In respect of the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has applied 
to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted to the 
Company, a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the announcement 
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing 
Rules; (ii) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the transaction 
under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing 
Rules; and (iii) the requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual 
Arrangements to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing 
Rules, for so long as our Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

For further details of the waivers granted by the Stock Exchange, please 
refer to “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

14A

14A
14A.49 14A.71

14A.35
14A.36

14A.52

(i) 14A.105
14A

(ii) 14A.53
(iii)

14A.52
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Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive Directors and 
the Auditor
During the Reporting Period, the independent non-executive Directors 
reviewed the above Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(i)	 the transactions carried out during such year have been entered 
into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual 
Arrangements;

(ii)	 no dividends have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise 
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Company; and

(iii)	 any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between 
the Company and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 were fair and reasonable, or 
advantageous, so far as the Shareholders are concerned and in 
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the transactions 
carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) 
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) 
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the 
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter 
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing 
connected transactions in connection with Contractual Agreements for 
the year ended 31 December 2024, in particular, confirming that the 
transactions have received the approval of the Directors, have been 
entered into in accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements, 
and that no dividends or other distributions have been made by the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of their equity interests 
which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the 
Group.

The Board confirms that it has received the auditor’s confirmation on 
the matters stated in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 2024 12
31

3000

740

2024 12 31

14A.56
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DONATIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Group made donations in a total 
amount of RMB305,000 to Beijing Lead Future Foundation, to Beijing 
Film Academy as prize for the Student Director Award and to Shanghai 
Yingjiu Agriculture Technology Development Co., Ltd. for poverty 
alleviation purpose.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of the borrowings of the Company and the Group as at 31 
December 2024 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

DISBURSEMENTS OF LOANS
During the Reporting Period, the Group provided convertible loans 
of RMB4 million to Zhejiang Dongyang Zhaosen Culture Media Co., 
Ltd.  (“Dongyang Zhaosen”), an 
associate of the Company, with a maturity of five years at an interest 
rate of 2.8% per annum, which will be due in 2029. The Group has 
the option to convert such debt into the equity of Dongyang Zhaosen 
when it is due or demand Dongyang Zhaosen to repay the principal 
and interest thereon.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATION 
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have any disclosure 
obligations pursuant to Rules 13.13, 13.14, 13.15, 13.15A, 13.17, 
13.18, 13.19, 13.20, 13.21, 13.22 and 14A.62  of the Listing Rules.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not involve in any 
material litigation or arbitration. So far as the Directors are aware, no 
such litigation or claim of material importance is pending or threatened 
against the Company.

30.5

2024 12 31
25

400 2.8% 5
2029

 

13.13
13.14 13.15 13.15A

13.17 13.18 13.19
13.20 13.21 13.22 14A.62
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual 
report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force 
for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether made by the Company 
or otherwise) or any director of an associated company (if made by 
the Company). The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associated 
companies or joint ventures by the Company during the Reporting 
Period.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING 
PERIOD
Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” for details on the events after the end of the Reporting Period 
of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), 
together with the Board and the external auditor of the Company, 
has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the 
Group and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 
for the year 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance practices. Details of the corporate governance practices 
adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 95 to 128 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information publicly available to the Company and 
to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, the 
Company has maintained sufficient public float as approved by the 
Stock Exchange and as permitted under the Listing Rules throughout 
the period from the Reporting Period to the date of this annual report.

 

2024

95 128
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AUDITOR
Ernst & Young (“EY”) has resigned as the auditor of the Company 
with effect from 6 December 2024. Moore CPA Limited (“Moore”) 
was appointed to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation 
of EY with effect from 6 December 2024 and will hold office until 
the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company. 
Moore has audited the accompanying financial statements, which were 
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

Moore shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and a resolution regarding 
the appointment plan for the auditor for the year 2025 will be proposed 
at the AGM.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not change its auditor since 
the Listing Date.

By order of the Board
Linmon Media Limited

Su Xiao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025

2024 12 6

2024 12 6

2025

2025 3 25
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of 
the Company during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance to safeguard the interests of its Shareholders and to 
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted 
the requirements and code provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. 
During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all 
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the 
deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman 
of the Board and chief executive officer should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual. The roles of chairman of the 
Board and president of the Company (similar to the position of the chief 
executive officer as defined in the Listing Rules taking responsibility 
for the overall management of the Company) are currently performed 
by Mr. Su. In view of Mr. Su’s substantial contributions to the Group 
since our establishment and his extensive experience, we consider 
that having Mr. Su acting as both our chairman of the Board and 
president will provide strong and consistent leadership to the Group 
and facilitate the efficient execution of our business strategies. We 
consider it appropriate and beneficial to our business development 
and prospects that Mr. Su continues to act as both our chairman of 
the Board and president, and therefore currently do not propose to 
separate the functions of chairman of the Board and president.

C1

C.2.1

C.2.1
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While this would constitute a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of 
the CG Code, the Board believes that this structure will not impair the 
balance of power and authority between the Board and the management 
of the Company, given that: (i) there are sufficient checks and balances 
in the Board, as a decision to be made by the Board requires approval 
by at least a majority of Directors, and the Board comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors, which is in compliance with the 
requirement under the Listing Rules; (ii) Mr. Su and the other Directors 
are aware of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, 
which require, among other things, that they act for the benefits of 
the Company and in the best interests of the Company and will make 
decisions for the Group accordingly; and (iii) the Board comprises 
experienced and high calibre individuals who meet regularly to discuss 
issues affecting the operations of the Company, thus ensuring the 
balance of power and authority of the Board. Moreover, the overall 
strategies and other key business, financial, and operational policies of 
the Group are made collectively after thorough discussions among all 
of the Board members and senior management members. The Board 
will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance 
structure of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the 
roles of chairman of the Board and president is necessary.

The Group will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance 
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises a total of 
8 Directors, being 3 executive Directors, 2 non-executive Directors 
and 3 independent non-executive Directors. The biographies of the 
Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior 
Management” of this annual report. More than half of the Directors 
are non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors 
who are independent of the senior management. The non-executive 
Directors and independent non-executive Directors have extensive 
commercial, legal and financial experience and can make professional 
contributions to the business development of the Group. The Board is 
responsible and has general powers for the management and operation 
of the Company.

C.2.1

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

8 3
2 3
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Responsibility
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, 
overseeing the Group’s strategic decisions and monitoring its 
business and performance. The Board has delegated the authority 
and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the 
Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular 
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three 
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the remuneration 
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination 
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board 
Committees”). The Board has delegated to these Board Committees 
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests 
of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect 
of legal action against the Directors and will review the insurance 
coverage on an annual basis.

Board Composition
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 3 executive 
Directors, 2 non-executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive 
Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Su Xiao
Ms. Chen Fei
Ms. Xu Xiao’ou

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Wang Juan
Mr. Zhang Rong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Long Yu
Mr. Jiang Changjian
Ms. Tang Songlian

3 2
3
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2025 1 24
2024 12 10

3.09D

3.10(1)
3.10(2)

3.10A

3.13

The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed 
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report. More than 
half of the Directors are non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors who are independent of the senior management. 
The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors 
have extensive commercial, legal and financial experience and can 
make professional contributions to the business development of the 
Group. The Board is responsible and has general powers for the 
management and operation of the Company.

Ms. Wang Juan was appointed as a non-executive Director on 24 
January 2025. Ms. Wang Juan has obtained legal advice referred to 
in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 10 December 2024, and she 
has also confirmed that she understands her obligations as a director 
of a listed issuer. 

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements 
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the 
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors 
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing 
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules 
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors 
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his/
her independence pursuant to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of 
the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of them independent.
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• 

• 

• 

• 

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board 
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the objective, nomination and 
appointment, measurable objectives, etc. for achieving diversity on the 
Board. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a 
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level, including 
gender diversity, as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s 
competitive advantage and enhancing its ability to attract, retain and 
motivate employees from the widest possible pool of available talent. 
Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the policy aims to set out 
the basic principles to be followed to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives 
necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain 
high standards of corporate governance. The Nomination Committee 
and the Board will consider a number of aspects, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional 
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, 
when reviewing and evaluating suitable candidates for directorship of 
the Company. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination 
Committee is responsible for reviewing the policy, developing and 
reviewing measurable objectives for implementing the policy and 
monitoring the progress on achieving these measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review this policy and the measurable 
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of 
the Board, and where necessary, agree on the measurable objectives 
for achieving diversity, including gender diversity, on the Board and 
recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Company’s current 
measurable goals for Board Diversity Policy include:

•	 compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules for 
composition of the Board;

•	 appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors 
that account for at least one-third in number of the Board members;

•	 at least one independent non-executive Director has appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or financial management 
or legal or other professional qualifications; and

•	 appointment of at least one Director of a different gender to avoid 
gender monolithic on the Board.
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1

2

3

62.5%

2024 12
31

70.9%

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee and the Board 
have reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board 
Diversity Policy and confirmed that the measurable goals for Board 
Diversity Policy above have been fulfilled. The current Board structure 
is appropriate, and the diversity policy takes effect and will maintain 
effective and be optimised in future. In particular, 1) the Company has 
appointed three independent non-executive Directors which account for 
one-third in total number of the Board members during the Reporting 
Period, and this percentage will be maintained by the Company in 
future; 2) Ms. Tang Songlian, currently an independent non-executive 
Director, is a Chinese Certified Public Accountant with professional 
qualifications in accounting and financial management; 3) the current 
Board of the Company comprises three male Directors and five female 
Directors, with female Directors accounting for 62.5%, hence the Board 
gender diversity is achieved. As for specific measures, the Company will 
pay timely attention to the tenure of Directors and candidates and give 
priority to candidates of same gender and with relevant professional 
qualifications in the process of retirement/resignation and re-election 
of Directors.

The Group maintains a diversified composition of employees, and 
achieves workforce diversity (including the management team) in 
terms of gender, age, ethnicity, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills and knowledge, etc. For details of 
gender diversity of all employees, including senior management, as 
at 31 December 2024, the Group’s female employees (including 
senior management) accounted for approximately 70.9% of the total 
number of employees, maintaining employee gender diversity. The 
Group aims to maintain the current percentage of female employees 
(including senior management) in the total number of employees in 
future. To achieve this goal, the Group will offer ample opportunities 
for occupational development of female employees in the full process 
of recruitment.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the 
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual 
report, none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including 
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with 
any other Director or chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have 
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge 
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective 
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on 
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee.
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3.13

2024

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the 
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations 
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the 
time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their 
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Independence of the Board
The Company has adopted a Board independence mechanism 
(the “Board Independence Mechanism”) which sets out that the 
independent non-executive Directors shall represent more than one-
third of the Board and the independent non-executive Directors will 
be appointed to the Board Committees as far as possible to ensure 
independent perspectives are obtained. The Nomination Committee will 
assess annually the independence of the candidate nominated as a new 
independent non-executive Director prior to his/her appointment and 
the continuing independence of the existing long-serving independent 
non-executive Directors. Each independent non-executive Director 
is also required to inform the Company as soon as practicable his/
her personal changes that may have a material impact on his/her 
independence. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is 
required to provide a written confirmation to the Company regularly 
confirming his/her independence and whether he/she and his/her 
immediate family members meet the requirements set out in Rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules. All Directors are entitled to seek further 
information and documents from the management on the matters to 
be discussed at the Board meetings, as well as assistance from the 
company secretary of the Company and, if necessary, independent 
advice from external professional advisers. All Directors are encouraged 
to express their views openly at the Board/Board Committee meetings.

The Board will annually review the effectiveness of the Board 
Independence Mechanism. The Group has reviewed the implementation 
and effectiveness of the Board Independence Mechanism in 2024, and 
confirmed its effectiveness.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development
Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction 
training and information to ensure that he/she has a proper 
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well 
as his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and 
regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide 
Directors with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing 
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time 
to time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the 
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board 
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The 
company secretary of the Company from time to time updates and 
provides written training materials relating to the roles, functions and 
duties of a Director.

According to the information provided by the Directors, a summary 
of training received by the Directors during the Reporting Period is 
as follows:

   

Nature of continuous 
professional 

development 
programs

Name of Director
            

Mr. Su Xiao A B C D

Ms. Chen Fei A B C D

Ms. Xu Xiao’ou A B C D

Mr. Zhou Yuan (Resigned on 24 January 2025) 2025 1 24 A B C D

Mr. Sun Zhonghuai (Resigned on 24 January 2025) 2025 1 24 A B D

Ms. Wang Juan (Appointed on 24 January 2025) 2025 1 24 N/A 

Mr. Zhang Rong A B C D

Ms. Long Yu A B D

Mr. Jiang Changjian A D

Ms. Tang Songlian C D
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A  

B  

C  

D  

C.2.1

Notes:

A:	 attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums and/or briefings

B:	 giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

C:	 attending trainings provided by lawyers and trainings related to the Company’s 
business

D:	 reading materials on various topics, including corporate governance, Directors’ 
duties, the Listing Rules and other relevant laws

CHAIRMAN AND PRESIDENT
Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman of 
the Board and chief executive officer should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual.

The roles of Chairman and President of the Company are currently 
performed by Mr. Su Xiao. He is responsible for the Group’s overall 
strategic planning, financial and talent management and government 
public affairs. In view of Mr. Su’s significant contribution to the Group 
since its establishment and his extensive experience, the Board 
considers that it may provide strong and consistent leadership to 
the Group and facilitate the effective execution of the Company’s 
business strategies that Mr. Su serves as both the chairman and 
the president, and it is appropriate and beneficial to the Company’s 
business development and prospects that Mr. Su acts as both our 
chairman and president. The Board has sufficient balance of power and 
comprises experienced and high-caliber individuals who meet regularly 
to discuss issues affecting the operations of the Company. Therefore, 
the Board believes that this arrangement will not impair the balance of 
power and authority between the Board and the management.
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2022
7 21 2025 1 24

2022 7 21

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with 
the Company and the Company has entered into an appointment letter 
with each of the non-executive Directors and each of the independent 
non-executive Directors. The service contracts of each of the executive 
Directors are for an initial term of three years with effect from the date 
of the Prospectus and until the third annual general meeting of the 
Company since the Listing Date (whichever ends earlier).

Each of Mr. Zhang Rong and Ms. Wang Juan, both non-executive 
Directors, has entered into an appointment letter with the Company 
on 21 July 2022 and 24 January 2025, respectively. The initial term for 
the appointment letter of Mr. Zhang Rong is one year from the date 
on which his  appointment is approved by the shareholders’ general 
meeting or until the first annual general meeting of the Company since 
the Listing Date, whichever ends earlier, and shall be automatically 
renewed for one year; and Ms. Wang Juan will hold office for an initial 
term of three years until the commencement of the first annual general 
meeting of the Company after her appointment and shall then be eligible 
for re-election at that meeting. She is subject to retirement by rotation 
and re-election in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Articles of 
Association of the Company as amended from time to time, provided 
that the terms under such appointment letters shall not exceed three 
years in aggregate. Such appointment letters could be terminated in 
accordance with the terms and conditions thereof or by either party 
giving to the other not less than one month’s prior notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into 
an appointment letter with the Company on 21 July 2022. The initial 
term for their appointment letters shall be three years from the date 
of the Prospectus, until terminated in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the 
other not less than one month’s prior notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to 
have a service contract with the Company other than contracts expiring 
or determinable by the employer within one year without the payment 
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting 
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their 
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to 
but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall 
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. 
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. The Company may 
fill the vacant office at the general meeting at which any Directors 
retire. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board shall have 
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as 
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, 
provided that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed the 
maximum number determined from time to time by the Shareholders in 
general meeting or specified in the Articles of Association. Any Director 
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to 
the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general 
meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be 
eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed under this Article shall 
not be taken into account in determining the Directors or the number 
of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal 
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination 
Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board 
on the appointment of Directors and Board succession.
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BOARD MEETINGS
The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, 
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. 
Notices of not less than 14 days are given for all regular Board 
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and 
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman will also hold meetings 
with the independent non-executive Directors annually without the 
presence of other Directors.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notices will 
be given by the Company. The notice of meeting includes agenda and 
accompanying meeting papers, which is dispatched to the Directors or 
Board Committee members at least three days before the meetings to 
ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the papers and 
be adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee 
members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the 
matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views 
known to the chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings 
should be kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all 
Directors for their information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are recorded 
in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the 
Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns 
raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board 
Committee meeting are sent to the Directors for their consideration 
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. 
Minutes of Board meetings are open for inspection by all Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board held seven Board meetings, and 
two general meetings were held, being the annual general meeting on 
20 June 2024 and the extraordinary general meeting on 3 September 
2024. The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the 
Shareholders’ general meetings is set out in the table below:

7
2 2024 6 20

2024 9 3

    

Number of meetings  
attended/eligible to attend

Board meetings
Shareholders’ 

general meetings

Directors
    

Mr. Su Xiao 7/7 2/2

Ms. Chen Fei 7/7 0/2

Ms. Xu Xiao’ou 7/7 0/2

Mr. Zhou Yuan  
(Resigned on 24 January 2025)

 
2025 1 24 7/7 2/2

Ms. Wang Juan  
(Appointed on 24 January 2025)

 
2025 1 24 N/A N/A 

Mr. Sun Zhonghuai  
(Resigned on 24 January 2025)

 
2025 1 24 6/7 0/2

Mr. Zhang Rong 7/7 0/2

Ms. Long Yu 6/7 0/2

Mr. Jiang Changjian 7/7 0/2

Ms. Tang Songlian 7/7 0/2
    

 
1

Note:	Some Directors were unable to attend 1 Board meeting in person due to his/
her personal work arrangement, instead, he/she attended the meeting by 
proxy, and the attendance by proxy was not counted for the attendance rate. 
None of the Directors of the Company was absent from the Board meetings 
or failed to attend the Board meetings in person for two consecutive times. 
Some Directors were unable to attend the shareholders’ general meeting due 
to other business arrangements.
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13.51B(1)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 
BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct for 
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries 
of all Directors, each Director has confirmed that he/she has complied 
with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the 
Reporting Period.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company, 
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies 
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, significant 
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), 
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant 
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to 
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the 
Company’s expense. They are also encouraged to consult with the 
Company’s senior management independently.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group 
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and 
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has 
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions 
entered into by the management.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that there 
is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) 
of the Listing Rules.
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(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

C.2.1

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the 
collective responsibility of all Directors and delegates the Audit 
Committee corporate governance functions including:

(a)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b)	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors and senior management;

(c)	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance 
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board 
and report to the Board on relevant matters; and

(e)	 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee and the Board 
reviewed and supervised the Company’s policy and practice in 
compliance with laws and regulatory regulations; reviewed and 
supervised the training and continuing professional development 
of Directors and senior management, which comply with relevant 
provisions; reviewed and supervised code of conduct and compliance 
handbook applicable to employees and Directors; reviewed the 
Company’s compliance with all applicable code provisions as set out 
in the CG Code and confirmed that the Company has complied with 
all applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for 
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises one non-executive Director, 
namely Mr. Zhang Rong and two independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Ms. Tang Songlian and Ms. Long Yu. Ms. Tang Songlian is the 
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

1.	 to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to 
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of 
the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor, and to address any issues 
in relation to the resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

2.	 to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements, annual 
reports and accounts, half-yearly reports and, if prepared for 
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial 
reporting judgments contained therein;

3.	 to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk 
management and internal control systems; and

4.	 to perform the Company’s corporate governance functions, etc.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on 
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for inspection.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held four meetings. 
The attendance record of the meetings is set out in the table below:

4

   

Number of 
meetings 

attended/eligible 
to attend

Directors
 

   

Ms. Tang Songlian 4/4

Mr. Zhang Rong 4/4

Ms. Long Yu 3/4
   

2023 12 31

2023 12 31
2023 12 31

2023 12 31
2024 6 30

At the above meetings, the Audit Committee mainly reviewed the 
Group’s financial statements and annual results announcement for the 
year ended 31 December 2023, the reports from the auditor of the 
Group in relation to the audit of the annual results of the Group for the 
year ended 31 December 2023, the continuing connected transactions 
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, and the internal 
control reports of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023; 
reviewed the financial statements, interim results announcement and 
interim internal control report  for the six months ended 30 June 
2024; considered the issues such as the appointment of Moore CPA 
Limited as the auditor of the Company and made recommendations 
to the Board.
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1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee currently comprises one executive Director, 
namely Mr. Su Xiao, and two independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Ms. Long Yu and Mr. Jiang Changjian. Mr. Su Xiao is the 
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1.	 to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board 
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy;

2.	 to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and 
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection 
of individuals nominated for directorships;

3.	 to assess the independence of independent non-executive 
Directors;

4.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, 
in particular the chairman and the chief executive; and

5.	 to review the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives 
for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may be adopted 
by the Board from time to time and the progress on achieving the 
objectives, and to make disclosure of its progress and its review 
results in the annual report of the Company annually.
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The Nomination Committee of the Company has adopted a nomination 
policy which sets out procedures of nomination, selection criteria and 
recommendation on Board candidates, etc. In assessing nominated 
candidates, the Nomination Committee will assess candidates 
or incumbents based on integrity, experience, skills and the time 
commitment and efforts in the performance of their duties, as well 
as whether they can promote Board diversity. Relevant details are 
set out in the policy. Below is an overview of the key procedures for 
nominating Directors and making recommendations:

i.	 If the secretary of the Nomination Committee convenes a meeting 
of the Nomination Committee, it may invite Board members, 
Shareholders, independent professional third-party institutions 
to nominate candidates, if any, for Nomination Committee’s 
consideration before the meeting;

ii.	 The Nomination Committee deliberates on candidates in 
accordance with the selection criteria. Meetings of the Nomination 
Committee may be attended in person and held by telephone or 
by video conferencing electronically. Members of the Nomination 
Committee may attend the meetings by telephone or any similar 
communication device through which all attendants can hear each 
other;

iii.	 The Nomination Committee may make nominations to the Board 
for its consideration and recommendation upon consideration of 
the candidates;

iv.	 The Board may make nominations to the general meeting for 
its consideration and recommendation upon consideration of 
candidates. In order to provide information on the candidates 
nominated by the Board for election at the general meeting, a 
circular will be distributed/dispatched to the Shareholders which 
will contain the name, curriculum vitae (including qualifications 
and relevant experience), independence and any other relevant 
information of the recommended candidate as required by 
applicable laws, regulations and statutes;

v.	 After the approval at the general meeting, the candidate will 
officially become a Director of the Company.

i. 

ii. 

iii. 

iv. 

v. 
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The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put 
to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are 
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company 
for inspection.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held two 
meetings. The attendance record of the meetings is set out in the 
table below:

2

   

Number of 
meetings 

attended/eligible 
to attend

Directors
 

   

Mr. Su Xiao 2/2

Ms. Long Yu 2/2

Mr. Jiang Changjian 2/2
   

At the above meeting, the Nomination Committee mainly reviewed the 
structure, composition and diversity of the Board, reviewed the Board 
Diversity Policy of the Company, reviewed the independence of the 
independent non-executive Directors, confirmed and recommended 
the retiring Directors to the Board for re-election, proposed the 
appointment of non-executive Director and other issues and made 
recommendations to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive 
Director, namely Mr. Su Xiao, and two independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Ms. Long Yu and Mr. Jiang Changjian. Ms. Long 
Yu is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior 
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent 
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2.	 to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals 
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of individual executive Directors and senior 
management. This should include benefits in kind, pension rights 
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable 
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4.	 to review and approve matters relating to the share scheme and 
make recommendations to the Board; and

5.	 to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of 
non-executive Directors.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are 
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company 
for inspection.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held three 
meetings. The attendance record of the meetings is set out in the 
table below:

3

   

Number of 
meetings 

attended/eligible 
to attend

Directors
 

   

Ms. Long Yu 3/3

Mr. Su Xiao 3/3

Mr. Jiang Changjian 3/3
   

2023

2024

2024 2024

10

At the above meetings, the Remuneration Committee mainly considered 
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of 
the Company for the year 2023; reviewed and made recommendations 
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration 
of the Directors and senior management for the year 2024; reviewed the 
implementation of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company; 
discussed and proposed to the Board about the adoption of the 
2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the 
remuneration package for the newly appointed non-executive Director 
and other issues, and made recommendations to the Board.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Group is reviewed by the 
Remuneration Committee, which will, upon approval of the Board, be 
submitted to the general meeting to delegate the Board the fixing of 
such remuneration. In determining the remuneration of the Directors, 
the Group takes into account various factors such as experience, 
responsibilities and time commitment of the Directors.

Details of the remuneration by band of the non-director and non-chief 
executive officer employees are set out in note 10 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT
During the Reporting Period, the remuneration of the Board members 
of the Company included fees, salaries, bonuses, allowances and 
benefits in kind, and pension scheme contributions. In particular, the 
remuneration of the independent non-executive Directors comprised 
fees, the remuneration of the executive Directors comprised salaries, 
bonuses, allowances, benefits in kind and pension scheme contributions, 
and non-executive Directors do not receive any remuneration from the 
Company. Details of the remuneration of the members of the Board 
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 9 to the consolidated 
financial statements in this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, members of the senior management of the 
Company are all members of the Board, whose remuneration is set out 
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL 
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial 
statements of the Company for the year 2024 which give a true and fair 
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s 
results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and 
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an 
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which 
are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting responsibilities 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in 
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 129 to 135 of this annual 
report.

 

9

9

 
 
 

2024

129 135
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for formulating risk management (including 
environmental, social and governance risk) and internal control 
measures and monitoring the key risks faced by the Company. It is 
also responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control and risk management systems on an annual basis. The Audit 
Committee, on behalf of the Board, formally reviewed the establishment 
and implementation of the risk management and internal control  
systems by the management on a semi-annual basis and examined 
their effectiveness, and made recommendations to the Board.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems, the Company has established a dynamic risk 
management process, and continuously improved its risk management 
capabilities under the supervision and guidance of the Board in light 
of the actual situation of the Company to ensure the sustainable 
development of the Company.

Risk Management Process
The Company has initially established a dynamic risk management 
process:

1.	 Each business and functional department identifies, evaluates and 
responds to risk issues in the course of operation from the bottom 
up, and synchronizes the results with the relevant personnel of 
internal control;

2.	 Through collecting, summarizing and analyzing the relevant internal 
control system, the relevant personnel of internal control will 
output the corresponding internal control system to assist the 
orderly operation of the business, identify major risks, review and 
evaluate the response to risks, and report to the Board and the 
Audit Committee; and

3.	 The Audit Committee is entrusted by the Board to evaluate and 
determine the response strategies and responsible departments 
for major risks, and to promote the implementation of the 
management from the top down.

1. 

2. 

3. 
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Potential Risks of the Company
Macroeconomic risks
Some of the Company’s business income is closely related to the 
macroeconomic situation and the consumption environment. At 
present, the macroeconomic and industry environment shows a high 
degree of complexity and uncertainty, and the economic downward 
pressure is relatively high, which may lead to a decline in the purchasing 
willingness and payment ability of target customers. This may have a 
negative impact on the Company’s results.

The Company flexibly and reasonably adjusted its business development 
strategies according to the macroeconomic environment to cope with 
the uncertainties brought by the macroeconomic environment, and 
will continue to develop the second curve and even other business 
development opportunities.

Public relations emergency risk and crisis management
The film and television industry relies on market recognition and brand 
reputation. As business forms become increasingly complex, if the 
Company’s brand and reputation are damaged or it fails to respond to 
unexpected negative public opinions in a timely and effective manner, 
the Company’s financial condition and results of operations may be 
affected. In response to public relation events, the Company responded 
in a timely manner and conveyed comprehensive and true information 
to the public based on the principle of openness and transparency. 
In response to crisis, the Company has established corresponding 
handling mechanisms to follow up the development of the situation in 
time, assess risks, make prompt decisions, and make corresponding 
adjustments to the business to minimize the impact on the Company.
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Investment management risk
The Company invested in other companies to enhance market 
competitiveness and profitability. With the expansion of investment 
scale and diversification of investment fields, the Company has put 
forward higher requirements for investment strategy formulation, 
capital management, pre-investment evaluation and post-investment 
management. At present, we have strengthened the tracking of our 
investee companies, regularly collected information on the progress of 
operation and financial side, and conducted special in-depth researches 
from time to time based on the identification of investment risks. The 
Company has strengthened the identification of potential investment 
risks, discussed the suggestions on the operation improvement of 
the investee companies at the operation level, updated the post-
investment strategy in time at the investment level, strengthened the 
management and monitoring of the investee companies from the 
financial perspective, and fully guaranteed the investment value.

Risk of talent loss
The operation and development of the Company relies on management 
personnel and key talents. High turnover rate of talents in the 
industry and insufficient talent reserve of the Company may affect the 
establishment and development of the Company’s business in related 
fields. Therefore, the Company attaches great importance to building 
a healthy and positive corporate culture and working environment, 
pays attention to the personal development and growth of employees, 
and provides employees with competitive remuneration and long-term 
incentive plans. The Company also promotes the development of 
talent pool through improving employment standards, continuously 
completing internal talent training, talent succession planning and other 
mechanisms, so as to build a stable and sustainable team, improve 
organizational efficiency, and help the Company achieve business 
goals.
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Information security risk
In view of the Company’s business attributes and products, 
confidentiality management is our top priority. In particular, for the weak 
links in the production chain, we must continue to optimize, improve 
and manage them well. Starting from the discovery of problems, we 
sorted out the issues and pain points related to confidentiality in the 
Company’s operation and project production process. Led by relevant 
internal control personnel, we sorted out, analyzed and discussed the 
problems one by one to form feasible solutions or preventive measures. 
At the same time, the Company also regularly conducted information 
security training and publicity to enhance employees’ awareness of 
protecting sensitive information.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control
The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the risk 
management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis. 
The Company has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the 
risk management and internal control systems of the Group for the 
year 2024. The review included: (i) reviewing the implementation 
and findings in relation to the risk management and internal control 
systems submitted by the internal control team; (ii) discussing with 
senior management the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems and the work of the internal audit function, 
which included resource adequacy, staff qualifications and experience, 
training plans and budgets for the Company’s accounting, internal 
audit and financial reporting functions; (iii) assessing the scope and 
quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management 
and internal control systems; (iv) reviewing the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function to ensure coordination within the Group and 
between the Company’s internal and external auditors, and to ensure 
that the internal audit function was adequately resourced and had an 
appropriate standing within the Group; and (v) advising the Board on 
the scope and quality of ongoing monitoring of the risk management 
and internal control systems. Such systems are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, 
and to safeguard the assets of the Group and the interests of the 
Company’s Shareholders. Such systems can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

2024

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)
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• 
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• 

In order to solve serious internal control monitoring deficiencies (if 
any), the internal control team will comprehensively adopt various 
approaches such as spot checks, inquiries, stock taking, calculation 
and analysis in the process of internal control, so as to obtain sufficient 
and accurate internal control data and gain insight into whether there are 
serious internal control monitoring deficiencies. If any risk of monitoring 
deficiencies is identified, a special report will be made to the Audit 
Committee and the Board in a timely manner, and measures will be 
discussed and formulated to correct the monitoring deficiencies and 
avoid the recurrence of such risks. Once the relevant control measures 
are in place, the internal control team will follow up the implementation 
of the measures, and promptly make relevant rectifications if any 
deviations are identified, and periodically review the effectiveness of 
such rectifications on monitoring deficiencies after such measures are 
implemented.

The Group’s procedures and internal control measures over the 
handling and dissemination of inside information include:

•	 strictly complying with the requirements of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules and publishing inside 
information announcements as soon as it becomes aware of the 
same and/or makes such decisions, unless such inside information 
falls within the “safe harbor provisions” under the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance;

•	 formulating and publicizing the Code on Dealings in Securities 
by Relevant Employees, which clearly stipulates that if the 
relevant employee is an insider of inside information (/sensitive 
information) or learns of the relevant inside information (/sensitive 
information) from any means, the relevant employee shall not 
use the information to conduct transactions or disclose such 
information to public before the relevant information is publicly 
disclosed, including the relevant employee’s spouse or any minor 
children or their agents, etc.;

•	 procedures for communicating with the Group’s stakeholders 
(including Shareholders, potential investors, securities analysts, 
etc.) in a manner consistent with the requirements of the Listing 
Rules.
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Based on the foregoing, the Audit Committee was not aware of any 
major issues that might adversely affect the effectiveness and adequacy 
of the Company’s risk management and internal controls.

Through various important work such as monitoring internal audit and 
establishing internal control system, we continue to enhance the scope 
and efforts of internal audit, while continuously optimizing internal 
control and enhancing the three-line defense of risk management. 
By firmly upholding internal risk management, we continue to foster 
consolidation and upgrading to put our strategies into practice. We 
believe that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the 
Company has provided reasonable assurance that the risk management 
and internal control systems complied with during the Reporting Period, 
which can avoid the occurrence of any significant risks. The Board 
has confirmed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal 
control systems and has not identified any major risks, and is of the 
view that the risk management and internal control of the Company 
are effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the 
auditor of the Company to the Company during the Reporting Period 
is approximately as follows, of which the non-audit service fees in 
nature were insignificant:

   

Amount  
(RMB’000)

Types of services
 

( )
   

Audit services 1,500

Non-audit services 176

Total 1,676
   



124

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

Corporate Governance Report

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Ms. Li Zhen (“Ms. Li”) was appointed as a joint company secretary of 
the Company on 24 September 2021.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance 
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company 
also engaged Ms. Ng Ka Man (“Ms. Ng”) , the senior manager of TMF 
Hong Kong Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as another 
joint company secretary of the Company to assist Ms. Li in discharging 
her duties as a company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Li is the primary contact person of Ms. Ng at the Company. In 
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Ms. Li and 
Ms. Ng has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 
training during the year 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE
With the mission and vision of “shaping content by people, and 
shaping people with content”, as well as the corporate culture of 
“user experience, focus on quality, win-win cooperation, integrity”, 
the Group adheres to long-termism, insisting on the idea that “people 
are the core of content, from the beginning to the end”. Since its 
establishment, the Group has always adhered to its mission, gathered 
people who shared the same dreams and ingenuity, attracted, touched 
and inspired our audience with original content with exciting plots and 
vivid characters, to record the times and life, influence the society and 
soothe the hearts.

The Group has always practiced corporate culture in the process 
of business development, and continuously built and consolidated 
a healthy and positive corporate culture. For details about the 
Company’s corporate culture practice, please refer to the Group’s 
2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

2021 9 24

3.29 2024
15

2024



125

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

Corporate Governance Report

 

(www.linmon.cn)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND 
INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders 
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding 
of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company 
also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure 
of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make 
informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity 
for Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The 
chairman of the Company will attend the annual general meeting to 
answer Shareholders’ questions.

To promote effective communication, the Company developed and 
implemented a Shareholders’ Communication Policy which aims at 
establishing a two-way relationship and communication between the 
Company and the Shareholders, which covers purposes, general 
policies, way of communication, Shareholders privacy and other 
aspects. The Company maintains a website at www.linmon.cn, where 
up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and 
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices 
and other information are available for public access.

The Company welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and 
the public. Shareholders may inform the Company of their suggestions 
through communication methods on the Company’s website, investor 
relations email or attending our general meetings, and express their 
suggestions to the Board and senior management. Upon receipt 
of relevant suggestions, the Company will conduct relevant internal 
discussions, and provide appropriate responses and execute the same 
to the extent permitted by relevant laws and regulations.
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The Board is responsible for overseeing the implementation of the 
Shareholders’ Communication Policy, ensuring that the Group has 
established and maintained an effective Shareholders’ communication 
policy and reviewing the effectiveness of the Shareholders’ 
communication policy on a regular basis.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the Company’s 
Shareholders’ Communication Policy for 2024: 1) the Company has 
set up company website at www.linmon.cn and an “Investor Relations” 
segment. All documents submitted to the Stock Exchange during the 
Reporting Period have been published on the Company’s website 
for Shareholders’ inspection; 2) the Company has set up an investor 
relations mailbox at IR@linmon.cn, by which investors may contact us 
through communication methods on the Company’s website, investor 
relations email and attending our general meetings. The Company will 
reply or communicate accordingly based on questions or enquiries 
received; 3) during the Reporting Period, the Company held two 
general meetings at which resolutions were made on relevant issues, 
and Shareholders could personally attend the general meeting or 
appoint proxy to attend and vote on their behalf, at which Shareholders 
could consult information on the Company’s operations and financial 
conditions and the Board and senior management personnel could 
answer Shareholders’ questions at their utmost; 4) during the Reporting 
Period, the Company strictly protected the privacy of Shareholders and 
did not disclose Shareholders’ information without their consent unless 
required by law. In summary, the Board confirmed the effectiveness of 
implementing the current Shareholders’ Communication Policy.

2024
1 www.

linmon.cn)

2
IR@linmon.cn

3

4
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ir@linmon.cn

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution 
will be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the 
election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll 
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the 
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner 
after each general meeting.

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board and put forward 
proposals at general meetings. Shareholders may also at any time send 
their written enquiries by post together with their contact details, such 
as postal address or email address, to the Company’s head office 
at 31/F, Suhe Centre, No. 99 North Shanxi Road, Jiang’an District, 
Shanghai, PRC, or by email to the Company at ir@linmon.cn.

Dividend Policy
In accordance with the Articles of Association, the laws of the Cayman 
Islands and other applicable laws and regulations, the Board may 
consider the relevant proposal for distribution of dividends and then 
propose to the general meeting for consideration. The proposal will 
be effective after it has been considered and approved at the general 
meeting. The Board will consider the dividend proposal after taking 
into account the Group’s operations and earnings, future investment 
plans, capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions 
and other factors.
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ir@linmon.cn

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward 
Proposals
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board may convene an 
extraordinary general meeting in due course. One or more Shareholders 
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, in aggregate, not less 
than one-tenth of the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the 
capital of the Company may request the convening of an extraordinary 
general meeting and/or add new resolutions to the agenda of the 
meeting. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the 
secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting 
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified 
in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after 
the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the 
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) 
himself (themselves) may convene such meeting in the same manner.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the 
Company to the Board could email their enquiries to the Company 
at ir@linmon.cn.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change in the Articles of Association of the Company 
during the Reporting Period.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Linmon Media Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Linmon 
Media Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 136 to 260, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

136 260

2024 12 31

2024
12 31
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Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, 
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters (continued)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identif ied the impairment assessment of trade 
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance 
of the balances to the Group’s consolidated financial 
position and the involvement of significant management 
judgment in assessing the expected credit losses (“ECL”) 
of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.

 

As detailed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the management assess the ECL of trade 
receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired 
individually, while the remaining are assessed based on 
provision matrix which takes into account the financial 
background, financial condition, historical payment 
pattern and aging profile of a group of trade receivables 
with similar credit risk characteristics.

34

When assessing the provision for ECL, signif icant 
management judgment and estimation are involved in 
estimating customer payment behaviour, probability of 
default, and reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net carrying 
amounts of trade receivables amounted to RMB272 
mil l ion (2023: RMB558 mil l ion) and a provision for 
ECL amounted to RMB6.6 million was recognised for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: reversal of 
provision for ECL of RMB3.2 million).

2024 12 31  
272 2023 558

2024 12 31
6.6 2023 3.2

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment 
assessment of trade receivables included:

• Understanding and evaluating the management’s 
process and control over the collection and the 
assessment of ECL of trade receivables;

 

• Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness 
of the management’s assessment by reference 
to the financial background, financial condition, 
historical payment records and aging profile of 
trade receivables;

 

• Testing the accuracy of ageing profile of trade 
receivables; and

 

• Evaluating the reasonableness and appropriateness 
of the management judgment in determining the 
provision for ECL with the assistance of our internal 
valuation specialists.
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Other matter
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor, who expressed 
an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 March 2024.

Other information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors and those charged with 
governance for the consolidated financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of directors and those charged with 
governance for the consolidated financial statements 
(continued)
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

134

• 

• 
 

• 

• 

 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements (continued)
•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

•	 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed 
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats 
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Kong Shao Fung
Practising Certificate Number: P07996

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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2024 2023

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

REVENUE 6 657,008 1,221,752

Cost of sales (548,485) (740,154)
     

Gross profit 108,523 481,598

Other income and gains 6 68,492 121,661

Selling and distribution expenses (158,694) (92,960)

Administrative expenses (214,793) (206,243)

Other expenses (15,854) (16,316)

Finance costs 7 (2,877) (2,443)

Share of profits and losses of associates 1,786 201
     

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 (213,417) 285,498

Income tax credit/(expense) 11 23,364 (71,870)
     

(LOSS)/PROFIT AND TOTAL 
COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR

 

(190,053) 213,628
     

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (189,144) 213,628

Non-controlling interests (909) –
     

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

 

Basic (RMB yuan) 13 (0.52) 0.59
     

Diluted (RMB yuan) 13 (0.52) 0.59
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2024 2023

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 14 18,948 16,613

Right-of-use assets 15(a) 48,418 68,349

Other intangible assets 16 1,403 3,113

Investments in associates 17 21,463 23,845

Deferred tax assets 27 92,124 67,508

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss

 
21 51,559 54,183

Prepayments, other receivables and other 
assets

 
20 67,241 68,586

Time deposits 22 56,000 –
     

Total non-current assets 357,156 302,197
     

CURRENT ASSETS

Film and drama series rights 18 690,925 471,032

Trade and notes receivables 19 282,422 597,258

Prepayments, other receivables and  
other assets

 
20 242,564 217,018

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss

 
21 550,519 674,787

Time deposits 22 – 583,376

Restricted cash 22 7,987 5,667

Cash and cash equivalents 22 1,086,280 716,171
     

Total current assets 2,860,697 3,265,309
     

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables 23 59,691 57,315

Other payables and accruals 24 106,010 112,758

Bank borrowing 25 60,000 –

Lease liabilities 15(b) 17,708 18,298

Contract liabilities 26 268,344 287,670

Tax payable 7,083 56,435
     

Total current liabilities 518,836 532,476
     

NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,341,861 2,732,833
     



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Cont’d)

31 December 2024
2024 12 31

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

138

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 2,699,017 3,035,030

     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 24 4,457 1,493

Contract liabilities 26 346,604 404,963

Deferred tax liabilities 27 – 2,329

Lease liabilities 15(b) 34,106 51,702
     

Total non-current liabilities 385,167 460,487
     

Net assets 2,313,850 2,574,543
     

EQUITY

Share capital 28 59 59

Share premium 4,358,691 4,437,226

Reserves 29 (2,045,991) (1,862,742)
     

Equity attributable to owners of  
the Company 2,312,759 2,574,543

Non-controlling interests 1,091 –
     

Total equity 2,313,850 2,574,543
     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 260 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Su Xiao

Director

136 260
2025 3 25
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Attributable to owners of the Company

 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Share 
award and 

option 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 28) (Note 29) (Note 30)

28 29 30
          

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 59 4,437,226 (767,804) 42,958 (1,321,969) 2,390,470 – 2,390,470

Profit and total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – 213,628 213,628 – 213,628

Share-based payments – – (43,549) 13,994 – (29,555) – (29,555)
          

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 59 4,437,226 (811,353)* 56,952* (1,108,341)* 2,574,543 – 2,574,543
          

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31  
2024 1 1 59 4,437,226 (811,353) 56,952 (1,108,341) 2,574,543 – 2,574,543

Loss and total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – (189,144) (189,144) (909) (190,053)

Capital contribution from non-controlling 
shareholders – – – – – – 2,000 2,000

Shares vested under share award scheme – 45 – (45) – – – –

Share-based payments – – – 5,940 – 5,940 – 5,940

Dividend paid – (78,580) – – – (78,580) – (78,580)
          

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 59 4,358,691 (811,353)* 62,847* (1,297,485)* 2,312,759 1,091 2,313,850
          

*	 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of 
RMB(2,045,991,000) (2023: RMB(1,862,742,000)) in the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

* 2024 12 31
(2,045,991,000) 2023

(1,862,742,000)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 12 31

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

140

 

    

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit before tax (213,417) 285,498

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,171 5,752

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 20,777 19,435

Amortisation of other intangible assets 2,228 2,694

Share of profits and losses of associates (1,786) (201)

Finance costs 2,877 2,443

Investment income from financial assets  
at FVTPL

 
(12,829) (409)

Write-down of film and drama series to net 
realisable value 26,027 74,882

Changes in fair value of financial assets  
at FVTPL

 
(3,118) (9,895)

Fair value losses on financial liabilities  
under co-investment arrangements

 
1,966 1,428

Impairment/(reversal of impairment losses)  
of trade receivables, net

 
6,648 (3,223)

Bank interest income from time deposits (3,213) (29,196)

Bank interest income from cash and  
bank balances

 
(18,668) (18,071)

Loss/(gain) on derecognition of right-of-use  
assets and lease liabilities

 
154 (50)

Loss on disposal of property,  
plant and equipment

 
527 26

Impairment of investment in an associate 4,168 14,304

Equity-settled share-based payment 5,946 12,473
    

(174,542) 357,890
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2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(Increase)/decrease in film and  
drama series rights (245,926) 141,455

Decrease/(increase) in trade and  
notes receivables

 
308,188 (238,477)

(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash (2,320) 95,563

Increase in prepayments, other receivables and  
other assets

 
(26,207) (52,108)

Increase in trade payables 2,376 16,958

Decrease in other payables and accruals  
(5,835) (24)

Decrease in contract liabilities (77,685) (2,507)
    

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (221,951) 318,750

Income tax paid (52,933) (26,056)

Interest received 23,887 66,925
    

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities  
(250,997) 359,619

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (10,033) (4,750)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

 
– 18

Additions of other intangible assets (518) (971)

Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL  
(894,550) (388,614)

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  
at FVTPL

 
1,037,389 156,648

Placement of time deposit (56,000) (1,144,531)

Withdrawal of time deposit 583,376 1,085,270
    

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 659,664 (296,930)
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2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests 2,000 –

Dividend paid (78,580) –

New bank loan raised 60,000 –

Cash paid due to modification of  
equity-settled share-based payment

 
– (43,549)

Interest paid (2,792) (2,443)

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities  
(19,186) (18,323)

Other financing activities – (24,953)
    

Net cash flows used in financing activities (38,558) (89,268)
    

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS 370,109 (26,579)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 716,171 742,750
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  
END OF YEAR

 
1,086,280 716,171

    

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS

 

Cash and bank balances 1,086,280 716,171
    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows

 
 

1,086,280 716,171
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
Linmon Media Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability 
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 10 June 2021. 
The registered office of the Company is located at Suite #4-
210, Governors Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, PO Box 
32311, Grand Cayman KY1-1209, Cayman Islands. Its shares 
were listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”) on 10 August 2022.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company’s 
subsidiaries were principally engaged in the production, distribution 
and licensing of broadcasting rights of drama series (“drama 
series”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), 
the Company does not have an immediate holding company 
or ultimate holding company. Mr. Su Xiao, Ms. Chen Fei, Ms. 
Xu Xiao’ou, Mr. Zhou Yuan, through their acting in concert 
arrangement and their respective wholly-owned offshore holding 
companies (including Lemontree Evergreen Holding Limited, 
Lemontree Harvest Investment Limited, Free Flight Limited, Faye 
Free Flight Limited, MEOO Limited, A&O Investment Limited, Z&N 
Investment Limited and Linmon Run Limited), are the controlling 
shareholders of the Company, as defined in the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing 
Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi 
(“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

1. 

2021 6 10
Suite #4-

210, Governors Square, 23 Lime Tree 
Bay Avenue, PO Box 32311, Grand 
Cayman KY1-1209, Cayman Islands

2022 8 10

Lemontree 
Evergreen Holding Limited Lemontree 
Harvest Investment Limited Free Flight 
Limited Faye Free Fl ight Limited
M E O O L i m i t e d A & O I n v e s t m e n t 
Limited Z&N Investment Limited
Linmon Run Limited
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for 
the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which 
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning 
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

16

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

1 5 2020  

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

7  
7

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year 
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions 
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the 
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2. 

2024 1 1
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2. 2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Cont’d)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 
effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments 
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of 
Financial Instruments3

9  
7

3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture1

10  
28

1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards – 
Volume 113

11 3

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

21 2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements4

18 4

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the Directors 
anticipate that the application of the new and amendments to 
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

1 
2 2025 1 1

3 2026 1 1

4 2027 1 1
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2. 

18

18

1

1

1
8

7 7
33

18
2027 1 1

18

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Cont’d)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 
effective (Cont’d)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, 
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures 
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, 
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, 
introduces new requirements to present specified categories 
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide 
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in 
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation 
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial 
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been 
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 
7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share 
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with 
early application permitted. The application of the new standard 
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or 
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group 
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3 
 

3.1 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION
3.1	 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements, information is considered material if such 
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions 
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial 
statements include applicable disclosures required by the 
Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of 
each reporting period, as explained in the material accounting 
policy information below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique.
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3 
 

3.2 

• 
• 

• 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;
•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented 
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a 
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 
upon liquidation.
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3 
 

3.2 

36

36

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee 
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are 
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of 
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared 
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for 
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under 
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially 
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s 
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the 
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes 
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, 
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is 
included within the carrying amount of the investment.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence 
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any 
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the 
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing 
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any 
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, 
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that 
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 
increases.
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3 
 

3.2 

12

• 

• 

• 

• 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Investments in associates (Cont’d)
When a group entity transacts with an associate of the 
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with 
the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate 
that are not related to the Group.

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption 
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised 
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic 
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, less any lease incentives received;

•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

•	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group 
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the 
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms 
and conditions of the lease.
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3 
 

3.2 

9

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Right-of-use assets (Cont’d)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain 
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end 
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date 
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 
its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair 
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease 
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises 
and measures the lease liability at the present value of 
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating 
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the 
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.
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3 
 

3.2 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Lease liabilities (Cont’d)
The lease payments include:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable;

•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date;

•	 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under 
residual value guarantees;

•	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

•	 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the 
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted 
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a 
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a change in 
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in market 
rental rates following a market rent review/expected 
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which 
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate.

•	 a lease contract is modified and the lease modification 
is not accounted for as a separate lease.
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3 
 

3.2 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised 
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the 
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations 
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group 
(i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case 
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the 
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal 
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an 
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation of 
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of 
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect 
of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company 
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.2 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are 
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment 
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Equipment and leasehold improvement in the course of 
construction for production, supply or administrative 
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment 
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management, including costs of testing whether the related 
assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, 
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy.

Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other 
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for 
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of 
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any 
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.2 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use 
assets, and other intangible assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets and other intangible assets with finite 
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that 
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, 
right-of-use assets, and other intangible assets are 
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate 
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit 
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate 
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of 
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Film and drama series rights
Film and completed drama series rights include the 
cost of undeveloped scripts and purchased copyrights 
or broadcasting rights of drama series, drama series in 
production and completed drama series. Film and drama 
series rights are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Net realisable value of film and drama series rights is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary business (represented 
by the estimated revenue from licensing of the broadcasting 
rights upon completion of production of the drama series), 
less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Accounting for the co-investment arrangements and co-
financing arrangements
Under the co-investment arrangements where the Group 
acts as an executive producer, the investment from the 
other co-investors is considered as the sharing of interests 
in their copyrights and broadcasting rights in drama series 
between such co-investors and the Group. If the co-investors 
bear full risk for share of interests in the copyrights and 
broadcasting rights of drama series they invested in, the 
amounts received from such co-investors are recognised as 
reductions of the Group’s costs of the drama series upon the 
receipt of the licence for distribution of drama series from the 
National Radio and Television Administration of the People’s 
Republic of China (“PRC”) (“NRTA”). The amounts paid to 
such co-investors for their share of interests of drama series 
pursuant to the co-investment arrangements are recognised 
as deductions of revenue.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Accounting for the co-investment arrangements and co-
financing arrangements (Cont’d)
When co-investors do not bear full risks for their share of 
copyrights and broadcasting rights in drama series they 
invested in under co-investment arrangements and the Group 
is considered to act as principal and is obligated to share 
the licensing revenue with such co-investors at a fixed return 
basis or at variable return based on the respective investment 
ratio, the amounts received from such co-investors are 
recognised as financial liabilities. The financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised costs (for fixed return 
investments) or fair value (for variable return investments), 
with gains or losses recognised in finance costs (for fixed 
return investments) or other expenses (for variable return 
investments), respectively.

The amount paid under co-financing arrangements to the 
third-party investors by the Group in order to obtain shares 
of legal rights (i.e. copyrights, broadcasting rights) of drama 
series is recognised as prepayments under the co-investment 
arrangements and reclassified as cost of film and drama 
series rights upon the receipt of the licence for distribution 
of drama series from the NRTA. The amounts received for 
the share of legal rights of drama series are recognised as 
revenue.

The amount paid under co-financing arrangements to third-
party investors by the Group where the Group is not entitled 
to any shares of legal rights (i.e. copyrights, broadcasting 
rights) of the drama series is recognised as financial assets. 
The financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
costs (for fixed return investments) or fair value (for variable 
return investments), with gains or losses recognised in other 
income (for fixed return investments) or revenue (for variable 
return investments), respectively.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of 
financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and 
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally 
within three months that are readily convertible into known 
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where 
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the 
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for 
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when 
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers 
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods 
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable 
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which 
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the 
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration 
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it 
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when 
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved.
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(a) 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
When the contract contains a financing component which 
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing 
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more 
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of 
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate 
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction 
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. 
When the contract contains a financing component which 
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for 
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract 
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability 
under the effective interest method. For a contract where 
the period between the payment by the customer and the 
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or 
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a 
significant financing component, using the practical expedient 
in HKFRS 15.

The Group is mainly involved in the licensing of broadcasting 
rights of drama series. Revenue is measured based on the 
fair value of consideration received or receivable specified 
in the contracts with customers.

(a)	 Licensing of broadcasting rights of original drama series
Revenue from the licensing of broadcasting rights of 
drama series is recognised at the point in time when the 
drama series are available to the licencee and the licencee 
is able to use and benefit from the licence, generally on 
delivery of the drama series after the approval from the 
NRTA or receipt of the licence for distribution of drama 
series from the provincial counterpart of the NRTA when 
a customer is provided with a right to broadcast the 
drama series as it exists at the point in time when the 
licence is granted.
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(a)  

(b) 

(i)
(ii) (iii)

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(a)	 Licensing of broadcasting rights of original drama series  

(Cont’d)
In certain agreements with online video platform 
customers, the Group is entitled to an additional bonus 
based on the actual broadcasting performance, the 
additional or renewal of membership subscriptions. 
Revenue from such additional bonus is recognised 
when the amount is determined and confirmed by the 
customers.

(b)	 Production of made-to-order drama series
The Group determines whether it is a principal or an 
agent in production of made-to-order drama series by 
evaluating the nature of its promise to the customer. The 
Group is a principal and therefore records revenue on a 
gross basis if it controls the promised services before 
transferring the services to the customer. Otherwise, 
the Group is an agent and records as revenue the 
net amount that it retains for its agency services if its 
role is to arrange to provide the services. To assess 
whether the Group controls the services before they are 
transferred to the customer, the Group has considered 
various factors, including but not limited to whether 
the Group (i) is the primary obligor in the arrangement, 
(ii) has general inventory risk, (iii) has discretion in 
establishing the selling price.

As the consideration for the production of made-to-order 
drama series is fully constrained until it is broadcasted, 
revenue from production of made-to-order drama series 
is recognised at the point in time when made-to-order 
drama series are accepted by the customers, which is 
usually when the first broadcast occurs.
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(c) 

(d) 

(a)
(b)

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(c)	 Content marketing

Content marketing involves the production of 
advertisements which are either placed in the drama 
series produced, or will be broadcasted together 
with the drama series. It also involves provision of 
marketing campaign services which usually consist of 
multiple performance obligations. Revenue from the 
production of advertisements is recognised at the point 
in time when the advertisements are accepted by the 
customers and the contract amount is determinable. 
Revenue from each performance obligation in marketing 
campaign services is recognised over time in which the 
services are rendered to or consumed by the customer 
simultaneously, or at a point in time upon the delivery 
and acceptance of the products by the customer.

(d)	 Licensing of drama elements
Revenue from the sale of licence of drama elements 
(script material, clips, music, etc.) is recognised at the 
point in time when the right to use the relevant intangible 
property in the drama series is transferred to licencee 
and the contract amount is determinable.

A sales-based royalty is recognised as revenue only 
when (or as) the later of the following events occurs: (a) 
the subsequent sale occurs; and (b) the performance 
obligation to which some or all of the sales-based 
royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially 
satisfied).
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(e) 

(f) 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(e)	 Artiste brokerage service income

Artiste brokerage service income is derived from 
entertainment events and advertising programs to the 
artistes. Revenue is recognised over the time of the 
service period.

(f)	 Sales of goods through online platform
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at a 
point in time when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the end customers, 
provided that the Group maintains no effective control 
over the goods sold.

Revenue from other sources
Under co-financing arrangements where the Group is 
not entitled to any share of legal rights (i.e. copyrights, 
broadcasting rights) of drama series, the investment amount 
paid by the Group is recognised as financial assets which are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost (for fixed return 
investments) or fair value (for variable return investments), with 
gains or losses recognised in other income (for fixed return 
investments) or revenue (for variable return investments), 
respectively.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and 
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for 
the year. Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before tax 
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does 
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected 
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will 
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax 
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and 
others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments 
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration 
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with 
a corresponding increase in equity (share award and option 
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group 
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the 
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such 
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with 
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments 
reserve.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Share-based payments (Cont’d)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Cont’d) 

When share options are exercised, the amount previously 
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When the share options are 
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at 
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-
based payments reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously 
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be 
transferred to share premium.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes
Contributions made to the government retirement benefit 
fund under defined contribution retirement plans are charged 
to profit or loss as incurred.

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as 
defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in 
Chinese Mainland are required to participate in central pension 
schemes operated by the local municipal government and 
the central government, respectively. These subsidiaries are 
required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to 
the central pension schemes. The contributions are charged 
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with 
the rules of the central pension schemes.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade 
date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at 
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts 
with customers which are initially measured in accordance 
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets 
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate) through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary 
course of business are presented as revenue.
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(i) 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at 
FVTPL.

(i)	 Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for financial assets measured subsequently 
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets 
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the 
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting 
period following the determination that the asset is no 
longer credit-impaired.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (Cont’d)
(ii)	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value 
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and 
is included in the “other income and gains” line item.

Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade 
and notes receivables, other receivables, time deposits, 
restricted cash and bank balances) which are subject to 
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of 
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents 
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting 
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade 
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss 
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised 
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of 
a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into 
account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal;

•	 credit rating;
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)
(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators 
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for 
the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 
financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s 
ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the operating results of the debtor;

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change 
in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a significant 
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 
Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.
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(iii) 
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)
(ii)	 Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group 
considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources 
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 
including the Group, in full (without taking into account 
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that 
default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 
event;

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower 
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider; or

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.
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(iv) 

(v) 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)
(iv)	 Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes 
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability 
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The 
assessment of the probability of default and loss given 
default is based on historical data and forward-looking 
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined with 
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. 
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL 
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking 
into consideration historical credit loss experience and 
forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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3.2 

9

(v) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)
(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater 
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument 
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments 
are grouped on the following basis:

•	 Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s 
other receivables are assessed as a separate 
group);

•	 Past-due status;

•	 Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

•	 External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to 
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share 
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset 
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is 
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial 
asset.

For trade receivables, the ECL of the Group is recognised 
through a loss allowance account.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Impairment of financial subject to impairment assessment 
under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may 
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and 
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)
3.2	 Material accounting policy information (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group 
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of 
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, trade payables 
and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. 

3

38

2020

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are 
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving 
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Arrangements
The production, distribution and licensing of broadcasting rights 
of drama series operations of the Group are carried out by the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities (as defined in Note 38). Under the 
scope of “Special Management Measures for Access of Foreign 
Investment (2020 Edition)”, foreign investors are prohibited to 
invest in such business.

The Group exercises control over the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities and enjoys substantially all economic benefits of the 
Consolidated Affiliated Entities through a series of contractual 
arrangements entered into between Shanghai Ninghe Culture and 
Media Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Ninghe”) and Hangzhou Unmanned 
Shutdown Culture Media Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Linmon Film 
and Television Media Co., Ltd. (the “Contractual Arrangements”).
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4. 4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)
Contractual Arrangements (Cont’d)
The Group does not have any equity interests in the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities. However, as a result of the Contractual 
Arrangements, the Company has power over the Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities, has rights to variable returns from its involvement 
with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities and is therefore considered to have control over them. 
Consequently, the Company regards the Consolidated Affiliated 
Entities as indirect subsidiaries. The Group has consolidated the 
financial position and results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities 
in the financial statements during the reporting period.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are described below.

Write-down of film and drama series rights to net realisable value
The Group’s management reviews the conditions of each types 
of film and drama series rights of the Group and makes provision 
for obsolete and slow-moving film and drama series rights items. 
The Group carries out review on a project-by-project basis at the 
end of each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete 
projects. Net realisable value of film and drama series rights is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary business, less estimated 
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates are 
based on the current market condition at the end of each reporting 
period and the historical experience of producing and distributing 
drama series of a similar nature. The Group’s management 
reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting period.
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4. 4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)
Impairment of non-financial and non-current assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment 
for all non-financial and non-current assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. All such assets 
of the Group are tested for impairment when there are indicators 
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment 
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation 
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data 
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction 
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental 
costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations 
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future 
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose 
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash flows. In view of that the Group suffered loss for 
the year, the Group performed an impairment assessment on 
the non-current assets. The Group has to exercise judgement 
and make estimation in assessing whether the carrying value of 
the asset s can be supported by the ir recoverable amount, in 
the case of value in use. The appropriate key assumptions to be 
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow 
projections and an appropriate discount rate.

In view that an associate continue under-performed and recorded 
accumulated losses, the Group performed an impairment 
assessment on the investment in the associate, which is identified 
as a single cash-generating unit.
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4. 

 

2024
12 31

4,168,000 2023
14,304,000

34

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)
Impairment of non-financial and non-current assets (other than 
goodwill)
The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations of 
the interest in the associate include annual revenue growth 
rate and terminal growth rate with reference to relevant market 
indexes, appropriate discount rate and expected gross margin. 
Where the expectation is different from the original estimates, 
the carrying value and provision for such investment in the 
associate in the period in which such estimates are changed will 
be adjusted accordingly. Based on the impairment assessment, 
the recoverable amount of the investment in the associate is lower 
than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, 
the Group recognised an impairment loss on investment in an 
associate amounting to RMB4,168,000 (2023: RMB14,304,000).

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The management assess trade receivables with significant 
balances and credit-impaired individually. For the remaining trade 
receivables, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating 
ECL on trade receivables by using a provision matrix. The ECL 
rates adopted in the provision matrix have taken into account on 
the financial background, financial condition, historical payment 
pattern and aging profile of a group of trade receivables with similar 
credit risk characteristics. When assessing the provision for ECL, 
significant management judgment and estimation are involved in 
estimating customer payment behaviour, probability of default, 
and reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that 
is available without undue cost or effort.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The 
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are 
disclosed in Note 34.
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4. 

2024 12 31
56,203,000 2023

54,526,000
27

35
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5. 

(a) 

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management 
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and 
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning 
strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 
2024 was RMB56,203,000 (2023: RMB54,526,000). Further 
details are contained in Note 27.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments
The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a 
market-based valuation technique as detailed in Note 35. The 
valuation requires the Group to determine the comparable public 
companies (peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the 
Group makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and 
size differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these 
investments as Level 3. Further details are included in Note 21.

5.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is not organised into 
business units based on their products and only has one reportable 
and operating segment. Management monitors the operating 
results of the Group’s operations as a whole for the purpose of 
making decisions about resource allocation and performance 
assessment.

Geographical information
(a)	 Revenue from external customers

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Mainland China 618,044 1,182,938

Other countries/regions 38,964 38,814
    

Total revenue 657,008 1,221,752
    

The revenue information above is based on the locations of 
the customers
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5. 

(b) 

2024 2023 12 31
10%

5.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Geographical information (Cont’d)
(b)	 All of the non-current assets of the Group were located in 

Mainland China.
Information about major customers
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 
10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the years ended 
31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out below:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Customer A A 323,821 N/A*

*

Customer B B 85,869 705,907

Customer C C 100,690 335,340
    

*	 The corresponding revenue of the customer is not disclosed as 
the revenue individually did not account for 10% or more of the 
Group’s revenue during the year.

6.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Revenue from contracts with customers 657,008 1,221,722

Revenue from other sources

Net licensing fee received from investments 
in drama series under co-financing 
arrangements

 

– 30
    

Total 657,008 1,221,752
    

* 
10%

6. 
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6. 

(i) 

6.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Types of goods or services

Licensing of broadcasting rights of 
original drama series (note (a))

(a)
591,458 1,137,951

Content marketing 29,864 62,356

Others (note (b)) (b) 35,686 21,415
    

Total 657,008 1,221,722
    

Note:

(a)	 Licensing revenue in 2024 and 2023 comprised mainly revenue 
derived from long drama series. The amount recognised as 
revenue in 2024 includes variable consideration amounted to 
RMB4,422,000 (2023: RMB261,000) that relates to performance 
obligations satisfied in previous periods.

(b)	 Others mainly consist of online platform sales of goods, artiste 
management service, licensing of drama elements and made-to-
order drama series.

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time 648,631 1,209,696

Services transferred over time 6,137 6,809

Services transferred at a point in time 2,240 5,217
    

Total 657,008 1,221,722
    

(a) 2024 2023
2024

4,422,000 2023
261,000

(b) 
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6. 

(i) 

6.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised 
in the current reporting period that were included in the 
contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Licensing of broadcasting rights of 
original drama series

 
275,237 305,596

Content marketing 8,788 21,876

Others 10,113 –
    

Total 294,138 327,472
    

(ii)	 Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is 
summarised below:

Licensing of broadcasting rights of original drama series
The performance obligation is satisfied at the point in time 
when the broadcasting rights are authorised and the customer 
can begin exhibiting or selling the drama series. Generally, 
upfront payment is received from customers for purchasing 
the broadcasting rights of relevant drama series when the 
contract is signed, and the remaining contract amount is 
generally due within three months to twelve months.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, customers do 
not have a right to return.

Content marketing
The performance obligation is satisfied at the point in time 
when the content marketing services are complete and 
accepted by the customers in accordance with the terms of 
the contract or over time in which the services are rendered to 
or consumed by the customer simultaneously. The payment 
is generally due within three months to twelve months.

(ii) 
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6. 

(ii) 

12 31

6.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)
(ii)	 Performance obligations (Cont’d)

Others
The performance obligation of online platform sales of goods 
is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and payment is mainly 
on cash and credit card settlement.

The performance obligation of revenue received from the 
artiste management service income is satisfied over the time 
of the service period and payment is generally due within 
three months to nine months.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining 
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) 
as at 31 December are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Amounts expected to be recognised as 
revenue:

Within one year 568,529 555,658

After one year 1,906,698 1,351,944
    

Total 2,475,227 1,907,602
    

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the 
remaining performance obligations which are expected to 
be recognised as revenue after one year relate to licensing of 
the broadcasting rights of original drama series and content 
marketing, of which the performance obligations are to be 
satisfied within three years. The amounts disclosed above 
do not include variable consideration which is constrained.
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6. 6.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
Other income and gains
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Government grants (note) 14,086 46,324

Additional deduction for input value-added tax – 3,615

Interest income on

– cash and bank balances 18,668 18,071

– time deposits 3,213 29,196

Investment income from financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss

– Gain on redemption of other unlisted 
investments

 
3,497 409

– Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

 
9,159 –

– Interest income on other unlisted 
investments

 
173 –

Fair value gains:

Financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss

 
3,118 9,895

Foreign exchange difference, net 16,242 13,553

Others 336 598
    

Total other income and gains 68,492 121,661
    

Note:

Government grants mainly represent incentives awarded by the local 
governments to support the Group’s operations. There were no unfulfilled 
conditions or contingencies attached to these government grants.
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7. 7.	 FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 15(b)) 15(b) 2,756 2,243

Interest on discounted notes receivables 36 200

Interest on bank borrowing 85 –
    

Total 2,877 2,443
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8. 8.	 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cost of film and drama series rights sold  
(note (a))

(a)
522,458 665,272

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,171 5,752

Depreciation of right-of-use assets  
included in:

 

– Selling and distribution expenses 188 94

– Administrative expenses 20,589 13,589

– Cost of sales – 5,752
    

20,777 19,435
    

Amortisation of other intangible assets (included 
in administrative expenses)

 
2,228 2,694

Lease payments not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities (included in 
administrative expenses)

 

2,083 2,501

Auditor’s remuneration 3,950 4,104

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ 
and chief executive’s remuneration (Note 9)):  

9

Wages and salaries 76,256 89,473

Pension scheme contributions (note (b)) (b) 7,927 6,698

Staff welfare expenses 10,106 13,316

Equity-settled share-based payments  
5,946 11,990

Termination benefits 3,750 1,236
    

Total 103,985 122,713

Employee benefit expenses included in selling 
and distribution expenses

 
(28,220) (16,406)

    

Employee benefit expenses included in 
administrative expenses 75,765 106,307
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8. 8.	 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting): (continued)

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 527 26

Foreign exchange difference, net (16,242) (13,553)

Impairment/(reversal of impairment losses) of 
trade receivables, net

 
6,648 (3,223)

Write-down of film and drama series rights to 
net realisable value (included in cost of sales)

 
26,027 74,882

Impairment of investment in an associate 
(included in other expenses)

 
4,168 14,304

Advertising expenses 110,782 50,572

Legal and professional fee 15,354 7,866

Fair value (gains)/losses, net:

Financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss (3,118) (9,895)

Financial liabilities under co-investment 
arrangements 1,966 1,428

    

Notes:

(a)	 The cost of film and drama series rights sold includes RMB3,652,000 
relating to equity-settled share-based payments during the year of 2023.

(b)	 There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as 
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

(a) 3,652,000
2023

(b) 
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9. 9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, 
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:

 

     

Group

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Fees 720 480
    

Other emoluments:

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and benefits 
in kind

 
17,917 23,303

Pension scheme contributions 342 272
    

Subtotal 18,259 23,575
    

Total 18,979 24,055
    

(a)	 Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during 
the year were as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Mr. Jiang Changjian 240 160

Ms. Long Yu 240 160

Ms. Tang Songlian 240 160
    

Total 720 480
    

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent 
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

(a) 

2023
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9. 

(b) 

9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 
(Cont’d)
(b)	 Executive directors, non-executive directors and the 

chief executive

     

       

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances and 
benefits in kind

Performance 
related bonus

Pension scheme 
contributions

Total 
remuneration

  

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

2024 2024

Executive directors:

Mr. Su Xiao – 2,767 2,178 87 5,032

Ms. Xu Xiao’ou – 2,330 1,618 87 4,035

Mr. Zhou Yuan – 2,637 1,613 81 4,331
       

Subtotal – 7,734 5,409 255 13,398

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Sun Zhonghuai – – – – –

Mr. Zhang Rong – – – – –
       

Subtotal – – – – –

Chief executive:

Ms. Chen Fei – 2,676 2,098 87 4,861
       

Total – 10,410 7,507 342 18,259
       

2023 2023

Executive directors:

Mr. Su Xiao – 2,767 3,188 68 6,023

Ms. Xu Xiao’ou – 2,637 3,066 68 5,771

Mr. Zhou Yuan – 2,637 3,053 68 5,758
       

Subtotal – 8,041 9,307 204 17,552

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Sun Zhonghuai – – – – –

Mr. Zhang Rong – – – – –
       

Subtotal – – – – –

Chief executive:

Ms. Chen Fei – 2,767 3,188 68 6,023
       

Total – 10,808 12,495 272 23,575
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9. 

(b) 

2023

2023

10. 

2023
9

2023

9.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 
(Cont’d)
(b)	 Executive directors, non-executive directors and the 

chief executive (Cont’d)
There was no arrangement under which a director or the 
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 
during the year (2023: Nil).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were 
for their services in connection with the management of 
the affairs of the Company and the Group for the year. The 
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown 
above were for the services as directors of the Company 
for the year.

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group 
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining 
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

10.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three 
directors and the chief executive (2023: three directors and the 
chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 
9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining 
one (2023: one) highest paid employee who is neither a director 
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,031 4,028

Performance related bonus 2,262 2,992

Pension scheme contributions 83 63
    

Total 6,376 7,083
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10. 10.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Cont’d)
The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive 
highest paid employee fell within the following bands as follows:

 

     

Number of employees

2024 2023

2024 2023
    

HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 7,500,000 1 –

HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 8,000,000 – 1
    

Total 1 1
    

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the 
non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employee as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation 
for loss of office (2023: Nil).

11.	 INCOME TAX
(a)	 The major components of the income tax (credit)/expense 

of the Group during the year are analysed as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Current tax:

Charge for the year 3,581 88,854

Deferred tax (Note 27) 27 (26,945) (16,984)
    

Total tax (credit)/charge for the year (23,364) 71,870
    

2023

11. 
(a) 
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11. 
(b) 

11.	 INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
(b)	 A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to (loss)/

profit before tax at the statutory rate in Mainland China and 
Hong Kong to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as 
follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(Loss)/profit before tax (213,417) 285,498
    

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% in 
Mainland China

25%
(53,354) 71,375

Effect of tax rate differences in other 
jurisdictions (554) (6,040)

Preferential tax rates enacted by local 
authority 3 (541)

Income not subject to tax (10,628) (3,297)

Expenses not deductible for to tax 5,690 6,228

Deductible differences and tax losses not 
recognised 35,379 5,153

Unrecognised tax losses utilised from  
prior periods

 
– (1,526)

Profits and losses attributable to 
associates (447) (50)

Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the 
interest expense of the Group’s PRC 
subsidiaries to be paid

10%  
547 568

    

Total tax charge for the year (23,364) 71,870
    

There is no share of tax attributable to associates which 
is included in “Share of profits and losses of associates” 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.
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11. 

16.5% 2023 16.5%

2,000,000 2023
2,000,000 8.25%

2023 8.25%
16.5% 2023 16.5%

2008 1
1

25%

[2011]112 2010
2020

2021
1 1 2025 12 31

2023 1 1 2026 12 31

11.	 INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits 
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of 
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and 
the British Virgin Islands, the Company and its subsidiaries are 
not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the 
British Virgin Islands.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% 
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in 
Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the 
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax 
rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of 
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% 
(2023: 16.5%).

The provision for PRC corporate income tax is based on the 
statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profits of certain PRC 
subsidiaries of the Group as determined in accordance with the 
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which was approved and became 
effective on 1 January 2008.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2011] No. 112, enterprises newly 
established in Xinjiang Kashgar/Horgos special economic areas 
during the periods from 2010 to 2020 can enjoy Corporate Income 
Tax (“CIT”) exemption for five years starting from the year under 
which the first revenue is generated. Horgos Linmon Film and 
Television Media Co., Ltd. (“Horgos Linmon”) and Horgos Linmon 
Black Tea Film and Television Media Co., Ltd. (“Horgos Linmon 
Black Tea”) enjoyed the benefit under the Notice of the Ministry 
of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on Income 
Tax Incentives for Newly-established Enterprises in Poverty 
Areas of Xinjiang (

). According to the Preferential Filing Record of CIT 
( ), Horgos Linmon has obtained 
the approval from the State Administration of Taxation for local 
bureau’s CIT exemption from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 
2025. Horgos Linmon Black Tea has registered with the State 
Administration of Taxation for local bureau’s CIT exemption from 
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2026.
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11. 

1,000,000
2.5%

1,000,000 3,000,000
10%

12. 

11.	 INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
Shanghai Yuri Juzeng Culture Media Co., Ltd., Shanghai Ninghe 
Culture and Media Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Wuren Guanji Culture 
and Media Co., Ltd., Shanghai Ningchuan Culture and Media 
Co., Ltd., Shanghai Linmon Kaixin Film and Television Media Co., 
Ltd., Beijing Haoyou Benling Culture Media Co., Ltd., Hangzhou 
Jirong Culture Co., Ltd., Zhejiang Dongyang Linmon Kaixin Film 
and Television Media Co., Ltd. and Guangxi Nanning Xingling 
Information Technology Co., Ltd. are qualified as small and micro 
enterprises and are subject to preferential income tax rate of 2.5% 
for the first RMB1,000,000 of assessable profits and 10% for the 
assessable profits between RMB1,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 
during the year.

12.	 DIVIDENDS
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Dividends recognised as distributions

– Final dividend of RMB21.8 cent per ordinary 
share in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2023

– 2023 12 31  

21.8 78,580 –
    

No dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 
have been proposed by the Directors (2023: RMB21.8 cent per 
ordinary share).

2024 12 31
2023

21.8
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13. 13.	 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on 
the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the year.

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share 
are based on:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

(Loss)/earnings

(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the Company, used in the 
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share 
calculation

 
 

 
(189,144) 213,628

    

 

     

Number of shares

2024 2023

2024 2023
    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the basic (loss)/earnings per share 
calculation

 

360,483,747 360,458,829

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in 
respect of share options – 2,808,226

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in 
respect of share award

 
– N/A 

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the diluted (loss)/earnings per share 
calculation

 

360,483,747 363,267,055
    

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is determined based 
on the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The 
adjustment for dilutive outstanding share options is based on 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to 
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise 
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary 
shares.
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14. 14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
     

       

Office 
equipment

Electronic 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Cost

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 1,976 4,400 16,386 – 22,762

Additions 72 721 1,173 2,784 4,750

Disposals (131) (269) – – (400)

Transfers – – 364 (364) –
       

As at 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31  
2024 1 1 1,917 4,852 17,923 2,420 27,112

Additions 536 1,709 341 7,447 10,033

Disposals (854) (1,399) (3,991) – (6,244)

Transfers – – 9,867 (9,867) –
       

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 1,599 5,162 24,140 – 30,901
       

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 907 2,497 1,699 – 5,103

Charge for the year 208 922 4,622 – 5,752

Disposals (115) (241) – – (356)
       

As at 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31  
2024 1 1 1,000 3,178 6,321 – 10,499

Charge for the year 261 1,118 5,792 – 7,171

Disposals (729) (1,202) (3,786) – (5,717)
       

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 532 3,094 8,327 – 11,953
       

Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 1,067 2,068 15,813 – 18,948
       

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 917 1,674 11,602 2,420 16,613
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14. 

 15% – 25%
 11% – 33%

 12.5% – 50.0%

15. 

2 5
2023 2 8

(a) 

14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis after taking 
into account of their estimated residual values at the following 
rates per annum:

Office equipment	 15% – 25%
Electronic equipment	 11% – 33%
Leasehold improvements	 12.5% – 50.0%

15.	 LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its 
operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease terms 
between 2 to 5 years (2023: 2 to 8 years). Generally, the Group 
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets 
outside the Group.

(a)	 Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and 
the movements during the year are as follows:

 

    

Office premises

RMB’000

   

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 45,129

Additions 43,232

Depreciation charge (19,684)

Reduction as a result of lease termination (328)
   

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 2023 12 31 2024 1 1 68,349

Additions 2,678

Depreciation charge (20,777)

Reduction as a result of lease termination (1,832)
   

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 48,418
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15. 

(b) 

15.	 LEASES (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
(b)	 Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements 
during the year are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Carrying amount at 1 January 1 1 70,000 45,469

New leases 2,678 43,232

Reduction as a result of lease termination (1,678) (378)

Accretion of interest recognised during 
the year 2,756 2,243

Payments (21,942) (20,566)
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 12 31 51,814 70,000
    

Analysed into:

Current portion 17,708 18,298

Non-current portion 34,106 51,702
    

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 
34 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing 
rate was 4.01% (2023: 4.45%). Interest rates are fixed at 
the contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk.

34

2024 12 31
4.01% 2023 4.45%
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15. 

(c)  

15.	 LEASES (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
(c)	 The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases 

are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Interest on lease liabilities 2,756 2,243

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets* * 20,777 19,435

Expenses relating to short-term leases 2,083 2,501
    

25,616 24,179
    

*	 The total amount of depreciation charge on the right-of-use assets 
included in “Film and drama series rights” for the year of 2023 was 
RMB249,000.

* 2023
249,000
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16. 16.	 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
   

     

Software Trademarks Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Cost

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 6,413 1,064 7,477

Additions 971 – 971
     

As at 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31
2024 1 1 7,384 1,064 8,448

Additions 518 – 518
     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 7,902 1,064 8,966
     

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 2,170 471 2,641

Provided during the year 2,584 110 2,694
     

As at 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31
2024 1 1 4,754 581 5,335

Provided during the year 2,118 110 2,228
 2024 12 31`    

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 6,872 691 7,563
     

Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 1,030 373 1,403
     

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 2,630 483 3,113
     

Purchased software is amortised on the straight-line basis over 
its estimated useful life of 3-10 years.

Trademarks are amortised on the straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives of 10 years, which is shorter of the legal 
registered period and the period over which the trademark is 
expected to generate net cash inflows from the commercialisation 
of the product.

3 10

10
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17. 17.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Share of net assets 6,116 4,330

Goodwill on acquisition 49,196 49,196
    

Total share of net assets and goodwill on 
acquisition

 
55,312 53,526

Impairment (33,849) (29,681)
    

Total 21,463 23,845
    

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

Name of company
Country of 
incorporation

Principal place  
of business

Proportion of ownership  
interest and voting rights  

held by the Group Principal activities

2024 2023

2024 2023

Shanghai Senmeijie  
Culture Media Co., Ltd.

The PRC The PRC 20% 20% Radio and TV programs 
production and 
operation services

 

Beijing Ark Reading Technology 
co., Ltd. (“Beijing Ark Reading”)

The PRC The PRC 20% 20% Online literature platform 
operation; radio and TV 
programs production 
and operation services

  

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity 
shares held through a Consolidated Affiliated Entity of the 
Company.
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17. 

16.0%
2023 17.5%

2.0% 2023 2.0%
2024

12 31
21,463,000 2023

23,845,000
2024 12 31

4,168,000 2023
14,304,000

17.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)
Investments in associates are tested for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. In view that the financial 
performance of the associate Beijing Ark Reading did not meet 
the expectation of the management and this associate recorded 
accumulated losses from prior years, the Group performed an 
impairment assessment on the investment in an associate, which 
is identified as a single cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the investment in the associate has 
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year 
period approved by senior management. The post-tax discount 
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 16.0% (2023: 17.5%) 
and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 
a growth rate of 2.0% (2023: 2.0%). Based on the impairment 
assessment, the recoverable amount of the investment in the 
associate amount ed to RMB21,463,000 as at 31 December 2024 
(2023: RMB23,845,000), which was lower than its carrying amount 
as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the Group recognised an 
impairment loss on investment in the associate of RMB4,168,000 
(2023: RMB14,304,000) during the year.

Summarised financial information of material associate
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s 
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial 
information below represents amounts in associates’ financial 
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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17. 
 

17.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)
Summarised financial information of material associate 
(Cont’d)
Beijing Ark Reading

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At 31 December 12 31

Current assets 42,688 33,837
    

Non-current assets 269 357
    

Current liabilities 12,376 12,986
    

Non-current liabilities – –
    

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Year ended 31 December 12 31

Revenue 78,296 50,212
    

Profit for the year 9,373 1,148
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 9,373 1,148
    

Dividends received from the associate during 
the year – –
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17. 
 

17.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)
Summarised financial information of material associate 
(Cont’d)
Beijing Ark Reading (Cont’d)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to 
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At 31 December 12 31

Net assets of Beijing Ark Reading 30,581 21,208

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 20% 20%

The Group’s share of net assets 6,116 4,241

Goodwill less accumulated impairment losses 15,347 19,515
    

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 21,463 23,756
    

Aggregate financial information of the Group’s associate 
that is not individually material:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Share of the associate’s loss for the year (89) (29)

Share of the associate’s total comprehensive 
loss

 
(89) (29)

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s 
investments in the associate

 
– 89

    



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

For the year ended 31 December 2024
2024 12 31

206

17. 17.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)
Aggregate financial information of the Group’s associate 
that is not individually material: (Cont’d)

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

The unrecognised share of loss of  
an associate for the year

 
67 –

    

Cumulative unrecognised share of loss of an 
associate 67 –

    

18.	 FILM AND DRAMA SERIES RIGHTS
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Licences and scripts (note) 209,099 218,985

Film and drama series under production 429,679 116,356

Completed film and drama series rights 52,147 135,691
    

Total 690,925 471,032
    

Included in the film and drama series rights classified as current 
assets as at 31 December 2024 is carry value of approximately 
RMB410,497,000 (2023: RMB267,980,000) which expected to 
be completed and sold after more than twelve months from the 
end of the reporting period.

In the opinion of the Directors, the film and drama series rights 
are sold to the customers of the Group upon completion of 
production of the drama series and delivery of the drama series 
to the customers. Hence the film and drama series rights are held 
within the normal operating cycle of the Group and are classified 
as current assets.

Note:

The cost of licences relates to intellectual properties rights purchased from 
external consultants and script writers which are yet to be broadcasted. The 
cost of scripts relates to cost of developing innovative ideas and concepts as 
well as developing scripts to produce drama series projects.

18. 

2024 12 31

410,497,000 2023
267,980,000
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19. 19.	 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade receivables 300,634 600,876

Notes receivables 10,656 39,315
    

311,290 640,191

Impairment (28,868) (42,933)
    

Net carrying amount 282,422 597,258
    

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. 
The credit period is generally 30 days, depending on the specific 
payment terms in each contract. The Group seeks to maintain 
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances 
are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does 
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade 
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the 
reporting period, based on the revenue recognition dates and net 
of loss allowance, is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within 3 months 3 223,360 517,612

3 to 6 months 3 6 4,108 15

6 to 12 months 6 12 500 11,235

1 to 2 years 1 2 39,841 19,440

2 to 3 years 2 3 3,957 3,627

Over 3 years 3 – 6,014
    

Total 271,766 557,943
    

30
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19. 
2024 12 31

133,454,000 2023
424,186,000

51,291,000 2023
20,480,000

19.	 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade 
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount 
of RMB133,454,000 (2023: RMB424,186,000) which are past 
due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, 
RMB51,291,000 (2023: RMB20,480,000) has been past due 
over 1 year and is not considered as in default since continuous 
settlement has been noted from these debtors.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade 
receivables are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At beginning of year 42,933 46,156

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment 
losses), net

 
6,648 (3,223)

Written-off (20,713) –
    

At end of year 28,868 42,933
    

Details of impairment assessment of trade and notes receivables 
are set out in note 34.

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model 
on trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired 
individually. The remaining trade receivables are using a provision 
matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates are based on aging 
and the days past due for groupings of various customer segments 
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable 
and supportable information that is available at the end of each 
reporting period about past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions.

34
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19. 

2024 12 31

19.	 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on 
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

   

     

Gross  
carrying 
amount

Expected 
credit loss 

rate
Expected 

credit loss

  

RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Defaulted receivables 18,485 100.00% 18,485

Other trade receivables aged:  

Current 167,180 0.30% 496

Past due:

Within 1 year 1 63,678 3.76% 2,394

Between 1 and 2 years 1 2 40,843 2.45% 1,002

Between 2 and 3 years 2 3 10,448 62.13% 6,491
     

Total 300,634 9.60% 28,868
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19. 
2023 12 31

19.	 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
As at 31 December 2023

     

Gross  
carrying 
amount

Expected 
credit loss  

rate
Expected 

credit loss

  

RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Defaulted receivables 41,703 87.09% 36,320

Other trade receivables aged:  

Current 176,690 0.06% 106

Past due:

Within 1 year 1 362,003 1.19% 4,322

Between 1 and 2 years 1 2 19,480 9.32% 1,816

Between 2 and 3 years 2 3 1,000 36.90% 369
     

Total 600,876 7.15% 42,933
     

Included in the Group’s trade receivables were amounts due from 
the Group’s related parties of RMB56,874,000 as at 31 December 
2024 (2023: RMB167,874,000), which were repayable on credit 
terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

The Group’s notes receivables were all aged within one year and 
were neither past due nor impaired.

2024 12 31

56,874,000 2023
167,874,000



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

For the year ended 31 December 2024
2024 12 31

211

20. 20.	 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 
ASSETS

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Prepayments (note (a)) (a) 216,900 189,905

Receivables under co-financing arrangements – 10,000

Interest receivable 2,711 16,132

Deductible input value-added tax 13,876 13,936

Loan receivable (note (b)) (b) 4,000 –

Prepaid income tax 11,050 1,649

Deposits and other receivables (note (c)) (c) 55,299 47,215

Prepaid expenses 5,969 6,767
    

Total 309,805 285,604
    

Analysed into:

Current 242,564 217,018

Non-current 67,241 68,586
    

Notes:

(a)	 The amount represents prepayments to the script writer, and the 
prepayment for the production of the drama series.

(b)	 The amount represents advance to an independent third party. The loan 
carries interest rate of 2.8% per annum and is repayable in May 2029.

Management has performed credit risk assessment by performing a 
background search on the borrower. Details related to ECLs are set out 
in note 34 to the financial statements.

(c)	 The amount included receivable from the disposal of other unlisted 
investments amounted to RMB43,565,000 (2023: Nil).

Included in the other receivables as at 31 December 2023 were amounts 
due from the holders of equity interests of Shanghai Linmon Picture 
Media Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Linmon”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, of RMB24,953,000, which was derived from capital reduction 
of Shanghai Linmon under the Contractual Arrangements. The balances 
with related parties are non-trade in nature, unsecured and interest free. 
The balances were settled and received by the Group during the year.

(a) 

(b) 
2.8% 2029 5

34

(c) 
43,565,000 2023

2023 12 31

)
24,953,000
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20. 

(d) 
9

2024 2023 12 31
12

2024 12 31
28,311,000

2023 28,311,000

21. 

20.	 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 
ASSETS (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(d)	 An impairment analysis was performed at the end of each reporting 
period. The Group has applied the general approach to provide for 
expected credit losses for non-trade other receivables under HKFRS 9. 
The Group considered the historical loss rate and adjusted it for forward-
looking macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit loss rate.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group estimated that the 
expected loss rate for interest receivable, deposits and other receivables 
was minimal under the 12-month expected credit loss method.

Included in the prepayments as at 31 December 2024 was prepayment 
of RMB28,311,000 (2023: RMB28,311,000) due from the Group’s related 
party. The balance with the related party is trade in nature, unsecured 
and interest free.

21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 
OR LOSS

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Unlisted equity investments 3,263 6,891

Unlisted debt investments 2,719 4,425

Investments at FVTPL 48,840 49,758

Other unlisted investments 547,256 667,896
    

Total 602,078 728,970
    

Analysed into:

Current 550,519 674,787

Non-current 51,559 54,183
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21. 

2026

2023

35

21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 
OR LOSS (Cont’d)
The above unlisted equity investments were classified as financial 
assets at FVTPL as they were held for trading purpose.

The above debt investments are restricted for trade until the 
contractual period is completed which is in 2026. They were 
classified as financial assets at FVTPL as their contractual cash 
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

The above investments at FVTPL are investments in convertible 
redeemable preferred shares or ordinary shares with preferential 
rights issued by private investee companies.

The above other unlisted investments were investments in private 
funds (2023: wealth management products and investments in 
private funds) which mainly invested in United States of America’s 
treasury bonds. The fair values of the financial assets approximate 
to their net asset values as reported in the fund statements issued 
by the respective fund managers. They were mandatorily classified 
as financial assets at FVTPL as their contractual cash flows are 
not solely payments of principal and interest.

Details of fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are set out in note 35.
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22. 22.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 
DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cash and bank balances 1,086,280 716,171

Restricted deposits 7,987 5,667

Time deposits 56,000 583,376
    

Subtotal 1,150,267 1,305,214

Less:

Restricted deposits (7,987) (5,667)

Non-pledged time deposits with original 
maturity within one year when acquired – (583,376)

Non-pledged time deposits with original 
maturity more than one year when acquired (56,000) –

    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,086,280 716,171
    

Denominated in:

RMB 569,435 650,211

US$ 508,058 55,232

HK$ 6,167 3,380

THB 2,497 7,347

SGD 122 –

JPY 1 1
    

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,086,280 716,171
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22. 

2024 12 31

7,987,000 2023 5,667,000

3.1% 2023
2.45% 5.73%

23. 

22.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 
DEPOSITS AND TIME DEPOSITS (Cont’d)
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, 
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign 
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB 
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign 
exchange business.

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances that are placed in 
restricted bank accounts in accordance with the litigation 
amounting RMB7,987,000 (2023: RMB5,667,000), such balances 
are frozen by court order.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates.

Time deposits carry fixed interest rates of 3.1% (2023: 2.45% 
to 5.73%).

23.	 TRADE PAYABLES
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade payables 59,691 57,315
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23. 23.	 TRADE PAYABLES (Cont’d)
An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each 
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within 3 months 3 58,341 52,181

3 to 6 months 3 6 334 473

6 to 12 months 6 12 141 220

1 to 2 years 1 2 691 3,829

2 to 3 years 2 3 184 612
    

Total 59,691 57,315
    

Included in the trade payables were trade payables of 
RMB4,564,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB3,502,000), 
due to the Group’s related parties which were repayable within 
one year, which represented credit terms similar to those offered 
by the related parties to their major customers.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally 
settled on terms of 90 to 365 days.

2024 12 31

4,564,000
2023 3,502,000

90 365
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24. 24.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial liabilities under co-investment  
arrangements (note (a))

 
(a) 22,849 22,575

Other payables (note (b)) (b) 51,956 49,288

Other tax payables 2,633 2,395

Deferred revenue 4,723 1,493

Payroll and welfare payable 28,306 38,500
    

Total 110,467 114,251
    

Analysed into:

Current 106,010 112,758

Non-current 4,457 1,493
    

Notes:

(a)	 Financial liabilities under co-investment arrangements are for variable 
return and measured at fair value.

Included in financial liabilities under co-investment arrangements were co- 
investments received from the Group’s related parties of RMB6,851,000 
(2023: RMB7,367,000). The co-investors are not entitled to any share 
of copyrights in the drama series they invested under the co-investment 
arrangements. The Group is obligated to share the licensing revenue 
with the co-investors based on the respective investment ratios. The 
co-investment amounts received from the co-investors are recognised 
as financial liabilities which are measured at fair value. The balance with 
related party is trade in nature, unsecured, interest free and has no fixed 
terms of repayment.

(b)	 Other payables mainly represent the marketing and advertising expenses 
payables and payables arose from renovation as at 31 December 2024.

Other payables also include investment funds payable to investments 
at FVTPL of RMB6,000,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2024: Nil). Other 
payables are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(a) 

6,851,000
2023 7,367,000

(b) 2024 12 31

2023 12 31

6,000,000 2024
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25. 25.	 BANK BORROWING
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Unsecured bank borrowing 60,000 –
    

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowing of RMB60,000,000 
was denominated in RMB at fixed rate of 3.35% and is repayable 
on demand within one year.

26.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Contract liabilities 614,948 692,633
    

Analysed into:

Current 268,344 287,670

Non-current 346,604 404,963
    

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Advances received from customers

Licensing of the broadcasting rights of 
original drama series 594,923 673,540

Others 20,025 19,093
    

Total contract liabilities 614,948 692,633
    

2024 12 31
60,000,000

3.35%

26. 
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26.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)
Included in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 was an 
amount of RMB9,159,000 related to content marketing services 
to be provided to an investee company held by the Group under 
investments at FVTPL.

Included in contract liabilities were advances received from the 
Group’s related parties of RMB450,943,000 as at 31 December 
2024 (2023: RMB305,660,000). The balances with related party 
were trade in nature, unsecured and interest free.

Significant changes in contract liabilities are explained as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Balance at 1 January 1 1 692,633 695,140

Revenue recognised that was included in the 
contract liabilities balance at the beginning  
of the year (294,138) (327,471)

Increase due to cash received, excluding 
amounts recognised as revenue during the 
year 216,453 324,964

    

614,948 692,633
    

26. 
2023 12 31

9,159,000

2024 12 31
450,943,000 2023

305,660,000
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27.	 DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the 
year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

         

           

Impairment 

of 

receivables

Impairment 

of film and 

drama 

series 

rights

Lease 

liabilities

Deferred 

revenue

Changes in 

fair value 

on financial 

assets at 

FVTPL

Losses 

available 

for 

offsetting 

against 

future 

taxable 

income

Changes in 

fair value 

on financial 

liabilities at 

FVTPL

Unrealised 

profit 

attributed 

to the 

intra–group 

transaction Total

  

 

  

 

 

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

           

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 6,359 33,596 10,725 479 3,147 4,425 – – 58,731

Deferred tax credited/(charged)  

to profit or loss during the year (826) 17,214 5,933 (105) 1,976 (4,103) 357 4,532 24,978
           

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024

2023 12 31

2024 1 1 5,533 50,810 16,658 374 5,123 322 357 4,532 83,709

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to 

 profit or loss during the year 1,669 7,992 (3,705) 807 3,084 11,586 492 (1,406) 20,519
           

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 7,202 58,802 12,953 1,181 8,207 11,908 849 3,126 104,228
           

27. 
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27. 27.	 DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the 
year are as follows: (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities

   

        

Interest 
income 

accrued
Right-of-use 

assets Total

 

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 – 10,536 10,536

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss 
during the year 2,329 5,665 7,994

     

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 
2024

2023 12 31
2024 1 1 2,329 16,201 18,530

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss 
during the year

 
(2,329) (4,097) (6,426)

     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 – 12,104 12,104
     

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and 
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. 
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the 
Group for financial reporting purposes:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position 92,124 67,508

    

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position – 2,329
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27. 27.	 DEFERRED TAX (Cont’d)
Deferred tax liabilities (Cont’d)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the 
following items:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Deductible temporary differences 145,811 106,200

Tax losses 56,203 54,526
    

202,014 160,726
    

The above tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB55,785,000 
(2023: RMB54,108,000) that will expire in one to five years for 
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which 
the losses arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in Hong 
Kong of RMB418,000 (2023: RMB418,000) that are available 
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the 
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have 
not been recognised in respect of the above items as it is not 
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which the above items can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed 
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect 
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate 
is 10% for the Group. In the opinion of the Directors, it is not 
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the 
foreseeable future, taking into account of the Group’s operations 
and expansion plan.

55,785,000 2023
54,108,000

418,000 2023 418,000

2008 1 1

10%
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28. 28.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
ordinary shares 
of par value of 

US$0.000025 
each

Nominal value 
US$

0.000025  

    

Authorised:

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,  
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024

2023 1 1 2023  
12 31 2024 1 1
2024 12 31 2,000,000,000 50,000

    

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 1 1 2023  
12 31 2024 1 1 360,458,829 9,011

Issue of shares upon vesting of share awards 
(note)

 
194,040 5

    

31 December 2024 2024 12 31 360,652,869 9,016
    

Shown in the consolidated financial  
statements:

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 RMB’000 
equivalent

59
    

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 RMB’000 
equivalent

59
    

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company issued 194,040 
shares of US$0.000025 each upon vesting of share award. The new issued 
shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

2024 12 31
194,040 0.000025
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29. 

30. 

2021 9 24

14,680,471

4%

29.	 RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein 
for the year are presented in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity of the Group.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-up capital 
of the companies comprising the Group, deemed distribution to 
the then shareholders and the reserves resulting from transactions 
with non-controlling interests, details of the movements in the 
capital reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.

Share award and option reserve
The Company reserved some shares for the purpose of providing 
incentives and rewards to certain eligible employees and suppliers 
for the growth and development of the Group. The eligible 
employees and suppliers include any employee and suppliers of 
the Company or any subsidiaries. The share award and option 
reserve arose from the recognition of equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangements.

30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Company has adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (“the 
Option Scheme”) to recognise and reward the contribution of 
selected employees, directors, and suppliers and to promote the 
success of the Company’s business by offering these individuals 
an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the success of 
the Company or to increase this interest, by permitting them to 
purchase shares of the Company. The Option Scheme became 
effective on 24 September 2021 and, unless otherwise cancelled 
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date. The 
maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares of the Company 
that may be issued under the Option Scheme shall not exceed 
14,680,471 shares, representing approximately 4% of the shares 
of the Company in issue at any time.

No Director was granted share options under the Option Scheme.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

Linmon Media Limited  檸萌影視傳媒有限公司
Annual Report 2024  

For the year ended 31 December 2024
2024 12 31

225

30. 30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
Pursuant to the option scheme, the Company granted share 
options with the following vesting terms (share options shall vest 
in equal annually instalments) and there is no performance target 
required except that the eligible participant remains in service 
for the Group during the vesting period. The exercise price of 
the share options varies with each person and share plan. The 
exercise period is ten years from the date of grant.

     

Participants Date of grant

Number 
of options 

granted as 
at date of 

grant Vesting period Exercise price

     

Supplier 28 September 2021 498,420 48 months from the start 
date

0.00016

2021 9 28 498,420 48 0.00016

Supplier 28 September 2021 222,099 48 months from the start 
date

11.1111

2021 9 28 222,099 48 11.1111

Employee 28 September 2021 5,674,394 24 to 48 months from the 
start date

11.1111

2021 9 28 5,674,394 24 48 11.1111

Employee 1 January 2022 283,500 48 months from the start 
date

11.1111

2022 1 1 283,500 48 11.1111

Employee 14 March 2022 75,600 48 months from the start 
date

11.1111

2022 3 14 75,600 48 11.1111

Employee 21 March 2022 202,500 48 months from the start 
date

11.1111

2022 3 21 202,500 48 11.1111
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30. 30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not 
have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options. 
The Group accounts for the Option Scheme as an equity-settled 
plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends 
or to vote at share holders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Option 
Scheme during the year:

    

Weighted average 
exercise price

Number  
of options

RMB per share

    

Outstanding as at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 8.8136 12,569,727

Forfeited during the year 11.1111 (360,414)
    

Outstanding as at 31 December 2023 
and 1 January 2024

2023 12 31 2024  
1 1 8.7458 12,209,313

Forfeited during the year 11.1111 (143,648)
    

Outstanding as at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 8.7176 12,065,665
    

Exercisable as at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 8.2844 9,237,029
    

Exercisable as at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 8.5143 10,587,998
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30. 

2023 2024 12 31

2024

70,000
2023 482,000

1,522,000

2023

3,372,000 2023
10,005,000

30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
There was no exercise of share options during the years ended 
31 December 2023 and 2024.

The Group has granted share options to some of its suppliers. 
Since the services provided by those suppliers are customised 
original drama series related development and production services 
and do not have a market price, in the opinion of the Directors, 
the fair values of the services received from those suppliers cannot 
be reliably estimated and the presumption that the fair value of 
the services received can be estimated reliably is rebutted. As a 
result, the costs of share-based transactions for suppliers were 
measured with reference to the fair value of the share options of 
the Group during the period when the Group obtains the services 
provided by the suppliers.

In 2024, the Group recognised share-based payment expense 
in relation to the service provided by the suppliers as expense 
and film and drama series rights, respectively, RMB70,000 and 
Nil (2023: RMB482,000 and RMB1,522,000).

During the year, there was no share options granted to employees 
(2023: Nil). The Group recognised a share option expense of 
RMB3,372,000 (2023: RMB10,005,000) during the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted to suppliers 
during the year was estimated as at the date of receipt of the 
services using a binomial model, respectively, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023
    

Expected volatility (%) % 49.98 45.20 – 48.49

Historical volatility (%) % 49.98 45.20 – 48.49

Risk-free interest rate (%) % 1.56 2.55

Expected life of options (years) 6.74 7.74 – 8.74

Weighted average share price (RMB) 0.43 – 2.59 6.80 – 17.45

Forfeiture rate (%) % 0 0 – 25
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30. 

2023 2
2021 6,020,041

1,985,000

12,065,665 2023 12,209,313

113,908 2023
43,347

11,951,757 2023
12,165,966

3% 2023
3%

30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical 
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily 
be the actual outcome. The expected life of the options is based on 
the historical data over the past three years and is not necessarily 
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the 
measurement of fair value.

In February 2023, the Company determined to modify the terms 
of 6,020,041 share options which were granted in 2021 by the 
Company to replace the restricted shares under restricted shares 
scheme adopted by Shanghai Linmon. The terms of share options 
are modified from “deemed exercised, will vest once applicable, 
the exercise price had been paid on the grant date” to “remain 
unexercised, the exercise price will be paid upon the exercise 
date”. The incremental fair value of RMB1,985,000 resulting 
from the modification at the modification date was recognised 
immediately to profit or loss during the year and the exercise price 
that had been paid was returned to the grantees.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 12,065,665 
(2023: 12,209,313) share options outstanding under the Option 
Scheme.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, 113,908 (2023: 
43,347) share options were forfeited due to the termination of 
employees’ service.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company 
had 11,951,757 (2023: 12,165,966) share options outstanding 
under the Option Scheme, which represented approximately 3% 
(2023: 3%) of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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30. 

2024 9 3

(i) 2024
(ii) 2024

2024 2024
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

10%

(i) 2024
2024

2,500,685

2.94
3.06

2024 12 31

2,504,000 2023

30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Share Award Scheme and Share Option Scheme
Pursuant to a resolution passed on the extraordinary general 
meeting of the Company on 3 September 2024, the shareholders 
of the Company have considered and approved the adoption of 
(i) share awarded scheme (the “2024 Share Award Scheme”) 
and (ii) share option scheme (the “2024 Share Option Scheme”).

The purposes of the 2024 Share Award Scheme and the 
2024 Share Option Scheme are (i) to recognise and motivate 
selected employees, directors and suppliers (the “Participants”) 
contributions to the Group and maintain the Group’s on-going 
relations with them; (ii) to give Participants an opportunity to have 
a personal stake in the Company and help motivate Participants to 
optimise their future contributions to the Group; and (iii) to attract 
suitable talents for further growth and development of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the 
vesting of all awarded shares and exercise of all share options 
granted shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share 
capital of the Company from time to time.

(i)	 2024 Share Award Scheme
During the year, the Company granted in aggregate 
2,500,685 awarded shares (each awarded share shall entitle 
the grantee thereof to subscribe for one Share) to a total of 
eight employees of the Company (the “Grantees”) under the 
2024 Share Award Scheme.

The estimated fair values of the share awards at grant date 
were RMB2.94. The closing price of the Company’s shares 
immediately before the date of grant was HK$3.06.

These fair values were reference to quoted price of share. 
The inputs into the model were as follows:

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB2,504,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: N/A) in relation 
to share awards granted by the Company.
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30. 

(i) 2024

30.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)
Share Award Scheme and Share Option Scheme (Cont’d)
(i)	 2024 Share Award Scheme (continued)

Details of share awards granted during the year are as 
follows:

      

      

Grantees Date of grant Vesting period

Number of 
awarded 

shares 
granted

Number of 
awarded 

shares 
vested 

during the 
year

Outstanding 
at 31 

December 
2024

  
2024  

12 31  

      

Employees 15 November 2024 Nil 194,040 194,040 –

2024 11 15

Employees 15 November 2024 Note 2,306,645 – 2,306,645

2024 11 15

Note:

(a)	 The first tranche of 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be 
vested on the date of grant;

(b)	 The second tranche of 20% of the awarded shares granted shall 
be vested on 20 May 2025;

(c)	 The third tranche of 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be 
vested on 20 May 2026;

(d)	 The fourth tranche of 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be 
vested on 20 May 2027; and

(e)	 The last tranche of 20% of the awarded shares granted shall be 
vested on 20 May 2028.

(ii)	 2024 Share Option Scheme
As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not 
granted any shares options under the 2024 Share Option 
Scheme.

(a) 20%

(b) 20% 2025
5 20

(c) 20% 2026
5 20

(d) 20% 2027
5 20

(e) 20% 2028 5
20

(ii) 2024

2024
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31. 

(a) 

2,678,000 2023
43,232,000

(b) 

31.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 
FLOWS
(a)	 Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,678,000 (2023: 
RMB43,232,000), in respect of lease arrangements for office 
premises.

(b)	 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

    

      

Bank 
borrowing

Interest 
payable

Lease 
liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 – – 45,469 45,469

Changes from financing cash 
flows – (200) (20,566) (20,766)

New leases – – 43,232 43,232

Reduction as a result of lease 
termination – – (378) (378)

Interest accrued – 200 2,243 2,443
      

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

2023 12 31
2024 1 1 – – 70,000 70,000

Changes from financing cash 
flows 60,000 (36) (21,942) 38,022

New leases – – 2,678 2,678

Reduction as a result of lease 
termination – – (1,678) (1,678)

Interest accrued – 121 2,756 2,877
      

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 60,000 85 51,814 111,899
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31. 

(c) 

31.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 
FLOWS (Cont’d)
(c)	 Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within operating activities 2,083 2,501

Within financing activities 21,942 20,566
    

Total 24,025 23,067
    

32.	 COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end 
of the reporting period:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Loans commitment – 4,000
    

32. 
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33. 33.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the Company’s related parties are as follows:

  

Name Relationship with the Company

  

Beijing Ark Reading Associate company

Tencent Film Culture Communication Co., Ltd. An entity controlled by a substantial 
shareholder

Shenzhen Tencent Computer Systems Company Limited  
(“Shenzhen TCS”)

An entity controlled by a substantial 
shareholder

Shanghai Tencent Penguin Film Culture a Communication Co., Ltd. 
(“Tencent Qie”)

An entity controlled by substantial 
shareholder

Tencent Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.  
(“Tencent Tech”)

An entity controlled by a substantial 
shareholder

Tencent Music Entertainment Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  
(“TME Shenzhen”)

An entity controlled by a substantial 
shareholder

Beijing Jinjiang Networking Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jinjiang Original”) An entity controlled by a substantial 
shareholder
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33. 
(a) 20

33.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(a)	 In addition to the transactions detailed in Note 20, the Group 

had the following transactions with related parties during the 
year:

 

      

2024 2023

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Sales of licensing of 
broadcasting rights of 
original drama series to:

Tencent Tech (i) 85,869 703,379

TME Shenzhen (i) – 283
     

Total 85,869 703,662
     

Provision of services to:

Tencent Tech (i) – 2,245
     

Purchase of goods from:

Beijing Ark Reading (ii) 566 –
     

Purchase of goods from:

Shenzhen TCS (ii) 4,500 –

Beijing Ark Reading (ii) 4,245 2,830

Jinjiang Original (ii) – 5,279
     

Total 8,745 8,109
     

Notes:

(i)	 The sales and provision of services to related parties were made 
according to the published prices and conditions offered to the 
major customers of the Group.

(ii)	 The purchases from related parties were made according to the 
published prices and conditions offered by the related parties to 
their major customers.

(i) 

(ii) 
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33. 
(b) 

(i) 

19 20 23 24

(ii) 

20

(c) 

33.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(b)	 Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)	 Details of the Group’s trade balances with its related 
parties as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed 
in Notes 19, 20, 23 and 24.

(ii)	 Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with its 
related parties as at the end of the reporting period are 
disclosed in Note 20.

(c)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Short term employees benefits 21,570 27,035

Equity-settled share option expenses – –

Pension scheme contributions 413 340
    

Total compensation paid to key 
management personnel

 
21,983 27,375

    

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in Note 
9.

The related party transactions in respect of (a)(i) and (a)(ii) 
above, except for the transactions with Beijing Ark Reading, 
also constitute connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

9

(a)(i) (a)(ii)
14A
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34. 34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Categories of financial instruments:

Financial asset

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial asset at amortised cost

Trade and notes receivables 282,422 597,258

Financial assets included in prepayments,  
other receivables and other assets 62,010 63,347

Restricted deposits 7,987 5,667

Time deposits 56,000 583,376

Cash and cash equivalents 1,086,280 716,171
    

Subtotal 1,494,699 1,965,819
    

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss

Financial assets under co-financing 
arrangements – 10,000

Financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss

– Mandatorily designated as such 602,078 728,970
    

Subtotal 602,078 738,970
    

Total 2,096,777 2,704,789
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34. 34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade payables 59,691 57,315

Lease liabilities 51,814 70,000

Financial liabilities included in other payables 
and accruals 51,956 49,288

Bank borrowing 60,000 –
    

Subtotal 223,461 176,603
    

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss

Financial liabilities under co-investment 
arrangements included in other payables and 
accruals 22,849 22,575

    

Total 246,310 199,178
    

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments comprise financial assets 
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, 
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, bank 
borrowing, restricted deposits, time deposits and cash and cash 
equivalents. The Group has various other financial assets and 
liabilities such as trade and notes receivables and trade payables, 
which arise directly from its operations.

The risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments include 
market risk (currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Directors reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.
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34. 

(i) 

6% 2023 3%

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Market risk
(i)	 Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency 
sales and bank balances which expose the Group to foreign 
currency risk. Approximately 6% (2023: 3%) of the Group’s 
sales is denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency of the group entities making the sale which exposes 
the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency 
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 
the respective reporting date are as follows:

  

    

Assets Liabilities

2024 2023 2024 2023

2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

US$ 508,058 55,232 – –

THB 2,497 7,347 – –

SGD 122 – – –

JPY 1 1 – –
      

Foreign currency sensitivity
Sensitivity rate of 10% is used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year 
end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. Under 
the pegged exchange rate system, the financial impact on 
exchange difference between HK$ and US$ is immaterial as 
US$ denominated monetary assets are held by group entities 
having HK$ as their functional currency, and therefore no 
sensitivity analysis has been prepared against US$.

10%

10%
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34. 

(i) 

10%
2023

2023
10%

2023 10%

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Market risk (Cont’d)
(i)	 Currency risk  (Cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity (Cont’d)
The analysis below represents the sensitivity of bank balances 
that are denominated in THB, SGD and JPY, the Group’s 
major foreign currency items. A positive number below 
indicates a decrease in loss after tax (2023: increase in 
profit after tax) whereas a negative number below indicates 
an increase in loss after tax (2023: decrease in profit after tax) 
where RMB weakens 10% against the relevant currencies. 
For a 10% (2023: 10%) strengthening of RMB against the 
relevant currencies, there would be an equal and opposite 
impact on the (loss) profit after tax.

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

THB impact

Decrease in loss after tax (2023:  
Increase in profit after tax)

 
2023 250 735

SGD impact

Decrease in loss after tax (2023:  
Increase in profit after tax)

 
2023 12 –

JPY impact

Decrease in loss after tax (2023:  
Increase in profit after tax)

 
2023 – –

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis reflects 
the exposure at the year end, but not the exposure during 
the year.
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34. 

(ii) 

10%

2023

5,210,000 2023
5,665,000

2024 12 31
45%

2023 49%
88%

2023 86%

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Market risk (Cont’d)
(ii)	 Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from 
equity investments. The management will monitor the price 
movements and take appropriate actions when it is required.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based 
on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the 
reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher or lower, the loss after 
tax (2023: profit after tax) would decrease or increase 
by RMB5,210,000 (2023: increase or decrease by 
RMB5,665,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in 
the fair value of equity instruments at FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default 
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the 
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable 
to trade receivables, note receivables, other receivables, time 
deposits, restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

Trade receivables
The Group trades mainly with recognised and creditworthy third 
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade 
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Since the Group only trades with recognised and creditworthy 
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations 
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty and by 
geographical region. The Group had certain concentrations of 
credit risk. As at 31 December 2024, 45% of the Group’s trade 
receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer (2023: 
49%), and 88% of the Group’s trade receivables were due from 
the Group’s five largest customers (2023: 86%).
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34. 

12
2024

2023 12 31

12 31

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)
Time deposits/restricted bank deposits/bank balances
All of the Group’s time deposits/restricted bank deposits/bank 
balances are deposited in major financial institutions located in 
the PRC and Hong Kong, which the management believes are of 
high credit quality without significant credit risk. There has been no 
recent history of default in relation to these financial institutions. 
The expected credit loss is close to zero.

Other receivables and notes receivables
For other receivables and notes receivables, the management 
makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of 
them based on historical settlement records, past experience, 
and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportive forward-looking information. The management 
believes that there is no significant increase in credit risk of 
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided 
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023, the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables 
and notes receivables are insignificant and thus no loss allowance 
is recognised.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum 
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which 
is mainly based on past due information unless other information 
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging 
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are 
gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
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34. 

2024 12 31

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)
As at 31 December 2024

   

     

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

12

  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Trade receivables (note (a))
(a) – – – 300,634 300,634

Notes receivables (note (b))  
(b) 10,656 – – – 10,656

Financial assets included 
in prepayments, other 
receivables and other 
assets (note (b))

(b) 62,010 – – – 62,010

Time deposits (note (c))  
(c) 56,000 – – – 56,000

Restricted deposits  
(note (c))

 
(c) 7,987 – – – 7,987

Cash and cash equivalents 
(note (c))  

(c) 1,086,280 – – – 1,086,280
       

Total 1,222,933 – – 300,634 1,523,567
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34. 

2023 12 31

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)
As at 31 December 2023

     

12-month 
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

12

  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified 
approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

Trade receivables (note (a))
(a) – – – 600,876 600,876

Notes receivables (note (b))  
(b) 39,315 – – – 39,315

Financial assets included 
in prepayments, other 
receivables and other 
assets (note (b))

(b) 63,347 – – – 63,347

Time deposits (note (c))  
(c) 583,376 – – – 583,376

Restricted deposits  
(note (c))

 
(c) 5,667 – – – 5,667

Cash and cash equivalents 
(note (c))  

(c) 716,171 – – – 716,171
       

Total 1,407,876 – – 600,876 2,008,752
       

Notes:

(a)	 For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach 
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in 
Note 19.

(b)	 The credit quality of notes receivables and the financial assets included 
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered to be 
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating 
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is 
considered to be “doubtful”.

(c)	 Credit risk on time deposits, restricted deposits and bank balances is 
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit 
ratings and no recent history of default.

(a) 
19

(b) 

(c) 
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34. 

19

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Cont’d)
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to 
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 19.

Liquidity risk
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and 
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate 
by the management of the Group to finance the operations and 
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end 
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted 
payments, is as follows:

 

   

31 December 2024

2024 12 31
 

On demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to less 
than 

12 months
1 to 3  
years

Over 
3 years Total

3
3 12  

1 3 3

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Trade payables 1,350 58,341 – – – 59,691

Lease liabilities – 5,072 14,454 35,687 – 55,213

Financial liabilities under co-
investment arrangements* * 22,849 – – – – 22,849

Financial liabilities included in 
other payables and accruals  

51,956 – – – – 51,956

Bank borrowing 60,000 – – – – 60,000
        

136,155 63,413 14,454 35,687 – 249,709
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34. 34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

   

31 December 2023

2023 12 31
 

On demand
Less than  
3 months

3 to less 
than 

12 months
1 to 3 
years

Over  
3 years Total

3
3 12  

1 3 3

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

Trade payables 5,134 52,181 – – – 57,315

Lease liabilities – 6,099 15,881 37,728 17,216 76,924

Financial liabilities under co-
investment arrangements* * 15,678 – 2,656 4,241 – 22,575

Financial liabilities included in 
other payables and accruals

49,288 – – – – 49,288
       

70,100 58,280 18,537 41,969 17,216 206,102
        

*	 The contractual undiscounted payments of financial liabilities under co-
investment arrangements are based on the expected settlement amounts.

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it 
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics 
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject 
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital 
during the year.

* 
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34. 

100%

34.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
Capital management (Cont’d)
The Group monitors capital using a debt to equity ratio, which is 
net debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100% as at the date 
indicated. Net debt includes bank borrowing, lease liabilities, trade 
payables and other payables and accruals less time deposits and 
cash and cash equivalents. Capital represents total equity of the 
Group. The debt to equity ratios as at the end of the reporting 
periods were as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade payables 59,691 57,315

Lease liabilities 51,814 70,000

Other payables and accruals 110,467 114,251

Contract liabilities 614,948 692,633

Bank borrowing 60,000 –

Less: Time deposits (56,000) (583,376)

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (1,086,280) (716,171)
    

Net cash (245,360) (365,348)
    

Total equity 2,313,850 2,574,543
    

Debt to equity ratio N/A N/A
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35.  35.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and 
cash equivalents, restricted deposits, time deposits, trade and 
notes receivables, trade payables, financial assets included 
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, financial 
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to 
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of 
these instruments.

The fair value of the non-current portion of lease liabilities has been 
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using 
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit 
risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result 
of the Group’s own non-performance risk for lease liabilities as at 
the end of the reporting period were assessed to be insignificant.

In estimating the fair values of financial assets at FVTPL, the 
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. 
For instruments with significant unobservable inputs under Level 
3, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform 
the valuation. The management works closely with the qualified 
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs to the model.

Discounted cash flow
Discounted cash flow with future cash flows that are estimated on 
contractual terms, discounted at rates that reflect management’s 
best estimation of the expected risk level. The significant 
unobservable input is the discount rate based on the management 
judgement.

Market-based valuation
The fair value was derived from the equity value of the unlisted 
equity investment based on market approach with the price to 
book ratio/enterprise value to sale ratio of comparable companies.

The significant unobservable input is the discount rate for lack of 
marketability to the estimated value of the investments.
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35.  35.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Below is a summary of fair value hierarchy and measurements of 
the Group’s financial instruments:

Fair value as at  
31 December

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation  
technique

Significant 
unobservable  
inputs

Sensitivity of fair value 
to the input

12 31

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Other unlisted investments 547,256 667,896 Level 2 Discounted cash 
flows method

N/A N/A

547,256 667,896

Unlisted equity investments 3,263 6,891 Level 3 Market-based 
valuation

Discount for lack of 
marketability of 
22% (2023: 18%)

An increase in 
discount for lack of 
marketability would 
result in decrease in 
fair value

3,263 6,891
22% 2023

18%

Unlisted debt investments 2,719 4,425 Level 3 Market-based 
valuation

Discount for lack of 
marketability of 
38% – 44% (2023: 
38%)

An increase in 
discount for lack of 
marketability would 
result in decrease in 
fair value

2,719 4,425
38% – 44%

2023 38%
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35.  35.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
Below is a summary of fair value hierarchy and measurements of 
the Group’s financial instruments: (Cont’d)

Fair value as at  
31 December

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation  
technique

Significant 
unobservable  
inputs

Sensitivity of fair value 
to the input

12 31

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Investments at FVTPL 48,840 49,758 Level 3 Market-based 
valuation

Discount for lack of 
marketability of 
18% – 20% (2023: 
18%)

An increase in 
discount for lack of 
marketability would 
result in decrease in 
fair value

48,840 49,758
18% - 20%

2023 18%

Financial assets under co-
financing arrangements

– 10,000 Level 3 Discounted cash 
flows method

Expected rate of 
return of Nil (2023: 
10%)

An increase in expected 
rate would result in 
increase in fair value

– 10,000 2023
10%

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities under co-
investment arrangements

22,849 22,575 Level 3 Discounted cash 
flows method

Expected rate of 
return 10% (2023: 
10%)

An increase in expected 
rate would result in 
increase in fair value

22,849 22,575 10%
2023 10%
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35.  35.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during 
the year are as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial assets at FVTPL

At beginning of year 61,074 75,870

Total losses recognised in profit or loss (6,252) (3,114)

Purchases – 6,000

Disposals – (17,682)
    

At 31 December 12 31 54,822 61,074
    

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial assets under co-financing 
arrangements

At beginning of year 10,000 40,635

Settlements (10,000) (30,635)
    

At 31 December 12 31 – 10,000
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35.  35.	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial liabilities under co-investment 
arrangements

At beginning of year 22,575 19,478

Total losses recognised in profit or loss 1,966 1,428

Investments – 1,669

Settlements (1,692) –
    

At 31 December 12 31 22,849 22,575
    

During the year, there was no transfer of fair value measurements 
between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for both financial assets 
and financial liabilities.
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36.  36.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the 
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

 

     

2024 2023

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 3,163,745 3,157,805
    

Total non-current assets 3,163,745 3,157,805
    

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables and other 
assets 313 164

Amounts due from subsidiaries 344,992 427,593

Cash and cash equivalents 2,795 3,348
    

Total current assets 348,100 431,105
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 23,814 21,955
    

Total current liabilities 23,814 21,955
    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 324,286 409,150
    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 
LIABILITIES 3,488,031 3,566,955

    

Net assets 3,488,031 3,566,955
    

EQUITY

Share capital 59 59

Share premium 4,358,691 4,437,226

Reserves (870,719) (870,330)
    

Total equity 3,488,031 3,566,955
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36. 36.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

     

            

Share  
capital

Share 
premium

Share award 
and option 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 59 4,437,226 42,958 (930,431) 3,549,812

Total comprehensive income 
for the year

 
– – – 3,149 3,149

Equity-settled share-based 
payments

 

– – 13,994 – 13,994
       

At 31 December 2023 and 1 
January 2024

2023 12
31 2024
1 1 59 4,437,226 56,952 (927,282) 3,566,955

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year

 
– – – (6,284) (6,284)

Shares vested under share 
award scheme – 45 (45) – –

Equity-settled share-based 
payments

 

– – 5,940 – 5,940

Dividend paid – (78,580) – – (78,580)
       

At 31 December 2024 2024 12
31 59 4,358,691 62,847 (933,566) 3,488,031
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37. 

38.  

37.	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no other significant events that required additional 
disclosures or adjustments after the end of the reporting period.

38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place and date 
of incorporation/

registration and place 
of operations

Nominal value  
of issued ordinary/

registered  
share capital

Percentage of equity attributable  
to the Company Principal activities

 
  

2024 2023

2024 2023

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
        

Linmon Media Holding Limited Hong Kong
6 July 2021

HK$1 – 100 – 100 Investment holding

 
2021 7 6

1 – 100 – 100

Linmon Media International Co., Limited Hong Kong
4 February 2021

HK$1 – 100 – 100 Investment, production, distribution 
and operation of drama series 
and relevant derivatives

Linmon Media International  
Co., Limited

 
2021 2 4

1 – 100 – 100  

Shanghai Ninghe  
(note (a))

PRC/Mainland China
27 July 2021

RMB500,000,000 – 100 – 100 Investment holding

 
(a)

 
2021 7 27

500,000,000 – 100 – 100
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38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:  
(Cont’d)

Name

Place and date 
of incorporation/

registration and place 
of operations

Nominal value  
of issued ordinary/

registered  
share capital

Percentage of equity attributable  
to the Company Principal activities

 
  

2024 2023

2024 2023

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
        

Shanghai Linmon
( )  

(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China
25 July 2014

RMB240,916,000 – 100 – 100 Investment, production, distribution 
and operation of drama series 
and relevant derivatives

 
(b) (c)

 
2014 7 25

240,916,000 – 100 – 100  

Shanghai Ningchuan Culture and Media Co., 
Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China
12 May 2021

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Shooting and production of product 
placement advertisements in 
drama series

 
(b) (c)

 
2021 5 12

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Zhejiang Dongyang Linmon Film and 
Television Media Co., Ltd.

 ( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China
22 April 2019

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b) (c)

 
2019 4 22

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

38. 
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38. 38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:  
(Cont’d)

Name

Place and date 
of incorporation/

registration and place 
of operations

Nominal value  
of issued ordinary/

registered  
share capital

Percentage of equity attributable  
to the Company Principal activities

 
  

2024 2023

2024 2023

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
        

Shanghai Linmon Kaixin Film and Television 
Media Co., Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
2 November 2015

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b) (c)

 
2015 11 2

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Shanghai Linmon Yuexin Film and Television 
Media Co., Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
12 January 2015

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b) (c)

 
2015 1 12

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Zhejiang Dongyang Linmon Kaixin Film  
and Television Media Co., Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China
29 May 2019

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b) (c)

 
2019 5 29

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100
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38. 38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:  
(Cont’d)

Name

Place and date 
of incorporation/

registration and place 
of operations

Nominal value  
of issued ordinary/

registered  
share capital

Percentage of equity attributable  
to the Company Principal activities

 
  

2024 2023

2024 2023

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
        

Zhejiang Dongyang Linmon Yuexin Film  
and Television Media Co., Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
2 December 2019

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b) (c)

 
2019 12 2

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Horgos Linmon Black Tea
( )  

(note (b))

PRC/Mainland China
5 April 2017

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b)

 
2017 4 5

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Horgos Linmon
( ) (note (b))

PRC/Mainland China  
20 April 2016

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Radio and TV programs production, 
operation and distribution

 
(b)

 
2016 4 20

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100
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38. 38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:  
(Cont’d)

Name

Place and date 
of incorporation/

registration and place 
of operations

Nominal value  
of issued ordinary/

registered  
share capital

Percentage of equity attributable  
to the Company Principal activities

 
  

2024 2023

2024 2023

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
        

Beijing Haoyou Benling Culture Media Co., 
Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
25 August 2021

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Investment in production, distribution 
and licensing of broadcasting 
rights of drama series

 
(b) (c)

 
2021 8 25

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Shanghai Yuri Juzeng Culture Media Co., 
Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
10 February 2023

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Investment in production, distribution 
and licensing of broadcasting 
rights of drama series

 
(b) (c)

 
2023 2 10

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Hangzhou Wuren Guanji Culture and Media 
Co., Ltd.

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
6 March 2021

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Investment in internet live technical 
services

 
(b) (c)

 
2021 3 6

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100
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38. 38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:  
(Cont’d)

Name

Place and date 
of incorporation/

registration and place 
of operations

Nominal value  
of issued ordinary/

registered  
share capital

Percentage of equity attributable  
to the Company Principal activities

 
  

2024 2023

2024 2023

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

% % % %
        

Hangzhou Jirong Culture Co., Ltd.
( )  

(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China
19 May 2024

RMB3,000,000 – 100 – 100 Investment in internet live technical 
services

 
(b) (c)

 
2024 5 19

 
3,000,000

– 100 – 100

Guangxi Nanning Xingling Information 
Technology Co., Ltd

( )  
(notes (b) and (c))

PRC/Mainland China  
6 January 2024

RMB1,000,000 – 100 – 100 Investment in production distribution 
and licensing of broadcasting 
rights of drama series

 
(b) (c)

 
2024 1 6

 
1,000,000

– 100 – 100
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38.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 
COMPANY (Cont’d)
Notes:

(a)	 This entity is registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC 
law.

(b)	 These entities are limited liability enterprises established under PRC law.

(c)	 These entities are controlled by the Company through the Contractual 
Arrangements and are collectively referred to as the “Consolidated 
Affiliated Entities”.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in 
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for 
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the 
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion 
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

39.	 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue 
by the board of directors on 25 March 2025.

38. 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

39. 
2025 3 25



股份代號 Stock Code : 9857
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

（於開曼群島註冊成立的有限公司）

ANNUAL REPORT
2024


	封面
	目錄
	公司簡介
	公司資料
	財務摘要
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	封底

